

Durham E-Theses

$\begin{array}{c} \textit{The companion equations and the moyal-nahm} \\ equations \end{array}$

Baker, Linda Margaret

How to cite:

Baker, Linda Margaret (2000) The companion equations and the moyal-nahm equations, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/4257/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

The Companion Equations and the Moyal-Nahm Equations

Linda Margaret Baker

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published in any form, including Electronic and the Internet, without the author's prior written consent. All information derived from this thesis must be acknowledged appropriately.

Department of Mathematical Sciences University of Durham

August 2000



20 MAR 2001

Abstract

The Companion Equations and the Moyal-Nahm Equations Ph.D. thesis submitted by Linda Baker, August 2000.

The first part of this thesis is concerned with the companion equations. These are equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian which is proposed to be the Lagrangian for a field theory associated with strings and branes, similar to the Klein-Gordon field description for particles. The form of this Lagrangian can be related to the Hamilton-Jacobi formalism for strings and branes. Some solutions to the companion equations are found and their integrability is discussed.

There is an equivalence between the equations of motion for different companion Lagrangians when some constraints are applied. Under these constraints, the companion equations for a Lagrangian without a square root are equivalent to the companion equations for a Lagrangian with a square root but in one dimension less.

The appearance of Universal Field Equations, generalised Bateman equations, in the companion equations leads to the study of an iterative procedure for Lagrangians which are homogeneous of weight one in the first derivatives in the fields the theory describes. The Universal Field equations appear after several iterations.

Also, it is shown how Lagrangians for a large family of field theories are a divergence or vanish on the space of solutions of the equations of motion. Such theories could be called 'pseudo-topological'.

The second part of this thesis is concerned with finding solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four and eight dimensions. These equations are the Nahm equations, which give a set of solutions to self-dual Yang-Mills, but with the commutators replaced with Moyal brackets. Solutions are found in terms of generalised Wigner functions. Also, matrix representations of the algebra generated by the equivalent Nahm equations in eight dimensions are obtained. Solutions to the Nahm equations in eight dimensions are also given.

Declaration

This thesis is the result of research carried out by the author between October 1997 and August 2000 in the Department of Mathematical Sciences at the University of Durham. No part of this thesis has been submitted for a degree at this or any other university.

Chapter 1, section 2.2, sections 4.1, 4.2 and sections 6.1 to 6.3 all contain necessary background material and no claim of originality is made. The remaining work is believed to be original, unless otherwise stated.

Chapters 2-5 are based on joint work with my supervisor, Professor David Fairlie, and this can be found in [1] and [2], the first of which is published. Chapter 6 is based on joint work with my supervisor which has been published in [3]. The proof in Appendix A is my own work. It is based on [4] which is, as yet, unpublished.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without their prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I'd like to thank my supervisor, David Fairlie, for providing me with excellent supervision and having faith in my mathematical ability. I'd also like to thank Tatsuya Ueno for having the patience to check through the proof in the Appendix. I am grateful to EPSRC for funding me.

Thanks go to everyone in the Maths department, especially my office mates who made coming into work much easier. Also thanks to everyone who kept me company on the regular Friday nights out after work and at the Tuesday quiz.

I'd also like to thank my house-mates, past and present, for putting up with me. Especially Claire, who has managed to live with me for the whole three years.

Thanks to all the friends I've made here in Durham, who've made my time here so enjoyable. And thanks to my friends and family outside Durham, particularly the ones who have given me the chance to escape from the confines of Durham on numerous weekends.

Finally, thanks to Geoff - just for being there.

Contents

	Abstract						
	Declaration						
	Acknowledgements						
1	Intr	oduction	9				
	1.1	Particles, Strings and Branes	Ĉ				
		1.1.1 Particles	Ĉ				
		1.1.2 Strings	10				
		1.1.3 Branes	11				
	1.2	Field Theory and the Klein-Gordon Equation	14				
		1.2.1 Lagrangian Field Theory	14				
	1.3	Bateman Equation	16				
		1.3.1 Generalising the Bateman Equation	18				
	1.4	Topological Field Theories	20				
	1.5	Yang-Mills Fields	20				
	1.6	M-Theory and M(atrix) Theory	21				
	1.7	The Moyal Bracket	23				
	1.8	Layout of Thesis	26				
2 The Companion Lagrangian		Companion Lagrangian	27				
	2.1	The Big Idea	27				
	2.2	Hamilton-Jacobi Equations	30				
		2.2.1 Point Particles	30				
		2.2.2 Hamilton-Jacobi Equation for Strings	30				
		2.2.3 Hamilton-Jacobi Equation for Branes	33				
		2.2.4 Obtaining the Companion Lagrangians	34				

CONTENTS 6

2.3 Equivalence Theorems		34				
		2.3.1 Equivalent Lagrangians	34			
		2.3.2 Equivalence Theorem for Companion Lagrangians in Differ-				
		ent Dimensions	35			
	2.4	Covariance	38			
	2.5	Including a Background Metric	39			
	2.6	Electromagnetic Interactions	40			
	2.7	Summary	42			
3	Cor	npanion Equations and Integrability	43			
	3.1	Equations of Motion of Born-Infeld Type	43			
	3.2	Companion Equations	45			
	3.3	Integrability	47			
	3.4	Lagrangians with the Same Equations of Motion	50			
	3.5	Summary	51			
4	An	an Iterative Procedure				
	4.1	Universal Field Equations	52			
	4.2	Iterative Lagrangians	53			
	4.3	Extension to Higher Dimensions	54			
	4.4	Specific Examples	56			
	4.5	Summary	58			
5	A Special Property of a Family of Field Theories					
	5.1	Klein-Gordon Field	60			
	5.2	The Dirac Equation	61			
	5.3	Maxwell Theory	61			
	5.4	Self-Dual Gauge Fields	62			
	5.5	Gravity	62			
	5.6	Strings and Branes	63			
	5.7	Companion Equations	64			
	5.8	Supersymmetric Lagrangians: Chiral Superfields	65			
	5.9	Supersymmetric Lagrangians: Vector Superfields	66			
	5.10	Discussion	67			
6	The	Moyal-Nahm Equations	68			
	6.1	Introduction	68			

CONTENTS 7

	6.2	Nahm	Equations		69
		6.2.1	Self-Dual Gauge Fields in Four Dimensions		69
		6.2.2	Nahm Equations		70
		6.2.3	Self-Duality in Higher Dimensions		71
		6.2.4	Nahm Equations in Eight Dimensions		72
		6.2.5	Octonions		73
	6.3	Moyal	Brackets and Star Products		73
		6.3.1	The Star Product		73
		6.3.2	Moyal Brackets		75
		6.3.3	Wigner Functions		76
		6.3.4	Uses and Motivation		76
	6.4	4D Mo	oyal-Nahm Equations and Solutions		79
		6.4.1	Simplest Solution		81
		6.4.2	Another Simple Solution		81
		6.4.3	General Solution		81
	6.5	8D Na	hm Equations and Solutions		82
		6.5.1	Solution 1		82
		6.5.2	Solution 2		83
	6.6	8D Mo	oyal-Nahm Equations and Solutions		86
		6.6.1	Sigma Solution		86
		6.6.2	Epsilon Solution		87
		6.6.3	Octonion Solution		88
	6.7	Summa	ary		88
7	Con	clusior	1		90
\mathbf{A}	Pro	of for t	the Equivalence Theorem	!	94
	A.1	Theore	em		94
	A.2	Conver	ntions and Notation		94
	A.3	Useful	Epsilon Identity		95
	A.4	Equati	ons of motion		95
	A.5	The Co	onstraints		96
	A.6	The Pr	roof		97
В	Equ	ations	of Motion for the Companion Lagrangian	10	01
\mathbf{C}	Useful Epsilon Identity 106				

CONTENTS	8
D Octonion Matrices	108
Bibliography	110

Chapter 1

Introduction

This thesis contains work on two topics. The first is a proposal for a field theory associated with strings and branes with equations motion which have been named the companion equations. The second part is concerned with finding solutions to a set of equations known as the Moyal-Nahm equations. This introduction gives a brief review of some of the background behind the work and introduces some other useful topics that will be needed later.

1.1 Particles, Strings and Branes

A lot of the current research in theoretical high energy physics is based on the study of extended objects called strings and branes. In the first part of this thesis, we develop a field theory which can be associated with these strings and branes. To do this, we first need to explain what strings and branes are. These objects are reviewed in [5][6].

1.1.1 Particles

It is easiest to first consider point particles. Consider a relativistic particle in d-dimensional space-time. It is a zero-dimensional object which traces out a one-dimensional trajectory in space-time, a world-line. This world-line can be parameterised by one parameter, τ say. The motion of the particle can be described by d functions $X^{\mu}(\tau)$ where $\mu = 0, 1, \ldots, d-1$.

The action for a particle is given by

$$S = \int \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^2} \, \mathrm{d}\tau. \tag{1.1}$$

Summation over indices is assumed here and throughout the thesis, unless specified otherwise. The equations of motion can be found by minimising this action with respect to X^{μ} .

1.1.2 Strings

A string is a one-dimensional object which traces out a two-dimensional world-sheet in d-dimensional space-time. This world-sheet can be parametrised by two coordinates (σ, τ) . The motion of the string is described by d functions of these coordinates $X^{\mu}(\sigma, \tau)$, where $\mu = 0, 1, \ldots, d-1$. Strings can be either open or closed. As their names suggest, closed strings form a loop and open strings have two ends.

A natural extension of the particle action is to take the string action to be

$$S = \int \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2}} d\sigma d\tau$$

$$= \int \sqrt{\det \left|\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}\right|} d\sigma d\tau \qquad \sigma^{i} = (\sigma, \tau), \quad i = 1, 2.$$
(1.2)

This is the Nambu-Goto action for a string. The sign under the square root changes according to whether the theory is for Euclidean or Minkowski space-time. The action given above is the Euclidean version. When dealing with Minkowski space-time the action is

$$S = -\int \sqrt{-\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|} \, d\sigma d\tau \qquad \sigma^{i} = (\sigma, \tau), \quad i = 1, 2.$$
 (1.3)

However, there is also another action which is classically equivalent to the Nambu-Goto action. This is the Schild Lagrangian [7],

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2},\tag{1.4}$$

which is the square of the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian. The equations of motion for the Schild Lagrangian imply that the Lagrangian is a constant. If it is a non-zero constant then the equations of motion are classically equivalent to the equations of motion from Nambu-Goto Lagrangian. If the constant is zero then we get a new set of solutions, the null strings. The Nambu-Goto Lagrangian cannot admit solutions where the Lagrangian is equal to zero.

There is an analogue for this in the particle case. Consider the two Lagrangians

$$\mathcal{L}_1 = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^2}, \qquad \mathcal{L}_2 = \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^2.$$
 (1.5)

The equations of motion for the second Lagrangian imply that the Lagrangian is a constant. If it is a non-zero constant then the equations of motion imply the equations of motion for the first Lagrangian. However, the first Lagrangian does not permit solutions where the Lagrangian is zero. It only allows time-like and space-like solutions. The second Lagrangian allows time-like, space-like and null solutions since the Lagrangian can be zero.

The main problem with the Schild Lagrangian is that it is not reparametrisation invariant, in contrast with the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian which is. However, it has been used in the literature by Eguchi [8], to quantise the string, and by Nambu [9], to find a generalisation of Hamiltonian dynamics for strings.

1.1.3 Branes

A p-brane is a p-dimensional object which traces out a (p+1)-dimensional world-volume in d-dimensional space-time. This world-volume is parameterised by p+1 coordinates σ^i , where $i=0,1,\ldots,p$. The p-brane is described by d functions $X^{\mu}(\sigma^i)$ where $\mu=0,1,\ldots,d-1$. A 0-brane is a point particle and a 1-brane is a string.

Dirac-Born-Infeld Action

The action for a p-brane is

$$S = -T_p \int d^{p+1}\sigma \ e^{-\Phi} \sqrt{-\det |G_{ij} + B_{ij} + 2\pi\alpha' F_{ij}|}.$$
 (1.6)

This is the Dirac-Born-Infeld action [10][11]. G_{ij} is the induced metric on the brane given by

$$G_{ij} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} G_{\mu\nu}, \tag{1.7}$$

where $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the space-time metric. B_{ij} is the pullback of the antisymmetric tensor $B_{\mu\nu}$ on the brane.

$$B_{ij} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} B_{\mu\nu}. \tag{1.8}$$

 F_{ij} is the antisymmetric field strength tensor for the U(1) gauge field $A^i(\sigma^j)$ living on the brane. $e^{-\Phi}$ gives the dilaton dependence and T_p is the tension of the p-brane.

Often, the choice is made to split the induced metric G_{ij} into two parts by picking what is know as the static gauge. The world-volume coordinates are chosen to be equal to the first p+1 target space coordinates. The remaining target space coordinates are the transverse coordinates and are labelled y^m , say. So we have made the choice

$$X^i = \sigma^i, \qquad i = 0, 1, \dots p \tag{1.9}$$

$$X^m = y^m, \qquad m = p + 1, \dots d - 1.$$
 (1.10)

The induced metric can now be written as

$$G_{ij} = \eta_{ij} + \frac{\partial y^m}{\partial \sigma^i} \frac{\partial y_m}{\partial \sigma^j}.$$
 (1.11)

Although this choice helps with some calculations, it is harder to see some of the properties of the action. In this work, such a choice will not be made and as a result it is easier to see some of the more global properties of the theory and its equations of motion.

This action arose from the Born-Infeld action [10] which was first proposed as a non-linear theory for electrodynamics. Born-Infeld theory allows finite energy solutions. A pure Born-Infeld action takes the form [12]

$$S = \int d^d x \sqrt{\det |\eta_{\mu\nu} + F_{\mu\nu}|}.$$
 (1.12)

 $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the space-time metric and $F_{\mu\nu}$ is the electromagnetic field strength. The classical action for a string in d dimensions is the same as the d-dimensional Born-Infeld action [13].

The original idea for branes came from [14]. Dai et.al. considered p-dimensional membrane type objects which had Dirichlet boundary conditions in some directions. These were named D-branes. A D-brane is an extended object that open strings can end on [15]. This was not an entirely new idea since Dirichlet boundary conditions had been considered for strings previously [16]. The Dirac-Born-Infeld action was found to give the required classical equations of motion for these D-branes [17].

The action (1.6), given above, is for arbitrary fields in arbitrary space-time. For much of the work in the following chapters we will be considering the case where there is flat space-time and no antisymmetric part to the action. For this choice, the action is of the form

$$S = \int d^{p+1}\sigma \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|}.$$
 (1.13)

This is the higher dimensional analogue of the Nambu-Goto action for strings (1.2). This Lagrangian can either be written as the square root of a determinant (as above) or as the square root of a sum of squares of Jacobians,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{(p+1)!} \left(\frac{\partial (X^{\mu_1}, X^{\mu_2}, \dots, X^{\mu_{p+1}})}{\partial (\sigma^1, \sigma^2, \dots, \sigma^{p+1})} \right)^2}.$$
 (1.14)

There are always more target space or dependent variables, X^{μ} , than there are base space or independent coordinates, σ^{i} . One motivation behind the structure of the companion Lagrangian, which appears in later chapters, is that it is of the same structure as the Dirac-Born-Infeld Lagrangian but the number of dependent coordinates, ϕ^{i} , is less than the number of independent coordinates, x^{μ} . Such a Lagrangian can still be written as the square root of a determinant or the sum of squares of Jacobians,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{(p+1)!} \left(\frac{\partial (\phi^1, \phi^2, \dots, \phi^{p+1})}{\partial (x^{\mu_1}, x^{\mu_2}, \dots, x^{\mu_{p+1}})} \right)^2}. \tag{1.15}$$

It should also be noted that if the antisymmetric F_{ij} terms are put back into the Dirac-Born-Infeld Lagrangian, then it can still be written as the square root of the sum of squares [18]. For example, if p=3,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} + F_{ij} \right|} \\
= \left[\frac{1}{4!} \left(\epsilon_{ijkl} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \frac{\partial X^{\rho}}{\partial \sigma^{k}} \frac{\partial X^{\eta}}{\partial \sigma^{l}} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{8} \left(\epsilon_{ijkl} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} F_{kl} \right)^{2} \\
+ \left(\frac{1}{8} \epsilon_{ijkl} F_{ij} F_{kl} \right)^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} . \quad (1.16)$$

1.2 Field Theory and the Klein-Gordon Equation

Fundamental theories of matter need to be consistent with both relativity and quantum mechanics. Field theories make this possible. The need for field theories can be seen by considering a single particle relativistic wave equation, such as the Klein-Gordon equation [19]. This describes a particle with no spin, a scalar particle.

It arises from the energy-momentum equation for a relativistic particle,

$$E^2 - \mathbf{p}^2 = m^2. {(1.17)}$$

E is the energy, \mathbf{p} is 3-momentum and m is the mass of the particle. The convention $c=1, \ \hbar=1$ is assumed. Using the correspondence principle to make the substitution $E \to i \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \ \mathbf{p} \to -i \nabla$ and letting these operators act on the one component wavefunction $\phi(x)$ we find that (1.17) becomes

$$(\Box + m^2)\phi = 0. \tag{1.18}$$

This is the Klein-Gordon equation.

Unfortunately, there are problems with interpreting this as a single particle wave equation. These include the existence of negative energy solutions, a probability amplitude which is sometimes negative (a probability, by definition, cannot be negative) and the violation of causality. These problems initially led to the Klein-Gordon equation being abandoned.

However, by interpreting the Klein-Gordon equation as a field equation these problems are solved. Such a theory allows the number of particles in the theory to be non-constant. It allows pair creation and the existence of multi-particle states and virtual particles. This in turn removes the problems of negative energy and causality violation.

In the chapters that follow, the Klein-Gordon equation is a field equation. When proposing a field theory for strings and branes the initial idea was to generalise the Klein-Gordon equation, which is for particles, to a theory for higher dimensional objects.

1.2.1 Lagrangian Field Theory

Much of this thesis is concerned with the Lagrangians of various field theories. In classical mechanics, one of the fundamental quantities is the action, S, which is

the time integral of the Lagrangian L of a dynamical system [20]. It is also the integral of the Lagrangian density, \mathcal{L} , over space-time. \mathcal{L} is a function of the field $\phi(x^{\mu})$ and its first derivatives $\partial_{\mu}\phi = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}$.

$$S = \int L \, \mathrm{d}t = \int \mathcal{L}(\phi, \partial_{\mu}\phi) \, \mathrm{d}^{4}x. \tag{1.19}$$

From now on, the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} will be referred to as the Lagrangian.

To find the equations of motion for a theory we use the principle of least action which basically says that as a system evolves between two times, t_1 and t_2 , the action S is extremised. It is usually a minimum. This condition can be imposed by setting $\delta S = 0$. Therefore,

$$\delta S = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left\{ \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi} \delta \phi + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi)} \delta(\partial_{\mu} \phi) \right\} d^4 x$$

$$= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left\{ \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi} \delta \phi - \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi)} \right) \delta \phi + \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi)} \delta \phi \right) \right\} d^4 x = 0. \quad (1.20)$$

The last term can be written as a surface term. Since the initial and final field configurations are fixed then $\delta \phi = 0$ at $t = t_1, t_2$. Therefore this term vanishes. Since the remainder must vanish for arbitrary $\delta \phi$ then we find

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi} - \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi)} \right) = 0. \tag{1.21}$$

This is the Euler-Lagrange equation of motion for a field ϕ . This is easily extended for a field theory with n fields ϕ^i , i = 1, 2, ..., n, with Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}(\phi^i, \partial_{\mu}\phi^i)$. In this case, there are n equations of motion written as

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i} - \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^i)} \right) = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (1.22)

These equations of motion will be used extensively when finding the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian which depends on the derivatives of n fields ϕ^i .

Lagrangian for the Klein-Gordon Equation

Consider the Lagrangian for a field $\phi(x^{\mu})$,

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \, \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2. \tag{1.23}$$

Putting this into the Euler-Lagrange equations of motion (1.21) gives

$$(\Box + m^2)\phi = 0. \tag{1.24}$$

This is the Klein-Gordon equation. Therefore (1.23) is the Lagrangian for the Klein-Gordon equation. It is this Lagrangian we will be generalising when we propose the companion Lagrangian for strings and branes.

Quantisation

When quantised, the Klein-Gordon equation is a quantum field theory which allows many particle solutions. The number of particles is a quantum variable. The first part of this thesis looks at developing a field theory for strings which is similar to the Klein-Gordon field theory for particles. This is not an entirely new idea. Morris [21, 22] tried to develop a field theory for strings and used the quantisation of string theory as his main motivation. The idea was to find a field theory where it was not necessary to specify the number strings. The number of strings was a quantum number and neither the strings nor the world-sheet appeared explicitly in the formulation. In this respect the theory was analogous to the theory for the Klein-Gordon equation. However, one of the main problems with this idea, and a similar idea of Hosotani [23], was that their formulations in the particle case did not resemble the Klein-Gordon case. Instead of a theory with one field ϕ , there were many fields.

A later idea of Hosotani and Nakayama [24] was also partially motivated by the search for a quantum string theory. Their idea was to use the classical Hamilton-Jacobi equation for strings in order the find a quantum field theory for strings and p-branes. The Hamilton-Jacobi equation can be viewed as the classical limit for a quantum theory. The Hamilton-Jacobi equations for strings and branes will be used as a further motivation for the companion Lagrangian for strings and branes.

It should be noted that all these ideas for field theories for strings, and the theory involving companion Lagrangian to be proposed in this thesis, are different from string field theory [25][26]. In string field theory, the field is a functional $\Psi[X^{\mu}(\sigma), p_+, \tau]$ which depends on the curve traced out by the string, $X^{\mu}(\sigma)$, and the string length, p_+ .

1.3 Bateman Equation

When the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian are studied, they often take the form of what is known as the Bateman equation, or equations related to the Bateman equation. This section looks at what this equation is, what its properties are and how it can be generalised.

The Bateman equation is

$$\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y}\right)^2 \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial x^2} - 2\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x} \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial y} \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial x\partial y} + \left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x}\right)^2 \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial y^2} = 0, \tag{1.25}$$

for a field $\phi(x, y)$ in two dimensions. It first appeared in [27] where Bateman discussed hydrodynamics. Using the notation

$$\phi_x = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x}, \quad \phi_y = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial y}, \quad \phi_{xx} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2}, \quad \phi_{xy} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x \partial y}, \quad \phi_{yy} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial y^2},$$
 (1.26)

it can also be written as a determinant

$$\det \begin{vmatrix}
0 & \phi_x & \phi_y \\
\phi_x & \phi_{xx} & \phi_{xy} \\
\phi_y & \phi_{xy} & \phi_{yy}
\end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(1.27)

The Bateman equation has many important properties. It is not only invariant under Euclidean (Lorentz) coordinate transformations but is also invariant under general linear transformations of the group GL(2,R). Also, if ϕ is a solution to the Bateman equation then so is any function, $f(\phi)$ say, of ϕ . This means the equation is covariant, a property which will be desirable in our field theory.

The general solution to the Bateman equation is the solution for ϕ of the following equation,

$$xF(\phi) + yG(\phi) = c, (1.28)$$

where F and G are arbitrary functions of ϕ . c can be any constant, including zero. The Bateman equation is equivalent to the Monge nonlinear wave equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} = u \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, \quad \text{where} \quad u = \frac{\phi_x}{\phi_y}.$$
 (1.29)

This is a first order differential equation. From the this equation is easy to show that the Bateman equation possesses an infinite number of conservation laws since (1.29) implies that

$$\frac{\partial u^n}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(\frac{n}{n+1} u^{n+1} \right). \tag{1.30}$$

This property leads to the fact that the Bateman equation is completely integrable.

The general solution to the Monge equation is given by solutions to the equation

$$u = W(y + ux), \tag{1.31}$$

where W is an arbitrary function. The general solution to the Bateman equation can be derived from this since

$$W^{-1}(u) = y + ux. (1.32)$$

Then, put $u = V(\phi)$, where V is some function of ϕ . This is allowed since

$$u = \frac{u_x}{u_y} = \frac{V_x}{V_y} = \frac{\phi_x}{\phi_y},$$
 (1.33)

which is consistent with (1.29). Therefore,

$$W^{-1}(V(\phi)) = y + V(\phi)x$$

$$1 = \frac{1}{W^{-1}(V(\phi))}y + \frac{V(\phi)}{W^{-1}(V(\phi))}x.$$
(1.34)

This is equivalent to $xF(\phi) + yG(\phi) = c$ where F and G are arbitrary functions, as required.

The Bateman equation can also be derived from the three dimensional Laplace wave equation when this is subject to the constraint that the gradient of ϕ is a null vector.

$$\phi_{xx} + \phi_{yy} \pm \phi_{zz} = 0, \tag{1.35}$$

$$\phi_x^2 + \phi_y^2 \pm \phi_z^2 = 0. ag{1.36}$$

To show this, simply eliminate the ϕ_z and ϕ_{zz} from the above. It is an extension of this property which leads to an equivalence theorem between the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangians, with and without square roots, in different dimensions. It should be noted that the left hand side of (1.36) is the Lagrangian for equations of motion which take the form of (1.35).

Finally, any Lagrangian which is homogeneous of weight one in the derivatives $\phi_{\mu} = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}$, $\mu = 1,2$, has the Bateman equation as its equation of motion. If a Lagrangian, \mathcal{L} , is a homogeneous function of weight m in the derivatives ϕ_{μ} then it satisfies

$$\phi_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = m\mathcal{L}. \tag{1.37}$$

This equation will be made use of later.

1.3.1 Generalising the Bateman Equation

Work has been done to find other field theories which have fully covariant solutions, just like the Bateman equation does. This has been achieved by generalising the

Bateman equation to more fields and more dimensions resulting in what are known as the Universal Field Equations [28][29].

There are two ways to do this. One is just to increase the number of dimensions. Generalising the determinantal structure of the Bateman equation we can construct an equation for a field $\phi(x^{\mu})$ in d dimensions,

$$\det \begin{vmatrix}
0 & \phi_1 & \phi_2 & \dots & \phi_d \\
\phi_1 & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \dots & \phi_{1d} \\
\phi_2 & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \dots & \phi_{2d} \\
\vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\
\phi_d & \phi_{1d} & \phi_{2d} & \dots & \phi_{dd}
\end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(1.38)

If ϕ is a solution to this equation then so is any function of ϕ , so the equation is covariant, as required. The notation used is

$$\phi_{\mu} = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}, \qquad \phi_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\nu}}.$$
 (1.39)

Such notation will also be used elsewhere in the thesis.

The other way is to increase the number of fields (and the number of dimensions). In particular, we shall be considering the case of n fields in n+1 dimensions. For two fields in three dimensions the generalisation in determinantal form is

$$\det \begin{vmatrix}
0 & 0 & \phi_{x} & \phi_{y} & \phi_{z} \\
0 & 0 & \psi_{x} & \psi_{y} & \psi_{z} \\
\phi_{x} & \psi_{x} & \phi_{xx} & \phi_{xy} & \phi_{xz} \\
\phi_{y} & \psi_{y} & \phi_{xy} & \phi_{yy} & \phi_{yz} \\
\phi_{z} & \psi_{z} & \phi_{xz} & \phi_{yz} & \phi_{zz}
\end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(1.40)

where the fields are ϕ and ψ and the space-time coordinates are (x, y, z). In general, for n fields, ϕ^i , in n+1 dimensions, $\{x_{\mu}\}$, the Universal Field Equations can be written as

$$J_{\mu}J_{\nu}\phi^{i}_{\mu\nu} = 0 \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (1.41)

where $J_{\mu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_n}\phi_{\nu_1}^1\phi_{\nu_2}^2...\phi_{\nu_n}^n$. J_{μ} is a Jacobian and could also be written as $\frac{\partial(\phi^1,\phi^2,...,\phi^n)}{\partial(x^{\nu_1},x^{\nu_2},...,x^{\nu_d})}$. Later on, the notation for a Jacobian for n fields $\phi^i(x^{\mu})$ in d dimensions will be

$$J_{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_{d-n}} = \epsilon_{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_{d-n}\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_n} \phi_{\nu_1}^1 \phi_{\nu_2}^2 \dots \phi_{\nu_n}^n. \tag{1.42}$$

The Bateman equation and its generalisations, the Universal Field Equations, appear in the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangians we will be considering. They are also involved in the iterative procedure to be studied in a later chapter. In this procedure, each iteration involves multiplying by some function and then applying the Euler operator \mathcal{E} which is the operator which gives the equations of motion.

For one field ϕ , the required function is already known to be the Lagrangian \mathcal{L} [28]. In this case, the iterative procedure is

$$\mathcal{EL}$$
, \mathcal{ELEL} , \mathcal{ELELEL} , ... (1.43)

where the Euler operator is

$$\mathcal{E} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} + \partial_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi_{\mu\nu}} + \cdots$$
 (1.44)

For a theory in d dimensions, after d-1 iterations we obtain the Universal Field equation for one field in d dimensions (1.38). Part of this thesis is concerned with generalising this procedure to more than one field with the aim of obtaining the Universal Field equations after a finite number of iterations.

1.4 Topological Field Theories

We will also be looking at a property of the companion Lagrangian which extends to other field theories. This property is that for a large family of field theories, the Lagrangian of the theory vanishes or is a divergence on the space of solutions of its equations of motion. A large set of examples will be given. The fact that we obtain a divergence, leads to describing these theories as 'pseudo-topological'. This is because, for a fully topological theory the Lagrangian is a divergence or zero without having to put any constraints on it. An example of such a topological theory is gravity in two dimensions [30]. In this case the Lagrangian can just be picked to be zero. In our examples of free fields, we need to put in the constraint that the equations of motion are satisfied before the Lagrangian is zero or a divergence. This is where the 'pseudo' part of the name comes from.

1.5 Yang-Mills Fields

The final part of the thesis is concerned with finding solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four and eight dimensions. The Moyal-Nahm equations are the Nahm

equations, but with Moyal brackets instead of commutators. Solutions to the Nahm equations give a set of solutions to Yang-Mills theory. In the next few sections we briefly review Yang-Mills fields, Nahm equations, Moyal brackets and give some motivation for studying such topics in more than four dimensions.

Non-abelian gauge theories, *i.e.* theories with a higher symmetry than SO(2) or U(1), can be described by Yang-Mills theory. Work on this was originally done by Yang and Mills in at attempt to treat isospin as a local symmetry [31]. Although this was the wrong thing to do, Yang-Mills theory did successfully describe the SU(2) symmetry of the weak interaction and the SU(3) symmetry of the strong interaction of quarks [32]. It works for other symmetry groups, such as U(N). The easiest symmetry group to consider is SU(2).

The Lagrangian for pure Yang-Mills is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}), \qquad (1.45)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$. A_{μ} is the gauge field and $F_{\mu\nu}$ is the gauge field strength. The equation of motion for this theory is

$$D_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} + [A_{\mu}, F^{\mu\nu}] = 0. \tag{1.46}$$

 D_{μ} is the covariant derivative.

One way to obtain solutions to pure Yang-Mills is by solving the Nahm equations [33]. Any solution of the Nahm equations is automatically a solution of the full Yang-Mills equation of motion. Again, although Nahm equations can be found for any gauge group, SU(2) is the easiest to consider. In four space-time dimensions, the Nahm equations are

$$\frac{\partial A^{1}}{\partial t} = [A^{2}, A^{3}],$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{2}}{\partial t} = [A^{3}, A^{1}],$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{3}}{\partial t} = [A^{1}, A^{2}].$$
(1.47)

The gauge choice $A^0 = 0$ has been made.

1.6 M-Theory and M(atrix) Theory

M-Theory

M-Theory is possibly the best candidate we have at present for a 'Theory of Everything' [34]. It appears to have two definitions. One is that it is the eleven-

dimensional theory which is the strong coupling limit of Type IIA superstring theory and has eleven dimensional supergravity as its low energy limit. However, its definition is often broadened to be the eleven dimensional quantum theory which has the five different superstring theories as various limits [5][35]. Very little is known about M-Theory and there is obviously much that still needs to be understood. It is also unclear what the M in M-Theory stands for. In the past it has been taken to stand for membrane, matrix, mother, mystery, and magical.

M(atrix) Theory

A big step towards understanding M-Theory was made by Banks, Fischler, Shenker and Susskind when they proposed M(atrix) Theory [36]. Their conjecture was that M-Theory in the infinite momentum frame is equivalent to matrix supersymmetric quantum mechanics for N D0-branes in the $N \to \infty$ limit. It follows from taking 9+1 dimensional U(N) super Yang-Mills theory and dimensionally reducing it to 0+1 dimensions. The infinite momentum frame, in simplest terms, is when the total momentum of the system is very large [37]. The action for this U(N) super-Yang-Mills quantum mechanics is

$$S = \frac{1}{2g} \int \text{Tr} \left(\dot{X}^{\mu} \dot{X}_{\mu} + 2\theta^{T} \dot{\theta} - \frac{1}{2} [X^{\mu}, X^{\nu}]^{2} - 2\theta^{T} \gamma_{\mu} [\theta, X^{\mu}] \right) d\tau. \tag{1.48}$$

The X^{μ} ($\mu=1,\ldots,9$) are nine $N\times N$ matrices and θ represents the 16 fermionic superpartners. Derivatives with respect to τ are denoted by \dot{X}^{μ} or $\dot{\theta}$. g is the coupling constant.

Matrix String Theory

A similar approach was later used to construct matrix string theory, to give a two dimensional $\mathcal{N}=8$ supersymmetric U(N) Yang-Mills theory, rather than a one dimensional theory [38]. The description is now for D1-branes, or strings, instead of D0-branes which are particles. The action for such a theory is

$$S = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int \text{Tr}\left((D_i X^{\mu})^2 + \theta^T \not\!\!D \theta + g_s^2 F_{ij}^2 - \frac{1}{g_s^2} [X^{\mu}, X^{\nu}]^2 + \frac{1}{g_s} \theta^T \gamma_{\mu} [X^{\mu}, \theta] \right) d\sigma d\tau.$$
(1.49)

The X^{μ} ($\mu = 1, ..., 8$) are eight scalar fields and the θ are the eight fermionic fields. They are all $N \times N$ hermitian matrices. (σ , τ) are the world-sheet coordinates. g_s is the string coupling constant. Again, to obtain a description of M-theory, we need to take the $N \to \infty$ limit. This theory gives a new way to approach M-Theory and investigate the string and brane states which occur and their interactions [39]. It has been used to study the high energy scattering processes in M-Theory [40].

It is matrix string theory which provides some of the motivation for studying the Nahm equations in eight dimensions. Matrix string theory involves Yang-Mills theory for eight fields X^{μ} , for which a set of solutions for Yang-Mills can be found from the Nahm equations in eight dimensions. Therefore, by studying the Nahm equations in eight dimensions we can find a set of solutions for Yang-Mills.

1.7 The Moyal Bracket

The Moyal Bracket for two functions f(x, p) and g(x, p) on two-dimensional phase space (x, p) is defined as [41]

$$\{f,g\}_{MB} = \frac{1}{2i}(f \star g - g \star f).$$
 (1.50)

The star, \star , denotes the star product which is defined as

$$\star = \exp\left[i\lambda \left(\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial x}\frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial p} - \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial p}\frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial x}\right)\right]. \tag{1.51}$$

The Moyal bracket is a one parameter deformation of the Poisson bracket, where λ is the deformation parameter. The Poisson bracket is written as

$$\{f,g\}_{PB} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x}.$$
 (1.52)

In the limit $\lambda \to 0$, the Moyal Bracket is just the Poisson bracket.

The Moyal brackets can also be associated with commutators [42]. If the deformation parameter is set to be $\lambda = \frac{2\pi}{N}$, where N is an odd integer, then the Moyal bracket of two functions $\{X^{\mu}, X^{\nu}\}_{MB}$ reproduces the commutators of $N \times N$ matrices, A^{μ} . These are SU(N) matrices and the matrix components of A^{μ} are the fourier modes of the functions X^{μ} . As $N \to \infty$ then $\lambda \to 0$, so in the large N limit the Moyal Bracket is the Poisson bracket. Therefore the Poisson bracket can be identified with the commutator of $SU(\infty)$ matrices. The link between Moyal Brackets, Poisson brackets and commutators will become more apparent in the examples that follow.

Quantum Mechanics

Moyal Brackets were first used to write down a formulation of Quantum Mechanics [43]. The way to incorporate the Moyal brackets is to replace all ordinary multiplication with the star product. Therefore, all commutators in the usual formulation of quantum mechanics are now Moyal Brackets. The deformation parameter is set to be \hbar . Finding the classical limit of the theory is then both easy and natural. It simply amounts to taking the limit $\hbar \to 0$. In this limit, all the star products are reduced to ordinary multiplication again.

Non-commutative Geometry

Recent work of Seiberg and Witten [44] has led to a large number of papers on the subject of non-commutative geometry and the use of the star product and the Moyal bracket. The Seiberg and Witten paper showed that there was an equivalence between ordinary Yang-Mills and non-commutative Yang-Mills for open strings in a constant non-zero B-field. This work resulted in many papers being written where ordinary multiplication was replaced with the star product in order to make the theory non-commutative. In such papers it is space-time which is non-commutative.

For example, in [45] a non-commutative scalar theory for field ϕ in 2+1 dimensions is studied. Consider the theory where the energy is given by

$$E = \frac{1}{g^2} \int \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \, \partial^{\mu} \phi + V(\phi) \right) d^2 x. \tag{1.53}$$

 $V(\phi)=\frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2+\frac{1}{3}\lambda\phi^3+\ldots$ is the potential term. To turn this ordinary scalar field theory into a non-commutative one, then the spatial coordinates become non-commutative such that

$$[x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}] = i\theta_{\mu\nu}, \tag{1.54}$$

where $\theta_{\mu\nu}$ ($\mu, \nu=1,2$) are the components of a totally antisymmetric matrix. Let $\theta_{12} = \theta$. This θ is then the deformation parameter in the star product. We now put star products in place of ordinary multiplication to give

$$E = \frac{1}{g^2} \int \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \, \partial^{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 + \frac{1}{3} \lambda \phi \star \phi \star \phi + \dots \right) \mathrm{d}^2 x. \tag{1.55}$$

Note that we do not need star products for the quadratic terms because when the integral over the whole space is taken the following property holds:

$$\int f(x_1, x_2) \star g(x_1, x_2) \, d^2x = \int f(x_1, x_2) g(x_1, x_2) \, d^2x. \tag{1.56}$$

Therefore, we only need put in the star product for cubic terms and above. If we were not considering the integral then the star product would need to be put in everywhere. The potential would be $V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi \star \phi + \frac{1}{3}\lambda\phi \star \phi \star \phi + \dots$, for example. Similar procedures have been used to study other non-commutative field theories.

M(atrix) theory

Moyal brackets can also be used in M(atrix) theory [46]. They can be used to give a new interpretation to the $N \to \infty$ limit which needs to be taken in order to recover M-Theory from M(atrix) theory. By setting the deformation parameter to be $\lambda = \frac{2\pi}{N}$ and replacing all multiplication by star products we have an action containing Moyal Brackets. Taking the large N limit all the Moyal Brackets become Poisson brackets. Therefore, a new way of looking at the $N \to \infty$ limit of M(atrix) theory is to have a theory with Poisson brackets, not commutators.

Nahm Equations

A similar procedure is used to turn the Nahm equations (1.47) into the Moyal-Nahm equations. As with the other cases, the ordinary multiplication is replaced with star brackets. This results in the right hand side of the Moyal-Nahm equations being Moyal brackets, as shown below.

$$\frac{\partial A^1}{\partial t} = \{A^2, A^3\}_{MB},$$

$$\frac{\partial A^2}{\partial t} = \{A^3, A^1\}_{MB},$$

$$\frac{\partial A^3}{\partial t} = \{A^1, A^2\}_{MB}.$$
(1.57)

These are the Moyal-Nahm equations in four dimensions. The main motivation for studying these is that we live in four large dimensions and the Nahm equations in four dimensions themselves have already been studied in great detail.

However, this thesis is also concerned with finding solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in eight dimensions. The main motivation for this arises from the appearance of Yang-Mills in matrix string theory. In this theory, Yang-Mills field theory for eight fields X^{μ} appears in the action. If solutions to the Nahm equations can be found then these are automatically solutions to the equations from Yang-Mills. Therefore, it makes sense to study the Nahm equations and the Moyal-Nahm equations in eight dimensions. The solutions which are found may have some bearing

on matrix string theory and so ultimately on M-Theory. Another reason for considering the Moyal-Nahm equations, rather than just the Nahm equations, is the use of Moyal brackets in a possible interpretation of the large N limit as described above.

1.8 Layout of Thesis

This chapter has been a brief introduction into some of the background material needed for the main part of this thesis. Some of these topics will be expanded later on.

In Chapter 2, we introduce the companion Lagrangian and give some motivation as to why we want to study it. Chapter 3 looks at the equations of motion for this Lagrangian, the companion equations, and discusses their integrability. In Chapter 4 we extend an iterative procedure to Lagrangians for more than one field, such as the companion Lagrangian. Chapter 5 deals with a property of a large set of Lagrangians, not just the companion Lagrangian. This property is that many field theory Lagrangians are zero or a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion. In Chapter 6 we study the Moyal-Nahm equations, explaining what they are and solving them in four and eight dimensions. In Chapter 7 we give the final conclusions to all this work, giving suggestions for further research.

Chapter 2

The Companion Lagrangian

The next few chapters involve a Lagrangian called the companion Lagrangian which has equations of motion known as the companion equations. It is a Lagrangian for a field theory associated with strings and branes. These chapters are based on work in [1][2].

This chapter discusses the motivation behind looking at such a theory and the problems encountered by similar theories in the past. Equivalence theorems between different companion Lagrangians are stated. Finally, we look at the covariance of the theory, the inclusion of a background metric and the possible ways of including electromagnetism in the theory.

2.1 The Big Idea

In quantum mechanics we come across the concept of particle-wave duality. On the quantum level, particles take on wave-like characteristics such as electrons going through slits exhibiting interference effects and waves take on particle-like characteristics, for example, electromagnetic waves being made up of photons. A classical point particle has the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^2},\tag{2.1}$$

but when we go over to quantum mechanics it can be described by a Klein-Gordon field, $\phi(x^{\mu})$ which has Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)^{2}. \tag{2.2}$$

This is an example of particle-wave duality. A point particle traces out a one-dimensional world-line in space-time which can be parameterised by just one parameter, τ . It should be noted that there is one parameter τ and one field ϕ . The big question is: Is there an alternative description for strings and branes so that they too have a field theory description similar to the Klein-Gordon?

Strings can be described by the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (2.3)

Strings trace out a two-dimensional world-sheet which is parameterised by two world-sheet coordinates (σ, τ) . The conjecture is that they can also be described by a theory with two fields and a Lagrangian which is some power of

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^{2}.$$
 (2.4)

 $\phi(x^{\mu})$ and $\psi(x^{\mu})$ are the two fields and they depend on the space time coordinates x^{μ} ($\mu = 1, ..., d$). This idea can also be extended to branes which, in simplest form in the absence of a U(1) field, are described by the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|}.$$
 (2.5)

A p-brane sweeps out a p+1 dimensional world-volume which is parameterised by the p+1 world-volume coordinates σ^i ($i=0,\ldots,p$). The field theory conjectured to be associated with branes has a Lagrangian which is some power of

$$\mathcal{L} = \det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^\mu} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_\mu} \right|. \tag{2.6}$$

 ϕ^i are p+1 fields. In every case the number of fields is equal to the number of world-volume coordinates. This is analogous to the particle case where there is one (Klein-Gordon) field and a one dimensional world-line. The new field Lagrangians, (2.4) and (2.6), will be referred to as *companion Lagrangians* and their equations of motion will be the *companion equations*.

Similar ideas have appeared before in the literature. Hosotani [23] considered the case of a string theory in four dimensions and showed this was mathematically equivalent to a scalar field theory with two fields. The equations of motion in both theories are the same. Strings have a world-sheet with coordinates (σ, τ) . He introduced two new parameters (S, T) so that (σ, τ, S, T) covered a four-dimensional

domain in space-time. The Nambu-Goto Lagrangian for string theory (2.3) was shown to be the same, up to a determinantal factor, as the Lagrangian for a scalar field theory where $S(x^{\mu})$ and $T(x^{\mu})$ are the two scalar fields and the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial T}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (2.7)

Morris [21][22] later discussed a very similar idea but extended the number of space-time dimensions. His starting point was to consider the string world-sheet, not as the function of two world-sheet variables, $X^{\mu}(\sigma,\tau)$, but as the intersection of d-2 hypersurfaces, $f_k(x)=0$. (This is similar to the way a curve can be thought of as the intersection of two planes.) A Lagrangian for a string in d dimensions was related to a Lagrangian for d-2 fields. This amounted to an interchange of independent and dependent variables, where the independent variables were complemented with d-2 extra variables. He showed the equations of motion involving these fields are mathematically equivalent at a classical level to the equations of motion from the Nambu-Goto Lagrangian. The Lagrangians for the two theories are the same up to a determinantal factor. This was also extended to show the equivalence of a theory of p-branes with Lagrangian (2.5) to a theory with d-p-1 fields.

But these field theories differ from the companion Lagrangian idea. In the companion Lagrangian case, the number of fields is equal to the dimension of the world-volume, p+1. In the theories of Hosotani and Morris the number of fields is essentially the complement of this, *i.e.* d-p-1. However, one of the initial motivations for this work was that the field theory for the strings and branes should be analogous to the particle/Klein-Gordon case where there is one Klein-Gordon field, irrespective of the number of space-time dimensions. This is not the case for the ideas of Hosotani and Morris where a particle in d space-time dimensions would be described by a theory with d-1 fields. This would clearly not look like Klein-Gordon theory. Morris was aware that the particle case should look like Klein-Gordon and thought maybe some form of gauge-fixing would solve this problem, but the companion Lagrangian seems a simpler way of achieving this.

More recent work of Hosotani and Nakayama [24] has been done on field theories for strings with two fields (not d-2) which is much the same as the companion Lagrangian idea. It is based on the Hamilton-Jacobi equations for strings and branes.

2.2 Hamilton-Jacobi Equations

The work on Hamilton-Jacobi equations for theories with more than one independent variable began with Carathéodory [47] and Velte [48]. Their ideas were developed by Nambu [9, 49], Rund [50], Kastrup [51][52] and Rinke [53] to find Hamilton-Jacobi equations for strings. Rinke [53] was the first to give a derivation for the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for strings. However, for Kastrup and Rinke the motivation was to try to relate string theory to a Maxwell field, not to find a generalisation to the Klein-Gordon field. Hosotani and Nakayama [24] used these Hamilton-Jacobi equations to construct their field theory associated with strings and branes. Similar ideas have also been discussed in [54].

This section is based on work by Nambu [9] which is easier to follow than some of the other papers on this subject. A Hamilton-Jacobi type formalism for strings which can be extended to branes is given. Equations analogous to the Hamiltonian equations and Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a point particle can be obtained for strings. This will give further motivation for the form of the companion Lagrangian.

2.2.1 Point Particles

For a point particle we have the one-form relation

$$dS = \sum_{i} p_{i} dx^{i} - H dt$$
, where $H = H(p_{i}, x^{i}), S = S(x^{i}, t).$ (2.8)

from which we can obtain the usual Hamiltonian equations

$$\frac{\partial p_i}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^i}, \qquad \frac{\partial x^i}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}.$$
 (2.9)

H is the Hamiltonian for the system and S is the action. The Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a point particle, with mass m, is

$$\left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2 = m^2. \tag{2.10}$$

It can be viewed as the classical limit of a quantum field theory.

2.2.2 Hamilton-Jacobi Equation for Strings

This idea is now extended to strings. We start by writing a two-form analogous to the one-form above (2.8).

$$dS_1 \wedge dT_1 + dS_2 \wedge dT_2 = \sum_{i>j} p_{ij} dx^i \wedge dx^j - Hd\sigma \wedge d\tau. \tag{2.11}$$

where
$$S_m = S_m(x^i, \sigma, \tau), T_m = T_m(x^i, \sigma, \tau), m = 1, 2.$$

 $H = H(p_{ij}, x^i).$ (2.12)

This results in the following

$$p_{ij} = \sum_{m=1,2} \frac{\partial(S_m, T_m)}{\partial(x^i, x^j)}, \qquad -H = \sum_{m=1,2} \frac{\partial(S_m, T_m)}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)},$$

$$0 = \sum_{m=1,2} \frac{\partial(S_m, T_m)}{\partial(\sigma, x^j)}, \qquad 0 = \sum_{m=1,2} \frac{\partial(S_m, T_m)}{\partial(x^i, \tau)}.$$
(2.13)

The last two expressions are essentially constraints and their left hand sides are zero because there are no cross terms between dx^j and $d\sigma$ or $d\tau$ in the two-form. A suitable ansatz would be to set S_1 and T_1 to both be functions of σ and τ only, and set S_2 and T_2 to be functions of the x^i only. i.e. $S_1(\sigma,\tau), T_1(\sigma,\tau), S_2(x^i), T_2(x^i)$. This ansatz will suffice since it satisfies the two constraints to leave the equations

$$p_{ij} = \frac{\partial(S_2, T_2)}{\partial(x^i, x^j)}, \qquad -H = \frac{\partial(S_1, T_1)}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)}. \tag{2.14}$$

From (2.11), by taking the exterior derivative we can see that

$$0 = \sum_{i>j} dp_{ij} \wedge dx^{i} \wedge dx^{j} - \left(\sum_{i>j} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{ij}} dp_{ij} + \sum_{i} \frac{\partial H}{\partial x^{i}} dx^{i}\right) \wedge d\sigma \wedge d\tau, \qquad (2.15)$$

and by equating the coefficients of dp_{ij} and dx^i we obtain

$$\frac{\partial(x^{i}, x^{j})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{ij}}, \qquad \sum_{j} \frac{\partial(p_{ij}, x^{j})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
 (2.16)

These equations are the analogues of the Hamiltonian equations (2.9). Substituting the string Hamiltonian equations (2.16) back into the two form (2.11) we have

$$\sum_{m} dS_{m} \wedge dT_{m} = \left(\sum_{i>j} p_{ij} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{ij}} - H\right) d\sigma \wedge d\tau = L \, d\sigma \wedge d\tau. \tag{2.17}$$

This defines the Lagrangian L in terms of the Hamiltonian H.

These equations (2.16) also imply

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial \sigma} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial H}{\partial \tau} = 0,$$
 (2.18)

so H is a constant of the motion and does not depend upon the evolution parameters (σ,τ) .

Now we consider the Schild string. Remember this has Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4} (\{x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}\})^2 \quad \text{where} \quad \{x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}\} = \frac{\partial (x_{\mu}, x_{\nu})}{\partial (\sigma, \tau)},$$
 (2.19)

and equations of motion

$$\{x^{\mu}, \{x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}\}\} = 0. \tag{2.20}$$

Choose the Hamiltonian to be

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mu > \nu} p_{\mu\nu}^2. \tag{2.21}$$

From (2.17) and (2.18) we have $\mathcal{L} = H = \text{constant}$. By putting this Hamiltonian into the Hamiltonian equations (2.16) we obtain

$$\frac{\partial(x_{\mu}, x_{\nu})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = p_{\mu\nu}, \quad \sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial(p_{\mu\nu}, x^{\nu})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = 0, \tag{2.22}$$

which leads to

$$\{x^{\mu}, \{x_{\mu}, x_{\nu}\}\} = 0, \tag{2.23}$$

which is the equation of motion for the Schild string. (The Lagrangian is also that for the Schild string.) Using the ansatz for S_m , T_m that we had before (2.14) then

$$p_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial(S_2, T_2)}{\partial(x^{\mu}, x^{\nu})},$$
 (2.24)

so using (2.21) we have

$$\left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^2 = \text{constant.}$$
 (2.25)

This is the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for strings.

Hosotani and Nakayama based their analysis on the Nambu-Goto action rather than the Schild action for strings but some of their findings work for both cases. The equation of motion for both is

$$\frac{\partial(p_{\mu\nu}, x^{\nu})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = 0, \tag{2.26}$$

where $p_{\mu\nu}$ is the conjugate momentum in each case.

Now, consider a family of solutions to the equations of motion for a theory in d space-time dimensions. d-2 parameters λ_a specify these solutions

 $x^{\mu} = x^{\mu}(\sigma, \tau, \lambda_1, \dots \lambda_{d-2})$. This defines a mapping from $\{\sigma, \tau, \lambda_a\}$ to $\{x^{\mu}\}$. If this mapping is one-to-one then $p_{\mu\nu}(\sigma, \tau, \lambda_a)$ can be treated as a local field $p_{\mu\nu}(x^{\rho})$. This means the equations of motion can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\partial(p_{\mu\nu}, x^{\nu})}{\partial(\sigma, \tau)} = \frac{\partial p_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^{\rho}} \frac{\partial x^{\rho}}{\partial \sigma} \frac{\partial x^{\nu}}{\partial \tau} - \frac{\partial p_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^{\rho}} \frac{\partial x^{\rho}}{\partial \tau} \frac{\partial x^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma} = p^{\rho\nu} \partial_{\rho} p_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.27}$$

But, using the fact $p_{\mu\nu}$ is antisymmetric with respect to indices μ and ν then

$$p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{\rho}p_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{\rho}p_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{\nu}p_{\mu\rho} + \frac{1}{2}p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{\mu}p_{\nu\rho} - \frac{1}{2}p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{\mu}p_{\nu\rho}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}p^{\rho\nu}\partial_{[\rho}p_{\mu\nu]} - \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\mu}(p^{\rho\nu}p_{\nu\rho})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\mu}(p^{\rho\nu}p_{\nu\rho}) = 0. \tag{2.28}$$

so $p^{\rho\nu}p_{\rho\nu}$ =constant. From the ansatz (2.14) for S_m and T_m earlier, using the definition for $p_{\mu\nu}$, then

$$\frac{1}{2}p^{\mu\nu}p_{\mu\nu} = \left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^2 = \text{constant}, \tag{2.29}$$

which is the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for strings. For the Nambu-Goto string the constant is related to the way the theory is normalised. It should be noted that the constant may be zero for the Schild string but not for the Nambu-Goto string.

In general, if S_2 and T_2 satisfy the Hamilton-Jacobi equation (2.29) then $p_{\mu\nu}$ as given in (2.14) satisfies the equation of motion for the string (2.26).

The question still remains: what are S_2 and T_2 ? For the point particle S(x) is the action at point x, but as yet the meaning of S_2 and T_2 has yet to be worked out.

2.2.3 Hamilton-Jacobi Equation for Branes

The Hamilton-Jacobi equation for p-branes can be found in a similar way. The conjugate momentum tensor is

$$p_{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_{p+1}} = \frac{\partial(S_1, S_2, \dots, S_{p+1})}{\partial(x^{\mu_1}, x^{\mu_2}, \dots, x^{\mu_{p+1}})}.$$
 (2.30)

Note that here the local fields S_i are analogous to the S_2 and T_2 from the string case. The Hamilton-Jacobi equation is

$$\left(\frac{\partial(S_1, S_2, \dots, S_{p+1})}{\partial(x^{\mu_1}, x^{\mu_2}, \dots, x^{\mu_{p+1}})}\right)^2 = \text{constant.}$$
 (2.31)

2.2.4 Obtaining the Companion Lagrangians

We observe that the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a massless point particle

$$\left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2 = 0\tag{2.32}$$

takes the same form as the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^{2}.$$
 (2.33)

By analogy, for the string case we take the field Lagrangian to be of the same form as the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for strings

$$\left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\partial S_2}{\partial x^{\mu}}\frac{\partial T_2}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^2 = 0, \tag{2.34}$$

$$\Rightarrow \qquad \mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)^{2}. \tag{2.35}$$

Similarly for the p-brane, the companion Lagrangian is the same form as the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a p-brane (2.31) and is therefore

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{(p+1)!} \left(\frac{\partial (\phi^1, \phi^2, \dots, \phi^{p+1})}{\partial (x^{\mu_1}, x^{\mu_2}, \dots, x^{\mu_{p+1}})} \right)^2 = \det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|. \tag{2.36}$$

However, it may prove a good idea to take the square root of this as the Lagrangian. This would look similar to the Nambu-Goto action for strings or the Born-Infeld action for branes.

2.3 Equivalence Theorems

2.3.1 Equivalent Lagrangians

In some cases it may not matter if the companion Lagrangian has a square root or not, since if the Lagrangian is a non-zero constant the equations of motion for both Lagrangians are the same.

For the non-square root companion Lagrangian, \mathcal{L} , the equations of motion are

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i_{\mu} \partial \phi^j_{\nu}} \phi^j_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{2.37}$$

For the square root Lagrangian $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$, with the same number of fields and dimensions as the non-square root Lagrangian above, the equations of motion are

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\frac{\partial \sqrt{\mathcal{L}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}^{i}} \right) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}^{i} \partial \phi_{\nu}^{j}} \phi_{\mu\nu}^{j} - \frac{1}{4\mathcal{L}^{3/2}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = 0. \tag{2.38}$$

If the Lagrangian is a non-zero constant, $\mathcal{L} = c$ say, then

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = 0. \tag{2.39}$$

Therefore, the second term in the equations of motion for the square root case vanishes leaving the first term which is the equivalent to the equations of motion for the non-square root case. Therefore, the two Lagrangians give the same equations of motion if the Lagrangian is a non-zero constant.

2.3.2 Equivalence Theorem for Companion Lagrangians in Different Dimensions

There is a another way to relate the theories of companion Lagrangians with and without square roots. The main difference here is that the number of dimensions in each theory is not the same.

Theorem: The equations of motion for a companion Lagrangian for n fields without a square root, subject to some constraints, are equivalent to the equations of motion for a companion Lagrangian for n fields with a square root in one less space-time dimension.

Klein-Gordon equation

This began with a simple observation regarding the Klein-Gordon equation. Consider the massless Klein-Gordon Lagrangian in d space-time dimensions,

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)^2$$
 where $\mu = 1, \dots, d$. (2.40)

Impose the condition $\mathcal{L} = 0$. Using this condition to eliminate partial derivatives with respect to one coordinate, x^d say, then we find the equations of motion for the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian are now the same as the equations of motion for the square root of the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian in one less dimension.

$$\mathcal{L}' = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\right)^2}$$
 where $\alpha = 1, \dots, d - 1.$ (2.41)

This can be seen as follows:

Using the constraint $\mathcal{L} = 0$ we find

$$\phi_d = \sqrt{-\phi_\alpha \phi_\alpha}, \quad \text{so} \quad \phi_{dd} = -\frac{\phi_{\alpha\beta} \phi_\alpha \phi_\beta}{\phi_\alpha \phi_\gamma}.$$
 (2.42)

Therefore, the Klein-Gordon equation can be written as

$$\phi_{\mu\mu} = \phi_{\alpha\alpha} + \phi_{dd} = \phi_{\alpha\alpha} - \frac{\phi_{\alpha\beta}\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\beta}}{\phi_{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}} = \frac{\phi_{\alpha\alpha}\phi_{\beta}\phi_{\beta} - \phi_{\alpha\beta}\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\beta}}{\phi_{\gamma}\phi_{\gamma}} = 0. \tag{2.43}$$

The numerator of which is the same as the equations of motion for Lagrangian (2.41). In all of the above then $\alpha, \beta, \gamma = 1, 2, ..., (d-1)$.

This property also extends to more general Lagrangians of the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\phi_d^2 + \frac{1}{2}F(\phi_\alpha)$$
 where $\alpha = 1, \dots, d-1,$ (2.44)

where $F(\phi_{\alpha})$ is an arbitrary function of the ϕ_{α} . As before, by imposing the condition $\mathcal{L} = 0$, we can eliminate derivatives with respect to x^d since

$$\phi_d = \sqrt{-F}, \quad \text{so} \quad \phi_{dd} = -\frac{\phi_{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha}F_{\beta}}{4F},$$
 (2.45)

where
$$F_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}}, \quad F_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial \phi_{\alpha} \partial \phi_{\beta}}.$$

So the equation of motion for (2.44) is

$$\phi_{dd} + \frac{1}{2}\phi_{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{(2F_{\alpha\beta}F - F_{\alpha}F_{\beta})\phi_{\alpha\beta}}{4F} = 0.$$
 (2.46)

The numerator of this is the equation of motion for the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}' = \sqrt{F(\phi_{\alpha})} \qquad \alpha = 1, \dots d - 1. \tag{2.47}$$

Again, a theory for a field in d dimensions has been reduced to a theory in d-1 dimensions by setting the Lagrangian of the first theory equal to zero.

The question to ask now is, does any of this generalise to the companion equations for strings and branes? The answer is yes!

Strings

A similar thing can be shown for the companion Lagrangians for strings which have two fields $\phi(x^{\mu})$ and $\psi(x^{\mu})$. However, this time, as well as imposing the condition $\mathcal{L} = 0$, we also need the constraints

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \frac{\partial^{2} \phi}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\nu}} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \frac{\partial^{2} \psi}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\nu}} = 0. \tag{2.48}$$

With these constraints then the equations of motion for the string companion Lagrangian without a square root are the same as the equations of motion for the string companion Lagrangian with a square root but in one less dimension.

Branes

This also extends to p-branes. When the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian for p+1 fields ϕ^i without a square root are subject to the constraints

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \frac{\partial^2 \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\nu}} = 0, \quad \text{no summation over } i, \tag{2.49}$$

then they are the same as the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian with a square root in one less space-time dimension.

It is easy to prove this equivalence in the Klein-Gordon case and this has already been shown. Computer calculations using the package MAPLE can also be used to check results for low numbers of dimensions and fields. However, a general proof has been found which proves this equivalence for any number of fields, n, and any number of fields, d, where d > n [4]. This proof is given in Appendix A.

It should be noted that for d = n + 1 the equations of motion, when subject to the constraints, vanish identically. This is because when the number of fields is the same as the number of dimensions in the square root case, the Lagrangian is a divergence so therefore the equations of motion will be identically zero.

This equivalence theorem has some similarity with 't Hooft's Holographic Principle [55], which has also been studied by Susskind [56]. The principle says that a three-dimensional object can be described on a two-dimensional surface, just like a hologram. Therefore, a theory can be dimensionally reduced by one dimension, the same as in the companion Lagrangian equivalence theorem.

As yet, we do not have a full interpretation of what the constraints mean. The constraints we have used may turn out to be too strong, since there are a lot of them. We may need fewer constraints to obtain the same equivalence and the constraints that have been used here would just be a special class of a more general set of constraints. Also, the constraints we have used are not invariant under simple transformations such as

$$\phi \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\phi + \psi), \qquad \psi \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\phi - \psi).$$
 (2.50)

This is something to look for in more general constraints, particularly as the Lagrangian is invariant under such a transformation. Finding another set of constraints may make the interpretation of the constraints and the equivalence theorem easier.

Overall, it seems likely that the theorem and constraints have some importance

2.4 Covariance 38

since it is non-trivial that the two Lagrangians give the same equations of motion when the constraints are applied.

2.4 Covariance

It is unclear at present whether it is best to take the companion Lagrangian with or without the square root. One argument for taking the square root case is that of general covariance. For the companion Lagrangian with n fields in d dimensions, under the field redefinition

$$\phi^i \to \Phi^i(\phi^1, \phi^2, \dots, \phi^n), \tag{2.51}$$

the Lagrangian transforms as

$$\mathcal{L} \mapsto J\mathcal{L},$$
 (2.52)

and so is multiplied by a factor J, which is the Jacobian of the transformation i.e.

$$J = \frac{\partial(\Phi^1, \Phi^2, \dots, \Phi^n)}{\partial(\phi^1, \phi^2, \dots, \phi^n)}.$$
 (2.53)

However, the equations of motion are unchanged under this transformation since

$$\frac{\partial(J\mathcal{L})}{\partial\phi^{i}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\frac{\partial(J\mathcal{L})}{\partial\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \right) = \frac{\partial J}{\partial\phi^{i}} \mathcal{L} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(J \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \right)
= \frac{\partial J}{\partial\phi^{i}} \mathcal{L} - \frac{\partial J}{\partial\phi^{j}} \frac{\partial\phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} - J \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \right)
= -J \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} \right) = 0.$$
(2.54)

In the middle line, the first two terms cancel with each other because the Lagrangian is homogeneous of weight one in the $\frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}}$ and depends on these derivatives in such a way that

$$\frac{\partial \phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)} = \delta_{i}^{j} \mathcal{L}. \tag{2.55}$$

This just leaves the original equation of motion for ϕ^i . Therefore, the square root Lagrangian is generally covariant which means any function of a solution to the

equations of motion is also a solution to the equations of motion. The Lagrangian without the square root does not possess this property of general covariance. The Lagrangian acquires a factor of J^2 under the field redefinition (2.51) and the equations of motion change under this transformation.

2.5 Including a Background Metric

Companion Lagrangians and Born-Infeld type Lagrangians can be written in terms of a quadratic form of Jacobians. If we include a background metric, $g_{\mu\nu}$, then this property still holds.

A companion Lagrangian with a background metric is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| g_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x_{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\nu}} \right|}.$$
 (2.56)

For the string case, where we have two fields (ϕ, ψ) , this can be re-written in terms of Jacobians to give

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} (g_{\mu\nu} g_{\rho\kappa} - g_{\mu\rho} g_{\nu\kappa}) \left(\frac{\partial (\phi, \psi)}{\partial (x_{\mu}, x_{\kappa})} \right) \left(\frac{\partial (\phi, \psi)}{\partial (x_{\nu}, x_{\rho})} \right)}.$$
 (2.57)

This is very similar to the Nambu-Goto string. If we put a background metric into the Lagrangian then it becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| g_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|}, \tag{2.58}$$

which can be written in terms of Jacobians as follows

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} (g_{\mu\nu} g_{\rho\kappa} - g_{\mu\rho} g_{\nu\kappa}) \left(\frac{\partial (X^{\mu}, X^{\kappa})}{\partial (\sigma, \tau)} \right) \left(\frac{\partial (X^{\nu}, X^{\rho})}{\partial (\sigma, \tau)} \right)}. \tag{2.59}$$

A general companion Lagrangian, for n fields in d dimensions, with a background metric can be written in terms of Jacobians

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n!((d-n)!)^2} \epsilon_{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_d} \epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_d} g_{\mu_1\nu_1} g_{\mu_2\nu_2} \dots g_{\mu_n\nu_n} J_{\mu_{n+1}\mu_{n+2}\dots\mu_d} J_{\nu_{n+1}\nu_{n+2}\dots\nu_d}},$$
(2.60)

where $J_{\mu_{n+1}\mu_{n+2}...\mu_d}$ is the usual Jacobian for companion Lagrangians as defined in (1.42). Note that it is still of quadratic form inside the square root. This is also the form for Born-Infeld type Lagrangians with a background metric but where the Jacobians $J_{\mu_{n+1}\mu_{n+2}...\mu_d}$ are now the Jacobians for Born-Infeld type theories.

2.6 Electromagnetic Interactions

The question arises as to how to incorporate electromagnetic interactions into our theory with companion Lagrangians. As yet, the following ideas are somewhat speculative but do point towards ways in which this could be done.

In Born-Infeld theory, electromagnetism is incorporated by adding an antisymmetric term, F_{ij} , to the induced metric g_{ij} so the Lagrangian is now

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det |g_{ij} + F_{ij}|} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} + F_{ij} \right|}, \tag{2.61}$$

where
$$F_{ij} = \frac{\partial A^j}{\partial \sigma^i} - \frac{\partial A^i}{\partial \sigma^j}$$
.

If we want to copy this structure for the companion Lagrangian, then one way of doing this is to assume that the gauge field depends only on x^{μ} through the fields $\phi^{i}(x^{\mu})$. The gauge fields would be written as $\mathcal{A}^{i}(\phi^{j})$ and the companion Lagrangian with electromagnetism would be

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{A}^j}{\partial \phi^i} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{A}^i}{\partial \phi^j} \right|}.$$
 (2.62)

This possibility is gauge invariant.

Another possibility is to consider the conserved currents for the theory and to couple the electromagnetic fields to these. This ensures gauge invariance. An example of a conserved current is

$$J_{\mu}^{ij} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x_{\mu}}\right)} \phi^{j}, \quad i \neq j.$$
 (2.63)

It is easy to see that this is conserved since,

$$\partial_{\mu} J_{\mu}^{ij} = \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \phi^{j} \right) = \underbrace{\partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \right)}_{e,o,m} \phi^{j} + \underbrace{\underbrace{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \frac{\partial \phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}}}_{=0} = 0. \tag{2.64}$$

The first term is zero because it is the equation of motion. The second term is zero because this is a condition due to the fact the Lagrangian is a function of Jacobians and $i \neq j$, as seen from (2.55).

Also, the currents $J_{\mu}^{ii} - J_{\mu}^{jj}$ (no summation over indices i and j) are conserved since

$$\Rightarrow \underbrace{\partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \right)}_{e.o.m.} \phi^{i} - \underbrace{\partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \right)}_{e.o.m.} \phi^{j} + \underbrace{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}}_{=\mathcal{L}} - \underbrace{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial \phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \right)} \frac{\partial \phi^{j}}{\partial x^{\mu}}}_{=\mathcal{L}} = 0.$$

$$(2.65)$$

In the above, the μ index is summed over but the i and j indices are not. These currents, J^{ij}_{μ} , carry two indices so they naturally couple to a two index gauge field, A^{ij} say, which transforms under the group SO(n). The contribution to the Lagrangian for the gauge field coupling to the fields ϕ^i would be

$$\sum_{i,j} A^{ij}_{\mu} J^{ij}_{\mu}. \tag{2.66}$$

This is gauge invariant up to a divergence.

A third suggestion would be to consider the Kalb-Ramond string interaction term for an antisymmetric B-field

$$B_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau}.$$
 (2.67)

For the companion Lagrangian, the analogous term would be of the form

$$B_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x^{\nu}}.$$
 (2.68)

A final way of including U(1) gauge fields in companion Lagrangians was suggested in [57]. Instead of having the usual brane Lagrangian (2.61), we consider

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det |g_{ij} + F_{ij}|} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} + \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial q}{\partial \sigma^{j}} - \frac{\partial p}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \frac{\partial q}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \right) \right|}, \quad (2.69)$$

where F_{ij} is now the Lagrange Bracket,

$$F_{ij} = \frac{\partial p}{\partial \sigma^i} \frac{\partial q}{\partial \sigma^j} - \frac{\partial p}{\partial \sigma^j} \frac{\partial q}{\partial \sigma^i}.$$
 (2.70)

This is still a U(1) theory.

The equivalent companion Lagrangian would be

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} + \left(\frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial p} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial q} - \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial p} \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial q} \right) \right|}, \tag{2.71}$$

where the antisymmetric term, F_{ij} , is now

$$F_{ij} = \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial p} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial a} - \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial p} \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial a}.$$
 (2.72)

This is the Poisson bracket. This term is the commutator term in an $SU(\infty)$ theory. This is because in the $N \to \infty$ limit, the SU(N) algebra corresponds to the Poisson Bracket algebra [58]. It should be noted that the Poisson bracket and Lagrange bracket are inverses of each other. This Lagrangian is covariant.

Although it is not yet clear which of these ideas is the best, it has been shown that there are possible covariant or gauge invariant ways of introducing gauge fields. The concept of a field description of strings and branes via the companion Lagrangian and equations is strengthened by the fact that gauge fields can be added to the theory.

2.7 Summary

In this chapter, the structure of the companion Lagrangian, a Lagrangian for a field theory for strings and branes, has been given. The Lagrangian can be written in terms of Jacobians which always appear in quadratic form. This form is maintained even when a background metric is added.

The main motivation behind studying it is to formulate a field theory which gives equations of motion similar to the Klein-Gordon equation but for strings and branes rather than particles. The number of fields should always be equal to the number of world-volume coordinates. It is further motivated by the Hamilton-Jacobi equations for strings and branes.

It is not clear whether the Lagrangian should be taken with or without a square root. However, if the Lagrangian is a non-zero constant, this does not matter since the equations motion for Lagrangians with and without square roots are the same in this case. There is also an equivalence theorem which states the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian without a square root for n fields in d dimensions, when subjected to some constraints, are equivalent to the equations of motion for a companion Lagrangian with a square root with n fields but d-1 dimensions. From the point of view of wanting a covariant theory, the square root companion Lagrangian is the best choice.

Chapter 3

Companion Equations and Integrability

The aim of this chapter is to discuss the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian. First, we look at the equations of motion for the Born-Infeld type Lagrangians *i.e* those for the relativistic particle, Nambu-Goto string and *p*-branes. Then we consider the companion equations. These are sums of Bateman equations or Universal Field Equations. The integrability of some of these equations is discussed, mainly for the case where there is one more dimension than there are fields. Finally, a proof is given to show that all Lagrangians with two fields in three dimensions, which are homogeneous functions of weight one in the Jacobians, have the same equations of motion.

3.1 Equations of Motion of Born-Infeld Type

We begin by describing the equations of motion for Born-Infeld type Lagrangians and show how they can be written in a compact form. For a classical point particle with Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^2},\tag{3.1}$$

the equations of motion can be written as

$$\frac{\partial^2 X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau^2} \frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau} - \frac{\partial^2 X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau^2} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau} = 0. \tag{3.2}$$

For d dimensions it is easy to verify that there are d-1 independent equations of motion in this case. This can be seen if we rewrite them as

$$\frac{\frac{\partial^2 X^1}{\partial \tau^2}}{\frac{\partial X^1}{\partial \tau}} = \frac{\frac{\partial^2 X^2}{\partial \tau^2}}{\frac{\partial X^2}{\partial \tau}} = \dots = \frac{\frac{\partial^2 X^d}{\partial \tau^2}}{\frac{\partial X^d}{\partial \tau}},\tag{3.3}$$

assuming $\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \tau} \neq 0$ for $\mu = 1, 2, \dots d$. In the case of the point particle, the number of equations of motion depends on the number of space-time dimensions, d.

Now we consider the Nambu-Goto string with Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\partial X^{\nu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma}\frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \tau}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (3.4)

In three dimensions, d=3, there is only one equation of motion. This can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} J_{1} & J_{2} & J_{3} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X_{\sigma\sigma}^{1} & X_{\sigma\tau}^{1} & X_{\tau\tau}^{1} \\ X_{\sigma\sigma}^{2} & X_{\sigma\tau}^{2} & X_{\tau\tau}^{2} \\ X_{\sigma\sigma}^{3} & X_{\sigma\tau}^{3} & X_{\tau\tau}^{3} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (X_{\tau}^{1})^{2} + (X_{\tau}^{2})^{2} + (X_{\tau}^{3})^{2} \\ -2(X_{\sigma}^{1}X_{\tau}^{1} + X_{\sigma}^{2}X_{\tau}^{2} + X_{\sigma}^{3}X_{\tau}^{3}) \\ (X_{\sigma}^{1})^{2} + (X_{\sigma}^{2})^{2} + (X_{\sigma}^{3})^{2} \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

$$(3.5)$$

where
$$X_i^{\mu} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^i}$$
, $X_{ij}^{\mu} = \frac{\partial^2 X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^i \partial \sigma^j}$, $\sigma^i = (\sigma, \tau)$, (3.6)

and
$$J_{\rho} = \epsilon_{\rho\mu\nu} X_{\sigma}^{\mu} X_{\tau}^{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\rho\mu\nu} \begin{vmatrix} X_{\sigma}^{\mu} & X_{\sigma}^{\nu} \\ X_{\tau}^{\mu} & X_{\tau}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}. \tag{3.7}$$

Therefore, the equation of motion (3.5) could be written as

$$J_{\nu}X_{ij}^{\nu}(L^{-1})_{ij} = 0, \tag{3.8}$$

where L is a matrix which has components $[L]_{ij} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^i} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^j}$. L^{-1} is the inverse of this matrix. For a string in d dimensions, the equations of motion can be written in a similar form,

$$J_{\mu\nu_2...\nu_{d-2}}J_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_{d-2}}X_{ij}^{\nu_1}(L^{-1})_{ij} = 0, (3.9)$$

where the Jacobians are

$$J_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_{d-2}} = \epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_d} X_{\sigma}^{\nu_{d-1}} X_{\tau}^{\nu_d} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_d} \begin{vmatrix} X_{\sigma}^{\nu_{d-1}} & X_{\sigma}^{\nu_d} \\ X_{\tau}^{\nu_{d-1}} & X_{\tau}^{\nu_d} \end{vmatrix}.$$
(3.10)

Only d-2 of these equations of motion (3.9) are independent.

This can be extended to branes. For a p-brane with the Born-Infeld Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|}, \tag{3.11}$$

the equations of motion can be written as

$$J_{\mu\nu_2\nu_3...\nu_{d-p-1}}J_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_{d-p-1}}X_{ij}^{\nu_1}(L^{-1})_{ij} = 0, \tag{3.12}$$

where

$$J_{\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_{d-p-1}} = \epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_d} \frac{\partial X^{\nu_{d-p}}}{\partial \sigma^1} \frac{\partial X^{\nu_{d-p+1}}}{\partial \sigma^2} \dots \frac{\partial X^{\nu_d}}{\partial \sigma^{p+1}}.$$
 (3.13)

Again, L is a matrix with components $[L]_{ij} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}$. In general, an object (particle, string or brane) which sweeps out an (p+1)-dimensional world volume in d-dimensional space-time has only d-p-1 independent equations of motion. In the case d=p+1, the Lagrangian is a divergence, so all the equations of motion vanish.

3.2 Companion Equations

We now turn our attention to the companion equations which are the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangians. We will be considering the Lagrangians with a square root. Firstly, we discuss the case of one field $\phi(x^{\mu})$ with Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)^2}.$$
 (3.14)

For two space-time dimensions, d = 2, the companion equation is

$$\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_1}\right)^2 \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial x_2^2} + \left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_2}\right)^2 \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial x_1^2} - 2\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_1}\right) \left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial x_2}\right) \frac{\partial^2\phi}{\partial x_1\partial x_2} = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

This is the Bateman equation. For d=3 the equation of motion is

$$\phi_1^2 \phi_{22} + \phi_2^2 \phi_{11} - 2\phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_{12} + \phi_1^2 \phi_{33} + \phi_3^2 \phi_{11} - 2\phi_1 \phi_3 \phi_{13} + \phi_2^2 \phi_{33} + \phi_3^2 \phi_{22} - 2\phi_2 \phi_3 \phi_{23} = 0,$$
 (3.16)

where

$$\phi_i = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_i}, \qquad \phi_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$$
 (3.17)

This is the sum of three Bateman equations. This pattern generalises as we increase the number of dimensions. For d space-time dimensions the companion equation is the sum of $\binom{d}{2}$ Bateman equations. There is always only one equation of motion, irrespective of the number of space-time dimensions. This is due to the fact there is only one field, ϕ .

We now consider the companion equations for strings which come from the companion Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\left[(\phi_{\mu})^{2} (\psi_{\nu})^{2} - (\phi_{\mu}\psi_{\mu})^{2} \right]} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} (\phi_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} - \phi_{\nu}\psi_{\mu})^{2}}.$$
 (3.18)

Note that the Lagrangian depends on the derivatives ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{ν} only through the Jacobians which are of the form $(\phi_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} - \phi_{\nu}\psi_{\mu})$. For three space-time dimensions, d=3, then the equations of motion are of the form

$$\det \begin{vmatrix}
0 & 0 & \phi_1 & \phi_2 & \phi_3 \\
0 & 0 & \psi_1 & \psi_2 & \psi_3 \\
\phi_1 & \psi_1 & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{13} \\
\phi_2 & \psi_2 & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \phi_{23} \\
\phi_3 & \psi_3 & \phi_{13} & \phi_{23} & \phi_{33}
\end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(3.19)

There are two equations of motion. The second has the same structure as (3.19) but with ϕ and ψ interchanged. This is a Universal Field Equation, a generalisation of the Bateman equation.

For d=4, the equations of motion are the sum of four Universal Field Equations like (3.19),

$$\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & \phi_{1} & \phi_{2} & \phi_{3} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi_{1} & \psi_{2} & \psi_{3} \\ \phi_{1} & \psi_{1} & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{13} \\ \phi_{2} & \psi_{2} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \phi_{23} \\ \phi_{3} & \psi_{3} & \phi_{13} & \phi_{23} & \phi_{33} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & \phi_{1} & \phi_{2} & \phi_{4} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi_{1} & \psi_{2} & \psi_{4} \\ \phi_{1} & \psi_{1} & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{14} \\ \phi_{2} & \psi_{2} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \phi_{24} \\ \phi_{4} & \psi_{4} & \phi_{14} & \phi_{24} & \phi_{44} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & \phi_{1} & \phi_{3} & \phi_{4} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi_{1} & \psi_{3} & \psi_{4} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi_{2} & \psi_{3} & \psi_{4} \\ \phi_{3} & \psi_{3} & \phi_{13} & \phi_{33} & \phi_{34} \\ \phi_{4} & \psi_{4} & \phi_{14} & \phi_{34} & \phi_{44} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & \phi_{2} & \phi_{3} & \phi_{4} \\ 0 & 0 & \psi_{2} & \psi_{3} & \psi_{4} \\ \phi_{2} & \psi_{2} & \phi_{22} & \phi_{23} & \phi_{24} \\ \phi_{3} & \psi_{3} & \phi_{23} & \phi_{33} & \phi_{34} \\ \phi_{4} & \psi_{4} & \phi_{14} & \phi_{34} & \phi_{44} \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$

$$(3.20)$$

The other equation of motion is the same except ϕ and ψ are interchanged. For general d, the equations of motion are the sum of $\binom{d}{3}$ Universal Field Equations.

For a p-brane, the companion Lagrangian can again be written in terms of Jacobians,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{(p+1)!} \left(\frac{\partial (\phi^1, \phi^2, \dots, \phi^{p+1})}{\partial (x^{\mu_1}, x^{\mu_2}, \dots, x^{\mu_{p+1}})} \right)^2}. \tag{3.21}$$

In the case d=p+2, the equation of motion are just Universal Field Equations again, of the form

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \phi_{1}^{1} & \phi_{2}^{1} & \cdots & \phi_{p+2}^{1} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \phi_{1}^{2} & \phi_{2}^{2} & \cdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & \phi_{1}^{p+1} & \cdots & \cdots & \phi_{p+2}^{p+1} \\ \phi_{1}^{1} & \phi_{1}^{2} & \cdots & \phi_{1}^{p+1} & \phi_{11}^{1} & \phi_{12}^{1} & \cdots & \phi_{1,p+2}^{1} \\ \phi_{2}^{1} & \phi_{2}^{2} & \cdots & \phi_{2}^{p+1} & \phi_{12}^{1} & \phi_{22}^{1} & \cdots & \phi_{2,p+2}^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \phi_{p+2}^{1} & \phi_{p+2}^{2} & \cdots & \phi_{p+2}^{p+1} & \phi_{1,p+2}^{1} & \cdots & \cdots & \phi_{p+2,p+2}^{1} \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$

$$(3.22)$$

For higher space-time dimensions, the equations of motion are sums of $\binom{d}{p+2}$ Universal Field Equations (3.22). There are always p+1 equations of motion, the same as the number of fields. The fact that the companion equations are all made up of Universal Field Equations is related to the fact that the companion Lagrangians are all square roots of squares of Jacobians. In fact, the equations of motion can alternatively be written using the Jacobians. They take the form,

$$J_{\mu\mu_2\mu_3\dots\mu_{d-n-1}}J_{\nu\mu_2\mu_3\dots\mu_{d-n-1}}\phi^i_{\mu\nu} = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, p+1, \tag{3.23}$$

where the Jacobian is defined as

$$J_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\dots\mu_{d-p-1}} = \epsilon_{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_{d-p-1}\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_{p+1}} \phi_{\nu_1}^1 \phi_{\nu_2}^2 \dots \phi_{\nu_{p+1}}^{p+1}. \tag{3.24}$$

The calculation to show these are the equations of motion of the companion Lagrangian is in Appendix B.

3.3 Integrability

As mentioned before, the companion equation for the companion Lagrangian with a square root for one field in two dimensions (3.14) is the Bateman equation (3.15). This equation is fully integrable. The equation has the general solution

$$F(\phi)x_1 + G(\phi)x_2 = c = \text{constant}, \tag{3.25}$$

where F and G are arbitrary functions. It is covariant since if ϕ is a solution then so is any function of ϕ . The Bateman equation is equivalent to the Monge non-linear wave equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1} = u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2}, \quad \text{where} \quad u = \frac{\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_1}}{\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_2}} = \frac{\phi_1}{\phi_2}.$$
 (3.26)

This is a first order equation for u. The companion Lagrangian can be written so that it contains u,

$$\mathcal{L} = \phi_2 \sqrt{(1+u^2)}.\tag{3.27}$$

The equation of motion is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+u^2}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{u}{\sqrt{1+u^2}} = 0, \qquad (3.28)$$

which is equivalent to the Monge equation (3.26). In fact, replacing $\sqrt{1+u^2}$ with any differentiable function f(u) will give the same equation of motion.

This was known already, but what happens in the next case up when we have two fields in three dimensions? The equations of motion are known to be covariant in this case (see section 2.4) and so we ought to be able to express them in terms of two ratios of Jacobians

$$u = \frac{\phi_1 \psi_2 - \phi_2 \psi_1}{\phi_2 \psi_3 - \phi_3 \psi_2},$$

$$v = \frac{\phi_3 \psi_1 - \phi_1 \psi_3}{\phi_2 \psi_3 - \phi_3 \psi_2}.$$
(3.29)

These are analogous to the u defined in (3.26) for the one field case. The Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = (\phi_2 \psi_3 - \phi_3 \psi_2) \sqrt{(1 + u^2 + v^2)}, \tag{3.30}$$

and the equations of motion are

$$v \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{v}{\sqrt{1 + u^2 + v^2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u^2 + v^2}} \right]$$

$$+ u \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{u}{\sqrt{1 + u^2 + v^2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u^2 + v^2}} \right] = 0,$$

$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+u^2+v^2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{v}{\sqrt{1+u^2+v^2}}\right] + u \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \frac{u}{\sqrt{1+u^2+v^2}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \frac{v}{\sqrt{1+u^2+v^2}}\right] = 0.$$
(3.31)

As before, $\sqrt{1+u^2+v^2}$ can be replaced by an arbitrary function f(u,v). For any such function, we can write the equations of motion down as

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1} + v \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2} + u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_3} = 0,
\frac{\partial v}{\partial x_1} + v \frac{\partial v}{\partial x_2} + u \frac{\partial v}{\partial x_3} = 0.$$
(3.32)

These are equivalent to (3.31), independent of the function f(u, v), and look like generalisations of the Monge equation.

They have an implicit solution for u and v which can be found by solving the equations

$$u = F(x_3 - ux_1, x_2 - vx_1), \qquad v = G(x_3 - ux_1, x_2 - vx_1),$$
 (3.33)

where F and G are arbitrary functions of two variables. By setting $u = U(\phi, \psi)$ and $v = V(\phi, \psi)$, where U and V are also arbitrary functions of two variables, and then solving the equations (3.33) for ϕ and ψ then we have a general solution to the equations of motion. This is similar to they way the general solution to the Monge equation leads to the general solution for the Bateman equation. This shows that these equations of motion are integrable.

This procedure is easily generalised for n fields in n+1 dimensions. As yet, a generalisation for n fields in d dimensions has not been found, but it is hoped that this does exist and that the equations of motion are integrable. However, for the cases where d > n+1, the equations of motion are sums of Bateman equations of Universal Field Equations. A large class of solutions to these equations of motion can be found by solving each Bateman equation or Universal Field Equation separately. For example, for the one field case the equation of motion is the sum of $\binom{d}{2}$ Bateman equations. Solving the equation below for ϕ ,

$$x^{\mu}F_{\mu}(\phi) = c, \tag{3.34}$$

where F_{μ} are d arbitrary functions of ϕ , and c is a constant, gives solutions to all the individual Bateman equations and therefore to the whole equation of motion. This works the same for more fields. By finding solutions which satisfy each Universal Field Equation by itself, the equations of motion are satisfied.

3.4 Lagrangians with the Same Equations of Motion

In the previous section we said that all Lagrangians for two fields in three dimensions which are homogeneous of weight one in the Jacobians have the same equations of motion i.e. Lagrangians of the form $\mathcal{L} = (\phi_2 \psi_3 - \phi_3 \psi_2) f(u, v)$ where f is an arbitrary function and u, v are the ratios of Jacobians, given in (3.29). This can be shown either by calculating the equations of motion for such a Lagrangian directly, which can be a bit messy, or as follows. Take Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(J_1, J_2, J_3)$ where J_{μ} are the Jacobians defined as $J_{\mu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho}\phi_{\nu}\psi_{\rho}$. Since the Lagrangian is a homogeneous function of weight one in the Jacobians then the following are true:

$$\phi_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = \mathcal{L}, \qquad \psi_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = 0,$$
 (3.35)

$$\phi_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu}} = 0, \qquad \psi_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu}} = \mathcal{L}.$$
 (3.36)

The first and the last equation arise because the Lagrangian is a homogeneous function of weight one in ϕ_{μ} and also in ψ_{ν} . The other two equations arise because the Lagrangian is a function of Jacobians. The equations of motion are

$$\phi_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} + \psi_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} = 0,$$

$$\psi_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} + \phi_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} = 0.$$
(3.37)

Differentiating the constraints (3.35) with respect to ϕ_{ν} , we obtain

$$\phi_{\mu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} = 0, \qquad \psi_{\mu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} = 0.$$
 (3.38)

This gives six equations, five of which are independent. Solving these, it is possible to write all $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}}$ in terms of $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \phi_1}$, say. Similarly, differentiating the constraints (3.35) with respect to ψ_{ν} and constraints (3.36) with respect to ϕ_{ν} we find

$$\phi_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \right) = 0,$$

$$\psi_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \right) = 0.$$
(3.39)

Again, there are six equations for which five of the $\left(\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} + \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}}\right)$ can be found in terms of the sixth, $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \psi_1}$, say. Differentiating (3.36) with respect to ψ_{ν} means

we can also write all $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}}$ in terms of $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_1 \partial \psi_1}$. Putting these into the equations of motion gives

$$\frac{1}{J_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \phi_1} J_{\mu} J_{\nu} \phi_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{J_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \psi_1} J_{\mu} J_{\nu} \psi_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$

$$\frac{1}{J_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_1 \partial \psi_1} J_{\mu} J_{\nu} \psi_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{J_1^2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \psi_1} J_{\mu} J_{\nu} \phi_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$
(3.40)

which are equivalent to

$$J_{\mu}J_{\nu}\phi_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$

$$J_{\mu}J_{\nu}\psi_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
 (3.41)

These equations (3.41) are the Universal Field equations which were written in determinantal form in (3.19). This should generalise to n fields in n+1 dimensions. The proof follows a similar pattern to give the result that, for a given n, all such Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in the Jacobians have same equations of motions. These equations are the Universal Field equations (3.22).

3.5 Summary

For the usual particle, Nambu-Goto string and brane with a Born-Infeld type Lagrangian, then a p-dimensional object in d-dimensional space-time has d-p-1 independent equations of motion which can be written in the general form (3.12). The number of equations depends on both the number of world-sheet coordinates and space-time coordinates. For the companion Lagrangian with n fields in d dimensions there are n independent equations of motion which can be written in the general form of sums of (3.22). The number of equations only depends on the number of fields, not the number of dimensions unlike the Born-Infeld type cases. However, the structure of both types of equation of motion are similar.

The companion equations are sums of $\binom{d}{n+1}$ Bateman equations or Universal Field equations. If d=n, the equations of motion are automatically zero. If d=n+1, the equations of motion are each just one Bateman or Universal Field equation. In fact, if d=n+1, then all Lagrangians which are homogeneous of weight one in the Jacobians have the same equations of motion. These equations are the Universal Field Equations. Such cases appear to be integrable.

Chapter 4

An Iterative Procedure

The structure of the companion Lagrangians and the appearance of Bateman and Universal Field Equations in the companion equations led to investigations into the extension of an iterative procedure known for Lagrangians depending on one field to Lagrangians depending on more than one field.

In this chapter, we explain how the iterative procedure works for Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in the first derivatives of a field ϕ . The penultimate iteration always gives a Universal Field Equation. We then explain how such a procedure can be extended to Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in the first derivatives of several fields, such as the companion Lagrangian. We concentrate mainly on the case of two fields in three dimensions, giving explicit examples of how the procedure works, and how the Universal Field Equations appear.

4.1 Universal Field Equations

Until now, generalisations of the Bateman equation have involved increasing the number of fields. We now consider generalisations where the number of dimensions are increased, without changing the number of fields. The resulting field equation is also known as a Universal Field Equation [28][29][59]. This generalised Bateman

equation in d dimensions for a field $\phi(x^{\mu})$ can be written as

$$\det \begin{vmatrix}
0 & \phi_{1} & \phi_{2} & \dots & \phi_{d} \\
\phi_{1} & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \dots & \phi_{1d} \\
\phi_{2} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \dots & \phi_{2d} \\
\vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\
\phi_{d} & \phi_{1d} & \phi_{2d} & \dots & \phi_{dd}
\end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(4.1)

This equation possesses general covariance like the Bateman equation does. It is also integrable just like the Bateman equation is. This was proved in [60] by linearising the Universal Field Equation using the Legendre transform. A large class of solutions to (4.1) can be written as solutions to the equation

$$x^{\mu}F_{\mu}(\phi) = c, \tag{4.2}$$

where F_{μ} (μ =1,2,..., d) are arbitrary functions of ϕ . c is a constant. This has the same form as the general solution to the Bateman Equation (1.28).

4.2 Iterative Lagrangians

These Universal Field Equations can be obtained by using an iterative procedure involving Lagrangians and equations of motion. Equations of motion for a theory involving one field ϕ can be found using the Euler operator

$$\mathcal{E} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} + \partial_{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi_{\mu\nu}} + \cdots$$
 (4.3)

This summation in the operator can be continued forever, but for the present discussion the expansion can be terminated after the third term because we will only be dealing with first and second derivatives. In general, the equation of motion for Lagrangian \mathcal{L} would be written $\mathcal{EL}=0$.

Now consider Lagrangians, \mathcal{L} , which only involve first derivatives, ϕ_{μ} , and are homogeneous functions of weight one in these derivatives. Since the Lagrangian does not depend explicitly on the field ϕ then \mathcal{EL} is a divergence. For such cases, it can be shown that $\mathcal{E}^2\mathcal{L} = 0$.

The iterative procedure is as follows

$$\mathcal{EL}$$
, \mathcal{ELELEL} , \mathcal{ELELEL} , ... (4.4)

It should be noted that applying operator \mathcal{E} reduces the function to one which is weight zero in the derivatives of ϕ , in the sense that

$$\sum_{\mu} \phi_{\mu} \frac{\partial(\mathcal{E}\mathcal{L})}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} + \sum_{\nu \geq \mu} \phi_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial(\mathcal{E}\mathcal{L})}{\partial \phi_{\mu\nu}} = 0. \tag{4.5}$$

By multiplying it by \mathcal{L} we return to a function which is weight one in the derivatives of ϕ , just like the original Lagrangian. After each iteration then only first and second derivatives are left. All third derivatives cancel with each other. For a Lagrangian in d dimensions, this iterative procedure terminates after d iterations. At this point everything vanishes identically. After d-1 iterations then we obtain the Universal Field Equation for a field in d dimensions (4.1). This is all independent of the Lagrangian we started with.

For any Lagrangian, $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(\phi_{\mu})$ which is homogeneous of weight one in the ϕ_{μ} , after d-1 iterations we obtain the Universal Field Equation. Even if the original Lagrangian possesses no symmetry we can reach an equation which is invariant under the group GL(d), despite the equation being highly non-linear. It is this which makes the Universal Field Equations universal, because they can be found from an infinite number of starting Lagrangians. There is a proof for this in [29].

The Universal Field Equations can be obtained from an infinite number of starting Lagrangians. Since these Lagrangians only depend on first derivatives of the field, and not on the field ϕ itself, this means the equation of motion is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} \right) = 0. \tag{4.6}$$

Since this is a divergence and there are an infinite number of Lagrangians \mathcal{L} , then there are an infinite number of conservation laws. There is one for each possible Lagrangian. This is one of the properties which first led to the idea these Universal Field Equations might be integrable.

4.3 Extension to Higher Dimensions

The main aim of this work was to try to find an iterative procedure for Lagrangians which involve more than one field. Most of this discussion will be for theories with two fields, ϕ and ψ , where the Lagrangian is homogeneous of weight one in the first order derivatives ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{μ} .

This process is not as simple as the iterative procedure \mathcal{ELELEL} for one field where we just multiply by the Lagrangian \mathcal{L} before re-applying the Euler operator \mathcal{E} .

From now on, \mathcal{E}_{ϕ} denotes the Euler operator with respect to field ϕ and \mathcal{E}_{ψ} denotes the Euler operator with respect to field ψ . If we just carry out the process $\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ then we now obtain third order derivatives and higher, unlike in the one field case where we only had first and second derivatives. As a result, there appears to be no simplification like in the one field case. As the iteration continues, the resulting expression becomes increasingly complicated and involves higher and higher orders of derivatives. Also, $\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ gives a function of weight zero in the derivatives of ϕ and weight one in derivatives of ψ . Multiplying by \mathcal{L} gives $\mathcal{L}\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$. This is a function of weight one in derivatives of ϕ but weight two in derivatives of ψ , which is not the same as the Lagrangian which is weight one in both derivatives of ϕ and ψ . This is also different to the one field case where multiplying by the Lagrangian always returned the object to a function of weight one in derivatives of ϕ_{μ} , which is the same as the starting Lagrangian.

To overcome these problems, instead of multiplying by \mathcal{L} each time, we multiply by a function f which depends on the Lagrangian in some way. f should depend on ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{μ} only, as \mathcal{L} does. Also, f should be a homogeneous function of weight one in ϕ_{μ} and weight zero in ψ_{μ} . This means that $f\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ is weight one in both ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{μ} , the same as the Lagrangian. Finally, f should be chosen so that there are no third order derivatives when the Euler operator is applied for the second time, $\mathcal{E}_{\phi}f\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$.

To find $f(\phi_{\mu}, \psi_{\mu})$ we need to find the conditions on f required to ensure that there are no terms involving third derivatives. Applying the first Euler operator, \mathcal{E}_{ϕ} , gives

$$\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} \right) = \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \phi_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{4.7}$$

Multiply this by an as yet unknown function f, which depends only on ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{μ} . Then apply the Euler operator, \mathcal{E}_{ϕ} , again.

$$\mathcal{E}_{\phi} f \mathcal{E}_{\phi} \mathcal{L} = \partial_{\rho} \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \phi_{\mu\nu} + f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu} \partial \phi_{\rho}} \phi_{\mu\nu} \right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu} + f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\rho} \partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \left(f \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \right).$$

$$(4.8)$$

Looking at the terms involving third order derivatives only then we find

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \phi_{\mu\nu\rho} + f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu} \partial \phi_{\rho}} \phi_{\mu\nu\rho} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho}
+ f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\rho} \partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \phi_{\mu\nu\rho} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho}
- f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu} \partial \phi_{\rho}} \phi_{\mu\nu\rho} - f \frac{\partial^{3} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu} \partial \psi_{\rho}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho}.$$
(4.9)

So, for all this to vanish we require

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu\rho} = 0. \tag{4.10}$$

In general, this will be satisfied if the function f satisfies the following condition:

$$\frac{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_{\mu}}}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_{\mu}}} = \frac{\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{1} \partial \phi_{1}}}{\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{1} \partial \psi_{1}}} \quad \text{for all } \mu.$$
 (4.11)

There is no summation over indices in this condition (4.11).

If we apply the Euler operator \mathcal{E}_{ψ} to $f\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ then we obtain the same condition (4.10).

Similarly, if we consider multiplying $\mathcal{E}_{\psi}\mathcal{L}$ by some function $g(\phi_{\mu}, \psi_{\nu})$ then g needs to satisfy

$$\frac{\frac{\partial g}{\partial \phi_{\mu}}}{\frac{\partial g}{\partial \psi_{\mu}}} = \frac{\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{1} \partial \psi_{1}}}{\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{1} \partial \psi_{1}}} \quad \text{for all } \mu, \tag{4.12}$$

so that $\mathcal{E}_{\psi}g\mathcal{E}_{\psi}\mathcal{L}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\phi}g\mathcal{E}_{\psi}\mathcal{L}$ only involve first and second derivatives.

4.4 Specific Examples

We now consider some specific Lagrangians, find the functions f which satisfy the conditions (4.11) and discuss the iterations. We will concentrate on two fields in three dimensions. In each case, f must satisfy the conditions

$$\frac{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_1}}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_1}} = \frac{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_2}}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_2}} = \frac{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi_3}}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial \psi_3}} = \frac{\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_1 \partial \phi_1}}{\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_1 \partial \phi_1}}.$$
 (4.13)

First we look at the companion Lagrangian with a square root

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{J_1^2 + J_2^2 + J_3^2},\tag{4.14}$$

where the J_i are the usual Jacobians. The required function f is

$$f = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\sqrt{\psi_1^2 + \psi_2^2 + \psi_3^2}}. (4.15)$$

Note that any function of this f will satisfy the condition (4.13). However, it makes sense to choose f to be weight one in ϕ_{μ} and weight zero in ψ_{μ} so that $f\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ is a function of weight one in derivatives of ϕ and in derivatives of ψ_{μ} , as stated earlier.

The iterative sequence is then

$$\mathcal{E}_{\phi} f \mathcal{E}_{\phi} \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{(\psi_1^2 + \psi_2^2 + \psi_3^2)^{3/2}} \det \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \psi_1 & \psi_2 & \psi_3 \\ \psi_1 & \psi_{11} & \psi_{12} & \psi_{13} \\ \psi_2 & \psi_{12} & \psi_{22} & \psi_{23} \\ \psi_3 & \psi_{13} & \psi_{23} & \psi_{33} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.16)

After two iterations we have some factor multiplied by the Universal Field Equation for field ψ in three dimensions. The expression is completely independent of ϕ and its derivatives. Similarly, if we make the valid choice for g

$$g = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\sqrt{\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2 + \phi_3^2}},\tag{4.17}$$

then

$$\mathcal{E}_{\psi}g\mathcal{E}_{\psi}\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{(\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2 + \phi_3^2)^{3/2}} \det \begin{vmatrix} 0 & \phi_1 & \phi_2 & \phi_3 \\ \phi_1 & \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} & \phi_{13} \\ \phi_2 & \phi_{12} & \phi_{22} & \phi_{23} \\ \phi_3 & \phi_{13} & \phi_{23} & \phi_{33} \end{vmatrix}. \tag{4.18}$$

This is some factor multiplied by the Universal Field Equation for field ϕ and is completely independent of ψ .

The following list of Lagrangians for two fields in three dimensions all behave similarly. Suitable functions f have been found for them all.

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{a_{ij}J_{i}J_{j}}, \qquad f = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\sqrt{2\epsilon_{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\epsilon_{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}a_{i_{2}j_{2}}a_{i_{3}j_{3}}\psi_{i_{1}}\psi_{j_{1}}}},
\mathcal{L} = \frac{a_{ij}J_{i}J_{j}}{c_{k}J_{k}}, \qquad f = \frac{c_{k}J_{k}}{\sqrt{\epsilon_{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\epsilon_{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}a_{i_{2}j_{2}}c_{i_{3}}c_{j_{3}}\psi_{i_{1}}\psi_{j_{1}}}},
\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(b_{j}J_{j}, c_{k}J_{k}), \qquad f = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\epsilon_{ijk}b_{i}c_{j}\psi_{k}}. \tag{4.19}$$

The a_{ij}, b_k, c_k are all constants and summation over indices is assumed. All indices run from 1 to 3. The first of these examples is the companion Lagrangian (4.14)

with a background metric. Setting $a_{11}, a_{22}, a_{33} = 1$ and all other $a_{ij} = 0$ we just have the normal companion Lagrangian. In all the cases above, the iterative sequence $\mathcal{E}_{\phi}f\mathcal{E}_{\phi}\mathcal{L}$ is always of the same form as (4.16). The determinant part, the Universal Field Equation, always appears and is multiplied by some factor. The factor depends on the starting Lagrangian. The whole expression always only involves derivatives of ψ and so is completely independent of derivatives of ϕ .

In some ways it is not surprising that the second iteration of these Lagrangians is the same, since the equations of motion of all these Lagrangians are equivalent. What is surprising is that the iteration only depends on the first and second derivatives of ψ and has no dependence on derivatives of ϕ at all. Similarly, $\mathcal{E}_{\psi}g\mathcal{E}_{\psi}\mathcal{L}$ only depends on derivatives of ϕ . The fields seem to completely decouple. Another important point is that the second iteration always involves the generalised Bateman equation (the Universal Field Equation). This is analogous to the one field case where after d-1 iterations we obtain the Universal Field Equation.

This can be generalised to higher dimensional cases where the number of fields is one less than the number of dimensions. Functions f can be found for Lagrangians of the same form as (4.19) but with the Jacobians redefined for d-1 fields in d dimensions. The f's have a similar structure to those in (4.19). It is hoped that this can be extended to n fields in d dimensions.

4.5 Summary

The iterative procedure for Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in derivatives of one field, ϕ_{μ} , where the (d-1)th iteration is the Universal Field Equation, has been generalised to more than one field.

Rather than multiplying each time by the Lagrangian, it is necessary to multiply by a function f which depends on the Lagrangian. For two fields in three dimensions, several examples of Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in ϕ_{μ} and ψ_{μ} have been given. In these cases we have found a suitable function f and shown that the second iteration always gives a Universal Field Equation.

As yet, the list of examples does not cover all Lagrangians which are weight one in the first derivatives of the fields. However, the list does involve a large class of such Lagrangians, including the companion Lagrangian.

Extension to d-1 fields in d dimensions is possible and functions, f, can

be found for a similar list of Lagrangians to those found for two fields in three dimensions. Extension to n fields in d dimensions still remains to be done. It is likely that iterations for these will result in Universal Field Equations appearing somewhere.

Chapter 5

A Special Property of a Family of Field Theories

In this chapter, we discuss a property of a family of field Lagrangians, not just companion Lagrangians. This property is that for these field theories, the Lagrangian vanishes or is a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion. The list of examples is given below. Basic background on most of the examples can be found in [19][32].

5.1 Klein-Gordon Field

The Klein-Gordon equation is a field equation for a scalar field $\phi(x^{\mu})$. Its Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2, \tag{5.1}$$

where m is the mass. The equation of motion is

$$(\Box + m^2)\phi = 0. (5.2)$$

This is the Klein-Gordon equation. To show the property that the Lagrangian is a divergence on the space of solutions then rewrite the Lagrangian (5.1) using partial integration as follows.

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} (\phi \partial^{\mu} \phi) - \frac{1}{2} \phi \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^{2} \phi^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \underbrace{\partial_{\mu} (\phi \partial^{\mu} \phi)}_{\text{divergence}} - \frac{1}{2} \phi (\underbrace{\Box \phi + m^{2} \phi}_{\text{e.o.m.}}). \tag{5.3}$$

When the equation of motion (e.o.m.) is satisfied the second term is zero, so the Lagrangian is a divergence.

5.2 The Dirac Equation

The Dirac equation is a first order equation for fermions with spin 1/2. The Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi - m\bar{\psi}\psi, \qquad (5.4)$$

where $\psi(x^{\mu})$ is a spinor and $\bar{\psi} = \psi^{\dagger} \gamma^{0}$ is its adjoint. The equations of motion are

$$(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}-m)\psi=0$$
 and $\bar{\psi}(i\gamma^{\mu}\overleftarrow{\partial_{\mu}}+m)=0.$ (5.5)

The first is the Dirac equation and the second is its Hermitian conjugate. It is very easy to see that the Lagrangian for Dirac field vanishes on the space of the solutions of the equations of motion since the Lagrangian is just

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(\underbrace{i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi - m\psi}). \tag{5.6}$$

5.3 Maxwell Theory

Maxwell Theory describes electromagnetism. It is a U(1) gauge theory. The Lagrangian for a free electromagnetic field is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu},\tag{5.7}$$

where $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ is the electromagnetic field strength tensor and A_{μ} is the gauge field. The equation of motion is

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{5.8}$$

Rewriting the Lagrangian (5.7) using the antisymmetry of $F_{\mu\nu}$ and partial integration we find

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} (\partial_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu}) F^{\mu\nu}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} A_{\nu} F^{\mu\nu}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} (A_{\nu} F^{\mu\nu}) + \frac{1}{2} A_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu}.$$
(5.9)

The last term is zero when the equations of motion are satisfied so the Lagrangian is a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion.

5.4 Self-Dual Gauge Fields

In general, the result does not hold for non-abelian gauge theories. However, in the special case of self-dual Yang-Mills the Lagrangian can be written as a divergence. The non-abelian field strength is

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]. \tag{5.10}$$

The self-duality condition is

$$F_{\mu\nu} = {}^*F_{\mu\nu}, \quad \text{where} \quad {}^*F_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\rho\sigma}, \quad (5.11)$$

so the self-dual Yang-Mills Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}) = -\frac{1}{8} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \text{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma}). \tag{5.12}$$

This can be rewritten as a total derivative,

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} [\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \text{Tr}(A_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} A_{\sigma} + \frac{2}{3} A_{\nu} A_{\rho} A_{\sigma})]. \tag{5.13}$$

It is the total derivative of the Chern-Simons term which can be studied as a Lagrangian in its own right [61]. Therefore, self-dual Yang-Mills has a Lagrangian which is a divergence. In the previous examples the Lagrangian is only a divergence when the equations of motion are satisfied. Here, it may at first seem like the equations of motion have not been considered. However, if the self-duality condition is satisfied then so are the equations of motion for Yang-Mills, so the condition the equations of motion are satisfied was taken account of in (5.12). For more on self-duality, see Chapter 6 on the Moyal-Nahm equations.

5.5 Gravity

The Lagrangian for gravity is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{-g}R,\tag{5.14}$$

where g is the determinant of the space-time metric and R is the Ricci scalar. If there is no matter in the theory, the equation of motion is

$$R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}R = 0, (5.15)$$

where $R^{\mu\nu}$ is the Ricci tensor. With matter, the right hand side of this would be the stress-energy tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ but since we have empty space-time this implies $R^{\mu\nu}=0$ and therefore R=0. Therefore, the Lagrangian for pure gravity vanishes on the space of solutions of the equations of motion.

5.6 Strings and Branes

The Lagrangian for strings and p-branes is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|}.$$
 (5.16)

 $X^{\mu}(\sigma^{i})$ ($\mu=0,1,\ldots,d-1$) are the d target space coordinates. σ^{i} ($i=0,1,\ldots,p$) are the p+1 world-volume coordinates. For string theory, set p=1. The equations of motion are

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma^i} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^i} \right)} \right) = 0. \tag{5.17}$$

It can be shown, via the theorem of false cofactors, that

$$\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}\right)} = \delta_{i}^{j} \mathcal{L}. \tag{5.18}$$

This is shown as follows [18]:

Let $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{L}$, so

$$L = \det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right|. \tag{5.19}$$

Also, let \hat{L}_{ij} be the cofactor, or signed minor, of the i-jth component in matrix of which L is the determinant. Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}\right)} = \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial \sqrt{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}\right)} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}}\right)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{k}} (\hat{L}_{kj} + \hat{L}_{jk})$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{k}} \hat{L}_{kj}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} L \delta_{ij}$$

$$= \delta_{ij} \mathcal{L}. \tag{5.20}$$

In the third line we can see that if i = j then we just get the determinant, L. But, if $i \neq j$ then this is same as finding the determinant of a matrix with two rows which are the same. The determinant of such a matrix is always zero. This is the theorem of false cofactors. It should be noted that the case i = j shows that the Lagrangian \mathcal{L} is homogeneous of degree one in the $\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^i}$ for each value of i.

This result and partial integration can be used to give

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{p+1} \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}}\right)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{p+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \left(X^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}}\right)} \right) - \frac{1}{p+1} X^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}}\right)}\right). \tag{5.21}$$

Therefore, it can now be seen that when the equations of motion are satisfied the Lagrangian is a divergence. It should be noted that this works for any power of the Lagrangian (5.16). For

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\det \left| \frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \frac{\partial X_{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{j}} \right| \right)^{N/2}, \tag{5.22}$$

where N is some number, then the Lagrangian can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{N(p+1)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \left(X^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \right)} \right) - \frac{1}{N(p+1)} X^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \left(\frac{\partial X^{\mu}}{\partial \sigma^{i}} \right)} \right), \tag{5.23}$$

so is again a divergence on the space of solutions for any power $\frac{N}{2}$. The important values of N are N=1 which is the case given and N=2, the Schild string (when p=1).

5.7 Companion Equations

This property is also true for the companion field theory for strings and branes which was described earlier. The Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^\mu} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_\mu} \right|},\tag{5.24}$$

where ϕ^i $(i=1,2,\ldots,n)$ are the fields and x^{μ} $(\mu=1,2,\ldots,d)$ are the spacetime coordinates. The equations of motion are

$$\partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i})} \right) = 0. \tag{5.25}$$

The Lagrangian is homogeneous of weight one in the first partial derivatives of $\phi^1 = \frac{\partial \phi^1}{\partial x^\mu}$. This means

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu} \phi^{1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^{1})}.$$
 (5.26)

By rewriting this using partial integration, the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu} \left(\phi^{1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^{1})} \right) - \phi^{1} \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{\mu} \phi^{1})} \right). \tag{5.27}$$

So, the companion Lagrangians are also a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion.

As in the string/brane example, this works the same for any power of the Lagrangian (5.24). In particular, the property holds for the companion Lagrangian either with or without a square root.

5.8 Supersymmetric Lagrangians: Chiral Superfields

The property also extends to some supersymmetric Lagrangians. Firstly, we consider a chiral superfield. Chiral superfields obey the condition $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi = 0$. A general chiral superfield in superspace $(x, \theta, \bar{\theta})$ has the form [62]

$$\Phi(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = A(x) + i\theta\sigma^{m}\bar{\theta}\partial_{m}A(x) + \frac{1}{4}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\Box A(x) + \sqrt{2}\theta\psi(x) - \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}\theta\theta\partial_{m}\psi(x)\sigma^{m}\bar{\theta} + \theta\theta F(x).$$
 (5.28)

Consider a Lagrangian involving only chiral superfields as below,

$$\mathcal{L} = \Phi_i^{\dagger} \Phi_i |_{\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}} + \frac{1}{2} m_{ij} (\Phi_i \Phi_j |_{\theta\theta} + \Phi_i^{\dagger} \Phi_j^{\dagger} |_{\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}})$$

$$= i \partial_m \bar{\psi}_i \bar{\sigma}^m \psi_i + A_i^* \Box A_i + F_i^* F_i + m_{ij} (A_i F_j - \frac{1}{2} \psi_i \psi_j + A_i^* F_j^* - \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi}_i \bar{\psi}_j),$$
(5.29)

where m_{ij} is symmetric with respect to indices i and j. The equations of motion for this Lagrangian are as follows:

$$F_i^* + m_{ij}A_j = 0,$$
 $\Box A_i^* + m_{ij}F_j = 0,$ $i\partial_m \bar{\psi}_i \bar{\sigma}^m - m_{ij}\psi_j = 0,$ $F_i + m_{ij}A_j^* = 0,$ $\Box A_i + m_{ij}F_j^* = 0,$ $i\bar{\sigma}^m \partial_m \psi_i + m_{ij}\bar{\psi}_j = 0.$ (5.30)

Rewriting the Lagrangian using partial integration, we find

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (i\partial_m \bar{\psi}_i \bar{\sigma}^m - m_{ij} \psi_j) \psi_i - \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi}_i (i\bar{\sigma}^m \partial_m \psi_i + m_{ij} \bar{\psi}_j)$$

$$+ A_i^* (\Box A_i + m_{ij} F_j^*) + (F_i^* + m_{ij} A_j) F_i + \frac{i}{2} \partial_m (\bar{\psi}_i \bar{\sigma}^m \psi_i).$$
 (5.31)

The first four terms will vanish when the equations of motion are satisfied and the last term is a divergence. A more general supersymmetric Lagrangian for chiral fields would involve the addition of the terms $\frac{1}{3}g_{ijk}\Phi_i\Phi_j\Phi_k$, $\lambda_i\Phi_i$ and their hermitian conjugates. However, if these are added then the Lagrangian is no longer a divergence when the equations of motion are satisfied.

5.9 Supersymmetric Lagrangians: Vector Superfields

Secondly, we consider vector supersymmetric Lagrangians. Vector superfields obey the condition $V = V^{\dagger}$. A general vector superfield takes the form [62]

$$V = C(x) + i\theta\chi(x) - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}(x) + \frac{i}{2}\theta\theta[M(x) + iN(x)] - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}[M(x) - iN(x)]$$
$$-\theta\sigma^{m}\bar{\theta}v_{m}(x) + i\theta\theta\bar{\theta}[\bar{\lambda}(x) + \frac{i}{2}\bar{\sigma}^{m}\partial_{m}\chi(x)] - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta[\lambda(x) + \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{m}\partial_{m}\bar{\chi}(x)]$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}[D(x) + \frac{1}{2}\Box C(x)]. \tag{5.32}$$

For a vector field, the Lagrangian can be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4} (W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha}|_{\theta\theta} + \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}|_{\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}}) + m^2 V^2, \tag{5.33}$$

where $W_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}\bar{D}D_{\alpha}V$ and $\bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{1}{4}DD\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}V$. For the massless case, we can use the Wess-Zumino gauge in which the component fields C, χ, M and N are all zero. The Lagrangian is then just

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}D^2 - \frac{1}{4}v^{mn}v_{mn} - i\lambda\sigma^m\partial_m\bar{\lambda},\tag{5.34}$$

where $v_{mn} = \partial_m v_n - \partial_n v_m$. The equations of motion are

$$D = 0, -i\sigma^m \partial_m \bar{\lambda} = 0, i\partial_m \lambda \sigma^m = 0, \partial^m v_{mn} = 0. (5.35)$$

Rewriting the Lagrangian, we find

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}D^2 + \frac{1}{2}v^n\partial^m v_{mn} - i\lambda\sigma^m\partial_m\bar{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\partial^m(v^nv_{mn}). \tag{5.36}$$

So, for the massless vector superfield, when the equations of motion are satisfied the Lagrangian is a divergence. For the massive case we cannot use the Wess-Zumino gauge. However, the action can be rewritten as [63]

$$S[V] = \frac{1}{8} \int V D^{\alpha} \bar{D}^{2} D_{\alpha} V \, d^{4}x d^{4}\theta + m^{2} \int V^{2} \, d^{4}x d^{4}\theta, \qquad (5.37)$$

and the equations of motion are

$$\frac{1}{8}D^{\alpha}\bar{D}^{2}D_{\alpha}V + m^{2}V = 0. {(5.38)}$$

From this it can be see that the Lagrangian is a divergence when the equations of motion are satisfied.

5.10 Discussion 67

5.10 Discussion

The Lagrangians of the following field theories have been shown to be a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion of that theory: Klein-Gordon, Dirac, Maxwell, Self-Dual Yang-Mills, gravity, string theory, brane theory, companion field theory, supersymmetric chiral and vector superfields. The theories can be massive or massless.

This property suggests there is a 'pseudo-topological' nature to the Lagrangians. Lagrangians which are divergences with no other constraints are fully topological, such as gravity in two dimensions [30]. Here the Lagrangian is only a divergence when the equations of motion are satisfied. However, it should be noted that there are many important properties of fully topological theories which do not appear in these 'pseudo-topological' theories.

Kastrup [52] considered what solutions of equations of motion implied $\mathcal{L}=0$ for various theories including field theories. He had also noticed that $\mathcal{L}=0$ for all solutions to the Dirac equation and pure gravity, but did not notice that for some other field theories \mathcal{L} is a divergence. His interpretation was that solutions with $\mathcal{L}=0$ were bifurcations or phase transitions of the theory

This is best seen in statistical mechanics where $\mathcal{L} = F$ with F defined as the density of the free energy. $\mathcal{L} = 0$ marks the transition between ordered and unordered phases in the theory. In the examples we have given, when the Lagrangian is zero or a divergence we have a non-interacting theory but as soon as other terms are added this condition is lost and we have interactions. In Yang-Mills theory we the Lagrangian is a divergence only for self-dual gauge fields. $\mathcal{L} = 0$ seems to mark special solutions to a theory (e.g. solutions with no interactions, no matter, self-duality).

It should be noted that each theory can be written as a Lagrangian which vanishes on the space of solutions, since all Lagrangians which are equivalent up to a divergence give the same equation of motion.

Chapter 6

The Moyal-Nahm Equations

6.1 Introduction

The main aim of this chapter is to find solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four and eight dimensions. The Nahm equations give solutions for a particular set of self-dual Yang-Mills fields. When the commutators are replaced by Moyal brackets these equations become the Moyal-Nahm equations.

Firstly, we discuss self-duality and the Nahm equations in four dimensions. This is then extended to higher dimensions. We look at why you would want to this and how to go about it. In particular, we focus on Nahm equations in eight dimensions.

Next, we look at Moyal brackets and star products. These objects are defined and some of their properties are given. Motivation is given as to why you might want to consider them. Wigner functions, a type of phase space distribution function, are also discussed since the solutions will be in terms of generalised Wigner functions.

Finally, we try to solve the four dimensional Moyal-Nahm equations and the eight dimensional Nahm and Moyal-Nahm equations. We use an ansatz based on generalised Wigner functions and sets of matrices which obey the algebra generated by the Nahm equations. Finding sets of such matrices was an important part of this work.

This chapter is based on work in [3].

6.2 Nahm Equations

6.2.1 Self-Dual Gauge Fields in Four Dimensions

Non-abelian gauge fields can be described by Yang-Mills field theory. For the moment, consider gauge fields in four dimensional Euclidean space-time with coordinates x^{μ} , ($\mu = 0, ..., 3$). If the theory only involves the gauge fields themselves, $A^{\mu}(x^{\nu})$ say, this is pure Yang-Mills. The field strength is defined as

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]. \tag{6.1}$$

The Lagrangian for pure Yang-Mills is

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}(F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}). \tag{6.2}$$

The equation of motion is

$$D_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = 0, \tag{6.3}$$

where D_{μ} is the covariant derivative. The self-duality condition in four dimensions is

$$F_{\mu\nu} = {}^*F_{\mu\nu}, \quad \text{where} \quad {}^*F_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\rho\sigma}.$$
 (6.4).

i.e. the field strength is equal to the dual field strength ${}^*F_{\mu\nu}$. This results in the following three equations:

$$F_{01} = F_{23}, F_{02} = F_{31}, F_{03} = F_{12}.$$
 (6.5)

If the self-duality equation (6.4) is satisfied then the equations of motion for the Yang-Mills theory (6.3) are automatically satisfied via the Bianchi identity,

$$D_{\rho}F_{\mu\nu} + D_{\mu}F_{\nu\rho} + D_{\nu}F_{\rho\mu} = 0. \tag{6.6}$$

This is important, since it means all solutions of the self-dual equations are solutions of the full Yang-Mills theory. It is known that the Yang-Mills equations are not completely solvable, however the self-dual Yang-Mills equations are, in general, solvable [64]. Instanton and BPS¹ monopole solutions both satisfy the self-dual Yang-Mills equations.

¹where BPS stands for Bogomol'nyi-Prasad-Somerfield.

6.2.2 Nahm Equations

Instantons are solutions of the self-dual Yang-Mills equations where the action is finite. All instanton solutions can be generated by the ADHM construction of Atiyah, Drinfield, Hitchin and Manin [65]. This construction reduces the problem to a set of non-linear algebraic equations. Nahm generalised the ADHM construction to monopole solutions which have finite energy and are invariant under shifts in Euclidean time but do not have finite action. This generalisation resulted in what are known as the Nahm equations [33].

The Nahm equations can also be constructed in the following way. Consider the self-dual Yang-Mills equations (6.4) where the gauge fields A^{μ} depend on only one space time coordinate, $x^0 = t$ say. Also, fix the gauge so that $A^0 = 0$. This is the most convenient gauge to use and makes life easier later. The self-dual equations are now

$$\frac{\partial A^{1}}{\partial t} = [A^{2}, A^{3}],$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{2}}{\partial t} = [A^{3}, A^{1}],$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{3}}{\partial t} = [A^{1}, A^{2}].$$
(6.7)

These are the Nahm equations.

Given that $A^0 = 0$ and the other gauge fields A^j (j = 1, 2, 3) only depend on t, the Yang-Mills Lagrangian is now [66]

$$\mathcal{L} = \text{Tr}\left(\left(\frac{\partial A^j}{\partial t}\right)^2 + \frac{1}{2}[A^j, A^k][A^j, A^k]\right). \tag{6.8}$$

The equations of motion are

$$\frac{\partial^2 A^j}{\partial t^2} + [A^k, [A^k, A^j]] = 0, (6.9)$$

and the energy is

$$E = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\frac{\partial A^{j}}{\partial t}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2}[A^{j}, A^{k}][A^{j}, A^{k}]\right). \tag{6.10}$$

It is easy to see that solutions of the Nahm equations (6.7) satisfy the equations of motion, simply by differentiating.

The Lagrangian (6.8) can also be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = \text{Tr}\left(\left(\frac{\partial A^{1}}{\partial t} - [A^{2}, A^{3}]\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial A^{2}}{\partial t} - [A^{3}, A^{1}]\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial A^{3}}{\partial t} - [A^{1}, A^{2}]\right)^{2} + 2\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(A^{1}A^{2}A^{3} - A^{1}A^{3}A^{2})\right).$$
(6.11)

This is just sums of squares of the Nahm equations plus a divergence. Since squares of real objects are always positive then the Lagrangian must be greater or equal to the divergence. This is the Bogomol'nyi bound [67]. Therefore, when the Nahm equations are satisfied the Bogomol'nyi bound is satisfied. The Nahm equations are just Bogomol'nyi equations. Also, by squaring the Nahm equations it can be seen that the energy (6.10) for solutions to the Nahm equations is zero.

6.2.3 Self-Duality in Higher Dimensions

As well as considering gauge fields in four dimensions, a lot of work has been done in extending such theories to higher dimensions [64][68][69][70]. The aim is usually to consider the theory in a higher dimension, where there may be new and interesting physics, and then dimensionally reduce the theory via compactification to one in (preferably) four large dimensions. Recently, there has been an interest in Yang-Mills in higher dimensions because of the appearance of Yang-Mills actions in M(atrix) Theory [36][38]. M(atrix) theory is based on the conjecture that M-theory can be described by the $N \to \infty$ limit of supersymmetric quantum mechanics.

Corrigan et al. [68] were particularly interested in finding analogues of the self-dual Yang-Mills equation in higher dimensions. They wanted to find a linear relationship for the field strength, solutions to which automatically satisfied the Yang-Mills equations in D > 4 dimensions via the Bianchi identity.

$$\frac{1}{2}T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\rho\sigma} = \lambda F_{\mu\nu}.\tag{6.12}$$

 $T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is a totally antisymmetric tensor and λ is a constant. Therefore, this linear relationship implies the Yang-Mills equations are satisfied. For D=4 the choice for $T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is essentially unique and is

$$\frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\rho\sigma} = \lambda F_{\mu\nu}.\tag{6.13}$$

 $\lambda=1$ gives the usual self-dual equations. $\lambda=-1$ will give the anti-self-dual equations. All other values of λ require $F_{\mu\nu}=0$. The most interesting, and closest

analogy to the D=4 case is that for D=8. One possible linear relationship is

$$F_{0a} = \frac{1}{2} c_{abc} F_{bc}, (6.14)$$

where c_{abc} are the octonionic structure constants (see section 6.2.5). This is in complete analogy with the self-dual equations in four dimensions, which may be written as

$$F_{0a} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{abc} F_{bc}, \tag{6.15}$$

where ϵ_{abc} are the quaternionic structure constants. Equations (6.14) are the self-dual equations in eight dimensions that we will be considering. They can be written as

$$F_{10} + F_{27} + F_{63} + F_{54} = 0, F_{20} + F_{71} + F_{53} + F_{46} = 0,$$

$$F_{30} + F_{16} + F_{25} + F_{47} = 0, F_{40} + F_{15} + F_{62} + F_{73} = 0,$$

$$F_{50} + F_{41} + F_{32} + F_{67} = 0, F_{60} + F_{31} + F_{24} + F_{75} = 0,$$

$$F_{70} + F_{12} + F_{34} + F_{56} = 0.$$

$$(6.16)$$

6.2.4 Nahm Equations in Eight Dimensions

The Nahm equations in eight dimensions can be derived in much the same way as in four dimensions. Again, the gauge field A^{μ} is assumed to only depend on one space-time coordinate, $x^0 = t$, and the gauge choice $A^0 = 0$ is made. Putting these constraints into the self-dual equations (6.16) results in the following set of equations:

$$\frac{\partial A^{1}}{\partial t} - [A^{2}, A^{7}] - [A^{6}, A^{3}] - [A^{5}, A^{4}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{2}}{\partial t} - [A^{7}, A^{1}] - [A^{5}, A^{3}] - [A^{4}, A^{6}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{3}}{\partial t} - [A^{1}, A^{6}] - [A^{2}, A^{5}] - [A^{4}, A^{7}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{4}}{\partial t} - [A^{1}, A^{5}] - [A^{6}, A^{2}] - [A^{7}, A^{3}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{5}}{\partial t} - [A^{4}, A^{1}] - [A^{3}, A^{2}] - [A^{6}, A^{7}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{6}}{\partial t} - [A^{3}, A^{1}] - [A^{2}, A^{4}] - [A^{7}, A^{5}] = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial A^{7}}{\partial t} - [A^{1}, A^{2}] - [A^{3}, A^{4}] - [A^{5}, A^{6}] = 0.$$
(6.17)

In terms of the octonionic structure constants they are

$$\frac{\partial A^i}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{2} c_{ijk} [A^j, A^k]. \tag{6.18}$$

These are the Nahm equations in eight dimensional Euclidean space-time.

6.2.5 Octonions

The octonions \mathcal{O} are one of the four division algebras [69]. The other three are the real, complex and quaternionic numbers $(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{H})$. The octonions are non-associative and non-commutative, so they do not have a matrix representation. However, they are alternative and so for any $x, y \in \mathcal{O}$, so

$$x(y^2) - (xy)y = 0$$
 and $(x^2)y - x(xy) = 0.$ (6.19)

The basis for the octonions is $\{1, e_a\}$ where a = 1, ..., 7. Any octonion q can be written as $q = q_0 + q_a e_a$ where all q_μ are real. In this work, only the imaginary octonions $(e_a, a = 1, ..., 7)$ will be considered. The octonions obey the multiplication rule

$$e_i e_j = -\delta_{ij} + c_{ijk} e_k, (6.20)$$

where c_{ijk} are the octonionic structure constants. The structure constants will be taken to be

$$c_{127} = c_{631} = c_{541} = c_{532} = c_{246} = c_{347} = c_{567} = 1. (6.21)$$

These are totally antisymmetric. All other c_{ijk} are zero. There are many examples of the octonions appearing in physics, especially when the groups SO(8), SO(7) and G_2 are discussed [68][69][71][72].

6.3 Moyal Brackets and Star Products

6.3.1 The Star Product

The star product of two functions f(x,p) and g(x,p) which are functions of a 2-dimensional phase space (x,p) can be written in several ways [41].

$$f \star g = \exp\left[i\lambda \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial p'} - \frac{\partial}{\partial p}\frac{\partial}{\partial x'}\right)\right] f(x,p)g(x',p')|_{x=x',p=p'},\tag{6.22}$$

or

$$f \star g = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(i\lambda)^s}{s!} \sum_{t=0}^{s} (-1)^t \binom{s}{t} [\partial_x^{s-t} \partial_p^t f] [\partial_x^t \partial_p^{s-t} g], \tag{6.23}$$

or

$$f \star g = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 \lambda^2} \int e^{\frac{i}{\lambda} \det \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ x & x' & x'' \\ p & p' & p'' \end{vmatrix}} f(x', p') g(x'', p'') dx' dx'' dp' dp''.$$
 (6.24)

 λ is a parameter. The last definition can be checked against the others by using the Fourier transforms of f and g. The star product can easily be generalised for functions on a 2N-dimensional phase space (x_j, p_j) as follows:

$$f \star g = f \exp \left[i\lambda \left(\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_j} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial p_j} - \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial p_j} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_j} \right) \right] g, \tag{6.25}$$

or

$$f \star g = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(i\lambda)^s}{s!} \sum_{t=0}^{s} (-1)^t {s \choose t} [\partial_{x_j}^{s-t} \partial_{p_j}^t f] [\partial_{x_j}^t \partial_{p_j}^{s-t} g]. \tag{6.26}$$

The star product is associative, so for any three functions f, g, h then

$$f \star (g \star h) = (f \star g) \star h, \tag{6.27}$$

but it is non-commutative, so in general

$$f \star g \neq g \star f. \tag{6.28}$$

The star product can be expanded as a power series in the parameter λ .

$$f \star g = fg + i\lambda \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x} \right) + O(\lambda^2). \tag{6.29}$$

It should be noted that the first term in the expansion is ordinary multiplication of f and g. Therefore, in the limit $\lambda \to 0$ the star product tends to ordinary multiplication. The second term in the expansion is the Poisson bracket which will be discussed later.

Properties

As well as being associative and non-commutative, the star product has the property

$$\int f \star g \, \mathrm{d}p \mathrm{d}x = \int f g \, \mathrm{d}p \mathrm{d}x. \tag{6.30}$$

This is because all the terms in the star product are divergences except the first term fg. Assuming the functions f and g and their derivatives vanish at infinity these divergences are just integrated out. This property is most easily seen from definition (6.24) of the star product.

A useful result due to Ian Strachan [41] which will be used in later calculations is that

$$e^{py} f(x) \star e^{py'} g(x) = e^{p(y+y')} f(x+y') g(x-y). \tag{6.31}$$

6.3.2 Moyal Brackets

The Moyal Bracket was first introduced by Moyal over 50 years ago [43]. It is the imaginary part of the star product. The Moyal Bracket of two functions f and g is therefore

$$\{f,g\}_{MB} = \frac{1}{2i}(f \star g - g \star f).$$
 (6.32)

The real part of the star product is known as Baker's cosine bracket (named after George Baker, not Linda Baker),

$$((f,g)) = \frac{1}{2}(f \star g + g \star f). \tag{6.33}$$

The Moyal Bracket is a one parameter deformation of the Poisson Bracket which is given by

$$\{f,g\}_{PB} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x}.$$
 (6.34)

The deformation parameter is the λ in the star product. It is a Lie algebra, like the Poisson bracket is, and so satisfies the Jacobi Identity just like matrix commutators and Poisson Brackets do.

$$\{\{f,g\}_{MB},h\}_{MB} + \{\{g,h\}_{MB},f\}_{MB} + \{\{h,f\}_{MB},g\}_{MB} = 0.$$
 (6.35)

Arveson showed that the Moyal bracket is the only function of iterated Poisson brackets which can satisfy the Jacobi identity [73]. The Moyal Bracket is the unique one parameter associative deformation of the Poisson bracket and in the limit $\lambda \to 0$ then $\frac{1}{\lambda} \{f,g\}_{MB}$ becomes the Poisson bracket.

6.3.3 Wigner Functions

One set of objects commonly used with Moyal Brackets are Wigner functions. These are phase space distribution functions and were invented by Wigner and Szilard [74]. Wigner used them as a kind of probability distribution function constructed from wave functions when he was studying quantum corrections in statistical mechanics. Since then, Wigner functions have been used in dynamical systems (especially collision theory), quantum optics, quantum chemistry and M-theory [75][76][77][46]. The time independent Wigner function on phase space (x, p) is [78]

$$f(x,p) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int \psi^*(x - \frac{\hbar}{2}y)e^{-iyp}\psi(x + \frac{\hbar}{2}y) \,dy.$$
 (6.36)

 ψ is an eigenfunction of the Schrödinger equation, $H\psi=E\psi$. As it stands, the Wigner function is not a probability distribution function since it can sometimes be negative. However, integrating it over one of the phase space coordinates, either x or p, results in an object which is always positive and can be considered to be probability distribution function. It is non-local, an important property for some of its uses. The Wigner function can be generalised [41]. For example, one could consider

$$f_{ab}(x,p) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int \psi_a^*(x - \frac{\hbar}{2}y) e^{-iyp} \psi_b(x + \frac{\hbar}{2}y) \, dy, \tag{6.37}$$

where the wavefunctions ψ_a are orthogonal,

$$\int \psi_a^*(x)\psi_b(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \delta_{ab}. \tag{6.38}$$

It will be a generalised Wigner function which is used to solve the Moyal-Nahm equations.

6.3.4 Uses and Motivation

Quantisation

The original context for the use of Moyal Brackets was in a formulation of Quantum Mechanics. This is known as the Weyl-Wigner-Moyal formalism which uses Wigner distribution functions. Moyal wrote an evolution equation for these phase space distribution functions f(x, p, t),

$$\frac{\partial f(x, p, t)}{\partial t} = \{H, f\}_{MB}. \tag{6.39}$$

H is the Hamiltonian. As is well known, when writing classical objects as quantum mechanical operators the ordering matters since the operators do not commute. In the Weyl-Wigner-Moyal formalism, Weyl ordering is used as the way of choosing the order the operators are written down. Baker showed that the Moyal evolution equation and Wigner distribution functions imply quantum mechanics [79].

Essentially, the Moyal quantisation process involves replacing all multiplication with star products and using Wigner distribution functions instead of the usual wavefunctions. Wherever there is usually a commutator there is now a Moyal bracket. The deformation parameter is \hbar . This is quite a natural way to quantise since in the classical limit ($\hbar \to 0$) the Moyal bracket reduces to the Poisson bracket as expected.

Bayen et al. stated that the Moyal bracket is the only deformation of the Poisson bracket which can be used like this [80], while Arveson showed that the Moyal Bracket is the only such object which can be used in the phase-space formulation of Quantum Mechanics [73].

M-Theory

Moyal brackets can not only be used in quantisation but they can also appear in association with M-Theory [46][81]. M-Theory is the 11-dimensional theory which has SUGRA as its low energy effective description. It also reduces to the five string theories in various limits. Banks et al. have constructed a M(atrix) Theory which is a matrix model which describes this theory when the large N limit is taken [36]. N is the size of the matrices. A typical action [38], in this case for matrix string theory, is

$$S = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int \text{Tr}\left((D_i X^{\mu})^2 + \theta^T \mathcal{D}\theta + g_s^2 F_{ij}^2 - \frac{1}{g_s^2} [X^{\mu}, X^{\nu}]^2 + \frac{1}{g_s} \theta^T \gamma_{\mu} [X^{\mu}, \theta] \right) d\sigma d\tau.$$
(6.40)

This is the action for $\mathcal{N}=8$ supersymmetric U(N) Yang-Mills theory. The X^{μ} are $N\times N$ Hermitian matrices and are the scalar fields. The θ_L^{α} , θ_R^{α} are eight fermionic fields. The σ and τ are the world-sheet coordinates. To recover M-Theory we need to take the large N limit. The Moyal brackets give a way of approaching this limit. If we rewrite the theory by replacing all multiplication by star products, then the commutators are replaced by Moyal brackets, fermionic terms involve the cosine bracket and the matrices X^{μ} are now functions over a phase space, (α, β)

say. The deformation parameter is $\lambda = \frac{2\pi}{N}$. The action is now

$$S_{MB} = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int \left((D_i X^{\mu})^2 + ((\theta^T, \not D\theta)) + g_s^2 \text{Tr} F_{ij}^2 \right)$$

$$- \left(\frac{1}{\lambda g_s} \{ X^{\mu}, X^{\nu} \}_{MB} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{g_s} ((\theta^T \gamma_{\mu}, \frac{1}{\lambda} \{ X^{\mu}, \theta \}_{MB})) \right) d\sigma d\tau d\alpha d\beta.$$
(6.41)

We now need to take the large N limit. As the value N (taken to be an odd integer else this does not work) is increased the Moyal bracket becomes an infinite sum of copies of the commutator $[X^{\mu}, X^{\nu}]$. In the large N limit this is the Poisson bracket. So, when we take the $N \to \infty$ limit of the Moyal action then we get an action involving Poisson brackets,

$$S_{PB} = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int \left((D_i X^{\mu})^2 + \theta^T D\theta + g_s^2 \text{Tr} F_{ij}^2 \right) d\sigma d\tau d\alpha d\beta.$$

$$-\frac{1}{g_s^2} \{ X^{\mu}, X^{\nu} \}_{PB}^2 + \frac{1}{g_s} \theta^T \gamma_{\mu} \{ X^{\mu}, \theta \}_{PB} \right) d\sigma d\tau d\alpha d\beta.$$
(6.42)

Moyal brackets just give a different way of considering the large N limit.

String Theory and Non-commutative Geometry

One of the most recent uses of the star product was in the work of Seiberg and Witten [44] (and all the spin-off papers from this work) which showed the equivalence between ordinary gauge fields and non-commutative ones. They considered non-commutative geometry with coordinates x^i which have a non-zero commutator given by

$$[x^i, x^j] = i\theta^{ij}. (6.43)$$

In this case, the deformation parameter of the star product is taken to be the antisymmetric matrix θ which has components θ^{ij} . The star product is

$$\star = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j}. (6.44)$$

They showed that ordinary Yang-Mills and non-commutative Yang-Mills are equivalent for open strings in a constant, non-zero B-field and that it is possible to go from one theory to the other simply via a change of variables.

6.4 4D Moyal-Nahm Equations and Solutions

The aim of this section is to find solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four dimensional Euclidean space-time.

The Moyal-Nahm equations are simply the usual Nahm equations (6.7) where the commutators have been replaced by Moyal brackets and the matrices $A^k(t)$ are replaced by functions $X^k(t, x, p)$. This $X^k(k=0,1,2,3)$ is a field in four dimensions which depends upon only one coordinate, in this case t, and phase space (x, p). The Moyal Nahm equations in four dimensions are

$$\frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial t} = \{X^{2}, X^{3}\}_{MB},$$

$$\frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial t} = \{X^{3}, X^{1}\}_{MB},$$

$$\frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial t} = \{X^{1}, X^{2}\}_{MB}.$$
(6.45)

To solve this set of equations we use the ansatz

$$X^{i} = \frac{1}{i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{j}^{\dagger}(x - y, t) \epsilon^{ijk} \psi_{k}(x + y, t) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} \, \mathrm{d}y, \tag{6.46}$$

which takes the form of a generalised Wigner function. The e^{ijk} is the usual totally antisymmetric e symbol (with convention $e^{123} = +1$). The $\psi(x,t)$ are three component wavefunctions. These wavefunctions were chosen to be of the form

$$\psi(x,t) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1(x,t) \\ \psi_2(x,t) \\ \psi_3(x,t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} f_1(t)\phi_1(x) \\ f_2(t)\phi_2(x) \\ f_3(t)\phi_3(x) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.47}$$

where the $\phi_i(x)$ are orthonormal wavefunctions. The star product of X^j and X^k is calculated as follows:

$$X^{j} \star X^{k} = -\iint \psi_{i}^{\dagger}(x - y, t) e^{jil} \psi_{l}(x + y, t) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} \star \psi_{m}^{\dagger}(x - y', t) e^{kmn} \psi_{n}(x + y', t) e^{2\pi i p y'/\lambda} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}y'.$$

Using (6.31)

$$= -\iint \psi_i^{\dagger}(x - y + y', t) \epsilon^{jil} \psi_l(x + y + y', t) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda}$$
$$\psi_m^{\dagger}(x - y' - y, t) \epsilon^{kmn} \psi_n(x + y' - y, t) e^{2\pi i p y'/\lambda} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}y',$$

and via a change of variables

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int \psi_m^{\dagger}(x - y, t) \epsilon^{kmn} Z_{nj}(t) \epsilon^{jil} \psi_l(x + y, t) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int \phi_m^{\dagger}(x - y) f_{ms}^{\dagger}(t) \epsilon^{ksn} Z_{nj}(t) \epsilon^{jir} f_{rl}(t) \phi_l(x + y) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} \, \mathrm{d}y,$$
(6.48)

where orthogonality of the wavefunctions $\phi_k(x)$ is assumed to be of the form

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_j^{\dagger}(x)\phi_k(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \delta_{jk},\tag{6.49}$$

and

$$Z(t) = ff^{\dagger}$$
 where $f = \begin{pmatrix} f_1(t) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & f_2(t) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & f_3(t) \end{pmatrix}$. (6.50)

The partial derivative $\frac{\partial X^i}{\partial t}$, a much simpler calculation, can be written as

$$\frac{\partial X^{i}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{i} \int \phi_{j}^{\dagger}(x - y) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (f^{\dagger}(t)\epsilon^{ijk}f(t)) \phi_{k}(x + y) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} dy.$$
 (6.51)

By putting these into the Moyal-Nahm equations we obtain three matrix equations of the form

$$\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(f^{\dagger}(t)\epsilon^{1}f(t)) = \frac{-1}{4i}(f^{\dagger}(t)\epsilon^{3}Z(t)\epsilon^{2}f(t) - f^{\dagger}(t)\epsilon^{2}Z(t)\epsilon^{3}f(t)), \tag{6.52}$$

where e^i is a 3×3 matrix with jk^{th} entry e^{ijk} . Equating the entries in the matrices gives differential equations of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(f_2^* f_3) = -\frac{1}{4} |f_1|^2 (f_2^* f_3),
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(f_3^* f_2) = -\frac{1}{4} |f_1|^2 (f_3^* f_2),$$
(6.53)

and cyclic combinations of these. These result in the following set of three differential equations:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(|f_2|^2|f_3|^2) = -\frac{1}{2}|f_1|^2|f_2|^2|f_3|^2,
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(|f_3|^2|f_1|^2) = -\frac{1}{2}|f_1|^2|f_2|^2|f_3|^2,
\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(|f_1|^2|f_2|^2) = -\frac{1}{2}|f_1|^2|f_2|^2|f_3|^2.$$
(6.54)

Note that for each of the above, the right hand side of the equations is always the same. It is these equations which need to be solved to find the solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations.

6.4.1 Simplest Solution

The simplest solution is to set all the f_i equal to each other. This gives the solution

$$|f_1|^2 = |f_2|^2 = |f_3|^2 = \frac{4}{t+K},$$
 (6.55)

so that

$$f_1(t) = f_2(t) = f_3(t) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{t+K}},$$
 (6.56)

where K is an arbitrary constant. Since each component of the field X^i is dependent on $|f_i|^2$ then the t dependence in this example is a simple pole.

6.4.2 Another Simple Solution

By setting two of the f_i equal to each other then a solution in terms of the hyperbolic functions can be found.

$$|f_1|^2 = |f_2|^2 = 4q \coth(qt + K),$$

 $|f_3|^2 = 8q \operatorname{csch}(2qt + 2K),$ (6.57)

so that

$$f_1(t) = f_2(t) = 2\sqrt{q \coth(qt+K)},$$

 $f_3(t) = 2\sqrt{2q \operatorname{csch}(2qt+2K)},$ (6.58)

where K and q are both real constants.

6.4.3 General Solution

However, ideally we want a general solution to these equations. In this case the solutions are written in terms of elliptic functions sn, cn and dn. The most general solution was found to be

$$|f_1|^2 = 4qk^2 \frac{\operatorname{sn}(qt+c)\operatorname{cn}(qt+c)}{\operatorname{dn}(qt+c)},$$

$$|f_2|^2 = -4q \frac{\operatorname{cn}(qt+c)\operatorname{dn}(qt+c)}{\operatorname{sn}(qt+c)},$$

$$|f_3|^2 = 4q \frac{\operatorname{dn}(qt+c)\operatorname{sn}(qt+c)}{\operatorname{cn}(qt+c)}.$$
(6.59)

q, c and k are all constants but may have to be carefully chosen in order to ensure that all the $|f_i|^2$ are positive. k depends on the elliptic functions.

6.5 8D Nahm Equations and Solutions

The work is now extended from four dimensions to eight dimensions. The Nahm equations in eight dimensions are

$$\frac{\partial A_i}{\partial \tau} = \frac{1}{2} c_{ijk} [A_j, A_k], \tag{6.60}$$

where the c_{ijk} are the structure constants which define the multiplication of the imaginary octonions. The equations are written out in full in (6.17). These equations are self-dual Yang-Mills equations in 8-dimensional Euclidean space where the gauge fields depend on only one coordinate, $x^0 = \tau$ (the zeroth coordinate), and the gauge is fixed so that $A^0 = 0$.

We now attempt to find solutions to the 8D Nahm equations. In particular, we are looking for matrix solutions. To do this we must first find sets of matrices which satisfy the algebra generated by the Nahm equations, *i.e.* sets of matrices, B_i (i = 1, ..., 7), which satisfy

$$mB_i = \frac{1}{2}c_{ijk}[B_j, B_k],$$
 (6.61)

where m is some number.

6.5.1 Solution 1

It is known that a solution to the 8D Nahm equations is

$$A_i = -\frac{1}{6\tau}e_i,\tag{6.62}$$

where the e_i form the basis of the imaginary octonions. Since the octonions are non-associative, there are no matrix representations of the octonion algebra. It would therefore be reasonable to question whether a matrix solution to the 8D Nahm equations exists at all.

However, the octonionic structure constants can be used to find a matrix solution of the Nahm equations. Seven matrices, $B_i (i = 1, ..., 7)$, were constructed where the j-kth component of the ith matrix is the octonionic structure constant c_{ijk} . i.e.

$$[B_i]_{jk} = c_{ijk}. (6.63)$$

These matrices, B_i , are written out in full in Appendix D. The matrices satisfy the equations

$$3B_i = \frac{1}{2}c_{ijk}[B_j, B_k], \tag{6.64}$$

which are basically the Nahm equations without the partial derivative. The possible τ dependence of solutions based on these matrices was explored. In this case, the most general solution to the Nahm equations to be found was one involving a simple pole.

$$A_i = -\frac{1}{3\tau}B_i. \tag{6.65}$$

6.5.2 Solution 2

Solutions with a more general τ dependence can be found using a different set of matrices. Consider a set of matrices which are a direct sum of representations of the SU(2) algebra. These matrices are not reducible. The example we use is below, although obviously there are other possible constructions.

$$B_{1} = -i \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B_{2} = -i \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b\sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & ic\sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B_{3} = -i \begin{pmatrix} a\sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & ic\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B_{4} = -i \begin{pmatrix} ia\sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B_{5} = -i \begin{pmatrix} a\sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -ib\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B_{6} = -i \begin{pmatrix} ia\sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B_{7} = -i \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & ib\sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c\sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}. \qquad (6.66)$$

Each matrix is a direct sum of three sigma matrices. The sigma matrices are the usual 2×2 matrices

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.67)

The set involves three arbitrary parameters (a, b, c). None of these parameters can be set to zero if the solution is to stay irreducible. These seven matrices satisfy the equations (6.61), just like the last set of matrices, but this time m = 2. The aim is now to find solutions to the Nahm equations with non trivial τ dependence

(setting a=1, b=1, c=1). The most obvious way of doing this is to multiply each matrix by a function of τ , $f_i(\tau)$. So

$$A_i = f_i(\tau)B_i \qquad i = 1, \dots, 7.$$
 (6.68)

However, this ansatz is too restrictive and the only solution to be found is

$$A_i = -\frac{1}{2\tau}B_i \qquad i = 1, \dots, 7,$$
 (6.69)

as before. However, a more general ansatz gives a different result. This time multiply each matrix B_i by a diagonal 6×6 matrix C_i given by

$$C_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{i}(\tau)\mathbb{I}_{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & g_{i}(\tau)\mathbb{I}_{2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & h_{i}(\tau)\mathbb{I}_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.70)

This amounts to multiplying each σ matrix entry in each matrix B_i by a different τ dependent function. It is easiest to consider each row of σ matrices separately.

First, we shall look at the top row of sigma matrices and put in the τ dependence by multiplying each matrix by a function $f_i(\tau)$. Putting these 2×2 matrices into the Nahm equations gives the following set of differential equations,

$$\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial \tau} = 2f_1 f_7 + 2f_5 f_3 - 2f_4 f_6,
\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_7, \qquad \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_5, \qquad \frac{\partial f_4}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_6,
\frac{\partial f_5}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_3, \qquad \frac{\partial f_6}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_4, \qquad \frac{\partial f_7}{\partial \tau} = 2f_2 f_1,$$
(6.71)

and the following constraints,

$$f_7 f_3 = f_1 f_5, \qquad f_6 f_7 = f_1 f_4, \qquad f_3 f_4 = f_5 f_6.$$
 (6.72)

Note that all of the differential equations involve f_2 , but none of the constraints do.

These can be solved in terms of elliptic functions. It was found that

$$f_{6} = K_{1}f_{3} = K_{1}M_{1}f_{1} = \frac{1}{2}K_{1}M_{1}Q_{1}\operatorname{sn}(q_{1}\tau + d_{1}),$$

$$f_{4} = K_{1}f_{5} = K_{1}M_{1}f_{7} = \frac{-i}{2}K_{1}M_{1}Q_{1}\operatorname{cn}(q_{1}\tau + d_{1}),$$

$$f_{2} = \frac{i}{2}q_{1}\operatorname{dn}(q_{1}\tau + d_{1}),$$

$$(6.73)$$

where cn, sn, dn are elliptic functions and K_1 , M_1 , q_1 , Q_1 , d_1 are all constants. The elliptic functions are related to each other by a parameter k_1 as follows

$$\operatorname{sn}^{2}(x) + \operatorname{cn}^{2}(x) = 1,$$

 $\operatorname{dn}^{2}(x) + k_{1}^{2}\operatorname{sn}^{2}(x) = 1,$ (6.74)

where $k_1 = \frac{Q_1}{q_1} \sqrt{1 + M_1^2 (1 - K_1^2)}$.

Similar results are obtained when the second and third rows of sigma matrices in the B_i are considered and the functions g_i and h_i have a similar form to the f_i . Putting all of this together, the following set of matrices satisfy Nahm's equations in eight dimensions.

$$A_{1} = -i \begin{pmatrix} f_{1}\sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{1}\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h_{1}\sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{2} = -i \begin{pmatrix} f_{2}\sigma_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{2}\sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & ih_{2}\sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{3} = -i \begin{pmatrix} f_{3}\sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{3}\sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & ih_{3}\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{4} = -i \begin{pmatrix} if_{4}\sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{4}\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h_{4}\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{5} = -i \begin{pmatrix} f_{5}\sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -ig_{5}\sigma_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h_{5}\sigma_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{6} = -i \begin{pmatrix} if_{6}\sigma_{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & g_{6}\sigma_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h_{6}\sigma_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{7} = -i \begin{pmatrix} f_{7}\sigma_{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & ig_{7}\sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & h_{7}\sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.75)$$

where f_i are given in (6.73) the other τ dependent functions are given by

$$g_{5} = K_{2}g_{4} = K_{2}M_{2}g_{1} = \frac{1}{2}K_{2}M_{2}Q_{2}\operatorname{sn}(q_{2}\tau + d_{2}),$$

$$g_{7} = K_{2}g_{2} = K_{2}M_{2}g_{3} = \frac{-i}{2}K_{2}M_{2}Q_{2}\operatorname{cn}(q_{2}\tau + d_{2}),$$

$$g_{6} = \frac{i}{2}q_{2}\operatorname{dn}(q_{2}\tau + d_{2}),$$

$$(6.76)$$

$$h_{2} = K_{3}h_{7} = K_{3}M_{3}h_{1} = \frac{1}{2}K_{3}M_{3}Q_{3}\operatorname{sn}(q_{3}\tau + d_{3}),$$

$$h_{3} = K_{3}h_{6} = K_{3}M_{3}h_{4} = \frac{-i}{2}K_{3}M_{3}Q_{3}\operatorname{cn}(q_{3}\tau + d_{3}),$$

$$h_{5} = \frac{i}{2}q_{3}\operatorname{dn}(q_{3}\tau + d_{3}).$$

$$(6.77)$$

The matrices used here are not the only solutions which can constructed using direct sums of representations of SU(2). The sigma matrices in each row can be replaced by representations of SU(2) of any dimension. Also, the matrix B_i does not have to be a direct sum of three objects, it could be a sum of any number of two or more objects. For example, B_i which are 4×4 matrices can be found by omitting the last two rows and columns of the B_i used above.

6.6 8D Moyal-Nahm Equations and Solutions

The Moyal-Nahm equations in eight dimensions are:

$$\frac{\partial X^{1}}{\partial t} = \{X^{2}, X^{7}\}_{MB} + \{X^{6}, X^{3}\}_{MB} + \{X^{5}, X^{4}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{2}}{\partial t} = \{X^{7}, X^{1}\}_{MB} + \{X^{5}, X^{3}\}_{MB} + \{X^{4}, X^{6}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{3}}{\partial t} = \{X^{1}, X^{6}\}_{MB} + \{X^{2}, X^{5}\}_{MB} + \{X^{4}, X^{7}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{4}}{\partial t} = \{X^{1}, X^{5}\}_{MB} + \{X^{6}, X^{2}\}_{MB} + \{X^{7}, X^{3}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{5}}{\partial t} = \{X^{4}, X^{1}\}_{MB} + \{X^{3}, X^{2}\}_{MB} + \{X^{6}, X^{7}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{6}}{\partial t} = \{X^{3}, X^{1}\}_{MB} + \{X^{2}, X^{4}\}_{MB} + \{X^{7}, X^{5}\}_{MB},
\frac{\partial X^{7}}{\partial t} = \{X^{1}, X^{2}\}_{MB} + \{X^{3}, X^{4}\}_{MB} + \{X^{5}, X^{6}\}_{MB}.$$
(6.78)

Again, they were obtained from the Nahm equations by replacing the commutators with Moyal Brackets and the matrices A_i with functions X^i . An ansatz based on the generalised Wigner function, similar to the one used for the 4D Moyal-Nahm equations, is used. It is

$$X_i = i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi^{\dagger}(x - y, \tau) B_i \psi(x + y, \tau) e^{2\pi i p y/\lambda} dy, \qquad (6.79)$$

where $\psi(x,t)$ are six component wave functions of the form

$$\psi_j = f_j(\tau)\phi_j(x), \quad j \text{ not summed},$$
 (6.80)

and B_i are 6×6 matrices. Again, the $\phi_j(x)$ are orthonormal.

6.6.1 Sigma Solution

In the first solution, the matrices, B_i , are the direct sums of sigma matrices as given in (6.66) but with parameters a, b, c = 1. There is no loss of generality when doing

this since these parameters can be considered to be contained in the τ dependent functions $f_i(\tau)$. As before, this ansatz was put into the Moyal-Nahm equations. The differential equations for the functions $f_i(t)$ were found to of the form

$$\frac{\partial |f_1|^2}{\partial \tau} = -|f_1|^2 |f_2|^2, \qquad \frac{\partial (f_1^* f_2)}{\partial \tau} = -\frac{1}{2} (|f_1|^2 + |f_2|^2) f_1^* f_2,
\frac{\partial |f_2|^2}{\partial \tau} = -|f_1|^2 |f_2|^2, \qquad \frac{\partial (f_1 f_2^*)}{\partial \tau} = -\frac{1}{2} (|f_1|^2 + |f_2|^2) f_1 f_2^*.$$
(6.81)

The differential equations are similar for f_3 , f_4 and f_5 , f_6 .

They can be solved to give the following solution.

$$\left\{ f_{1}, f_{2}, f_{3}, f_{4}, f_{5}, f_{6} \right\} = \left\{ \frac{2\sqrt{K_{1}}e^{i\theta_{1}}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-K_{1}\tau}}}, \frac{2\sqrt{K_{1}}e^{i\theta_{2}}}{\sqrt{e^{K_{1}\tau} - 1}}, \frac{2\sqrt{K_{2}}e^{i\theta_{3}}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-K_{2}\tau}}}, \frac{2\sqrt{K_{2}}e^{i\theta_{4}}}{\sqrt{e^{K_{2}\tau} - 1}}, \frac{2\sqrt{K_{3}}e^{i\theta_{5}}}{\sqrt{1 - e^{-K_{3}\tau}}}, \frac{2\sqrt{K_{3}}e^{i\theta_{6}}}{\sqrt{e^{K_{3}\tau} - 1}} \right\}.$$
(6.82)

All K_i and θ_j are real constants. This solution can be generalised to solutions with B_i matrices which are direct sums of any number of, but at least two, sigma matrices.

6.6.2 Epsilon Solution

Another solution can be found using the three dimensional representation of SU(2), which involves the completely antisymmetric matrices ϵ_{ijk} . This time, the matrices B_i are the direct sums of two epsilon matrices. For our example, we used

$$B_{1} = -\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{2} = -\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{3} = -\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{4} = -\begin{pmatrix} i\epsilon_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_{3} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B_{5} = -\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & i\epsilon_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{6} = -\begin{pmatrix} i\epsilon_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{7} = -\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & i\epsilon_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (6.83)$$

where the jk^{th} entry of the matrix ϵ_i is given by the totally antisymmetric tensor ϵ_{ijk} . i.e.

$$\epsilon_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \epsilon_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \epsilon_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (6.84)$$

Putting these B_i matrices into the ansatz we now solve the differential equations for the functions $f_i(\tau)$ obtained from the Moyal-Nahm equations. These are of the

same form as the ones obtained from the 4D Moyal-Nahm equations when solved using ϵ matrices (6.53). The τ dependent functions $f_i(\tau)$ are therefore same form as the solution (6.59). The solutions are

$$|f_{1}|^{2} = 4qk^{2} \frac{\operatorname{sn}(q\tau + c)\operatorname{cn}(q\tau + c)}{\operatorname{dn}(q\tau + c)}, |f_{4}|^{2} = 4QK^{2} \frac{\operatorname{sn}(Q\tau + b)\operatorname{cn}(Q\tau + b)}{\operatorname{dn}(Q\tau + b)},$$

$$|f_{2}|^{2} = -4q \frac{\operatorname{cn}(q\tau + c)\operatorname{dn}(q\tau + c)}{\operatorname{sn}(q\tau + c)}, |f_{5}|^{2} = -4Q \frac{\operatorname{cn}(Q\tau + b)\operatorname{dn}(Q\tau + b)}{\operatorname{sn}(Q\tau + b)},$$

$$|f_{3}|^{2} = 4q \frac{\operatorname{dn}(q\tau + c)\operatorname{sn}(q\tau + c)}{\operatorname{cn}(q\tau + c)}, |f_{6}|^{2} = 4Q \frac{\operatorname{dn}(Q\tau + b)\operatorname{sn}(Q\tau + b)}{\operatorname{cn}(Q\tau + b)}.$$
(6.85)

q, Q, c, b, k, K are all constants. k, K are the parameters which depend on the elliptic functions. These solutions can be extended for direct sums of more than two ϵ_i matrices. For a direct sum of n ϵ_i matrices, the B_i will be $3n \times 3n$ matrices and $\psi(x,\tau)$ will be 3n component wavefunctions.

It would also be possible to find solutions using other direct sums of representations of SU(2) for the B_i in the ansatz.

6.6.3 Octonion Solution

The same method can be used to find solutions based on the seven matrices constructed using the octonionic structure constants. The same ansatz (6.79) is used as before but this time the matrices B_i are (6.63) and the $\psi(x,\tau)$ are seven component wavefunctions. Putting the ansatz into the Moyal Nahm equations gives differential equations for seven functions f_i . However, the only solution to be found for these equations was

$$f_i = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau}},\tag{6.86}$$

so the whole function X^i has a simple pole solution. The only way of obtaining other solutions is if several of the f_i are set to zero.

6.7 Summary

In this chapter we have discussed the Moyal-Nahm equations and their solutions. These equations come from the Nahm equations, the solutions to which form a set of solutions to self-dual Yang-Mills. The concept of self-duality has mostly been studied in four dimensions but has been extended to higher dimensions.

The Nahm equations in eight dimensions have been given. The motivation for studying eight dimensions is the existence of eight dimensional Yang-Mills in matrix string theory and the fact that eight dimensional self-duality closely resembles self-duality in four dimensions. This last part is most clearly seen when the self-duality condition is written in terms of quaternionic structure constants in four dimensions and octonionic structure constants in eight dimensions.

To obtain the Moyal-Nahm equations we simply replaced the matrices in the Nahm equations with functions and all multiplication with star products. The commutators in the Nahm equations became Moyal Brackets. The Moyal Bracket is a one parameter deformation of the Poisson bracket and was first introduced in the context of writing down a formulation for quantum mechanics.

Solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four and eight dimensions were found using an ansatz based on the generalised Wigner function. Such Wigner functions often appear in theories involving Moyal Brackets. Solutions to the eight dimensional Nahm equations were also found.

During the construction of solutions, sets of matrices which satisfy the algebra created by the 8D Nahm equations when the partial derivatives are removed were obtained. One of these sets of matrices was constructed using the octonionic structure constants. The octonions seem to feature strongly in the eight dimensional case.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

The question asked at the beginning of this work was is there a field theory associated with strings and branes analogous to the Klein-Gordon theory for particles? The conjecture of a field theory with the companion Lagrangian and its equations of motion seems to be a good candidate for such a theory. Although it may require some alterations, in principle this proposal is a good one and deserves further investigation.

The companion Lagrangian is a better idea than the early proposals of Hosotani and those of Morris since it reduces to the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian in the particle case which these other ideas do not. In the particle case they have many fields, not one. The companion Lagrangian has the same number of fields as the number of world-sheet coordinates for the object it is describing. Like the later work of Hosotani and Nakayama, the companion Lagrangian is further motivated by the Hamilton-Jacobi formalism for strings and branes.

One of the remaining questions is whether to take the Lagrangian with or without a square root. While the non-square root case is a direct analogue of the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian, the square root case has many things in its favour. It possesses general covariance, the equations of motion have either been shown to be integrable or show signs they will be, and the Lagrangian is a direct continuation of the Dirac-Born-Infeld Lagrangian but for more base space coordinates than target space coordinates. However, recently it has been shown that the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangians with and without square roots are the same if the Lagrangian is set to be a non-zero constant.

These two types of Lagrangians can also be linked together by an equivalence theorem which states that the equations of motion for a companion Lagrangian

7. Conclusion 91

without a square root when subjected to some constraints are the same as the equations of motion for a companion Lagrangian with a square root in one less dimension but with the same number of fields. A proof has been given for this. However, these constraints have not been fully understood so further work needs to be done, either to understand these constraints or to find other ones which lead to the same equivalence. The constraints that have been found may turn out to be sufficient but not necessary. They could be a special case of some more general constraints. It would also be interesting to find out if any other types of Lagrangians have a similar equivalence theorem. The proof in the appendix depends on the use of an epsilon identity which could be useful in other calculations and proofs.

Both the Born-Infeld Lagrangian and companion Lagrangian can be written as the square root of Jacobians in quadratic form. This persists even when a background metric is added. The equations of motion for these theories have a similar structure and both involve Jacobians. However, the number of independent equations of motion differs in each case. For the Born-Infeld case the number of equations depends on the number of target space coordinates and base space coordinates. For the companion equations this number depends only on the number of fields, not the number of dimensions. The companion equations are sums of Bateman equations or Universal Field equations. This makes the theory integrable or at least makes it easy to find a large class of solutions. More work could be done in this area to find more general solutions for theories with any number of fields or dimensions.

The inclusion of electromagnetism in the theory was investigated briefly and four possible ways of incorporating a gauge field were given. It is not clear which proposal is the right one, although the proposals which maintain covariance are the strongest candidates since this is a desirable property in our theory.

The fact that the companion Lagrangian with a square root is a homogeneous function of weight one in the Jacobians made it possible to extend the iterative procedure for Lagrangians with one field to Lagrangians with two or more fields. At present this has only really been done for two fields in three dimensions. The most interesting aspect of this was that after two iterations the expression only depends on one of the fields in the form of a generalised Bateman equation. It is completely independent of the other field. The extension to d-1 fields in d dimensions is relatively straightforward. However, further work could be done to investigate more d=3, n=2 cases. Also, extension to more fields in higher dimensions should

be done so that more than two iterations can be considered.

One of the properties of the companion Lagrangian is that it is a divergence on the space of solutions of its equations of motion. In fact, this is also true for other theories. Lagrangians for a large family of field theories are a divergence or vanish on the space of solutions of their equations of motion. This property means such theories could be called 'pseudo-topological' because a Lagrangian which is a divergence without any additional constraints is fully topological. The full meaning and implication of this property is, as yet, unknown. Therefore, further investigation is required.

Overall, an important and interesting question concerning a field theory associated with strings and branes has been discussed and solutions to its equations of motion have been found. Although the ideas may require some modification, they give a good basis for further investigation. The study of the companion Lagrangian and its equations of motion has also led to other observations which are relevant to other Lagrangians too. This includes the iterative procedure work which covers many Lagrangians which are homogeneous functions of weight one in the Jacobians, not just those Lagrangians with the structure of the companion Lagrangian. It also includes the property that all free field theory Lagrangians are a divergence on the space of solutions of the equations of motion, of which the companion Lagrangian is just one example. There is scope for a lot more research into this subject.

The last part of this thesis was a search for solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations. It was found that solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations do exist.

Solutions to the 8D Nahm equations and 4D and 8D Moyal-Nahm equations have been found, although the list given is by no means exhaustive. The solutions are constructed from generalised Wigner functions. The dependence on the coordinate t or τ is often based on a simple pole or elliptic functions.

The solutions in four dimensions are useful because this is the number of dimensions we like to think we live in. The solutions in eight dimensions may turn out to be useful in the context of M(atrix) theory which has a Yang-Mills action which involves eight bosonic fields, X^{μ} .

As well as the solutions, sets of matrices which satisfy the algebra generated by the eight dimensional Nahm equations have been found. One set is based on the octonionic structure constants. The other set is based on representations of SU(2). The matrices are a direct sum of any number of representations of SU(2).

7. Conclusion 93

Any representation can be used. These sets of matrices may be useful elsewhere, possibly in other areas which are related to the octonions. There may be other matrices which obey the algebra.

With the increase in interest in non-commutative gauge fields and replacing multiplication with star products in many theories, these results could turn out to be useful in the future. This work shows that by putting star products into self-dual Yang-Mills, solutions can be found and a way to construct an ansatz for such theories has been given. A similar ansatz, involving Wigner functions, could be used to find solutions to other theories involving Moyal Brackets.

Further research could be done to find more solutions to the Moyal-Nahm equations in four, eight, and maybe other dimensions, as well as finding solutions to other theories containing star products and Moyal brackets.

Appendix A

Proof for the Equivalence Theorem

The proof in this appendix is based on [4].

A.1 Theorem

The equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian, without a square root, with n fields, ϕ^i , in d space-time dimensions (x^{μ}) ,

$$\mathcal{L} = \det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|, \qquad \mu = 1, 2, \dots, d, \tag{A.1}$$

subject to the constraints

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}^{i}} \phi_{\mu\nu}^{i} = 0 \qquad i \text{ not summed, } \mu \text{ is summed,}$$
 (A.2)

and the Lagrangian vanishing, are the same as the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian with a square root with n fields but d-1 space-time dimensions, *i.e.* in one dimension less,

$$\mathcal{L}' = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|}, \qquad \mu = 1, 2, \dots, d - 1.$$
 (A.3)

A.2 Conventions and Notation

The *n* fields are ϕ^i where $i=1,\ldots,n$. They depend on the *d* space-time coordinates x^{μ} , where $\mu=1,\ldots,d$. Partial derivatives are denoted by

$$\frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \phi^i_{\mu}, \qquad \frac{\partial^2 \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu} \partial x^{\nu}} = \phi^i_{\mu\nu}. \tag{A.4}$$

There is summation over indices unless otherwise stated.

Totally antisymmetric tensors $\epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_d}$ are used throughout the proof with the convention $\epsilon_{12...d}=+1$. When indices have an arrow above them then they represent several indices. They can be thought of as vectors with several components. $\vec{\mu}, \vec{\nu}, \vec{\rho}, \vec{\sigma}$ each have (n-1) components. For example, $\vec{\mu}$ denotes $\{\mu_2, \mu_3, \ldots, \mu_n\}$. $\vec{\tau}, \vec{\kappa}$ each have (d-n) components. For example, $\vec{\kappa}$ denotes $\{\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots, \kappa_{d-n}\}$. $\vec{\kappa}'$ denotes $\{\kappa_2, \kappa_3, \ldots, \kappa_{d-n}\}$ and $\vec{\kappa}''$ denotes $\{\kappa_3, \ldots, \kappa_{d-n}\}$. For the product of (n-1) fields we use the notation $\Phi_{\vec{\nu}} = \phi_{\nu_2}^2 \phi_{\nu_3}^3 \ldots \phi_{\nu_n}^n$. Also, r = d-n.

A.3 Useful Epsilon Identity

A useful identity for the antisymmetric epsilon tensors, which will be used throughout the proof, is

$$\epsilon_{\mu\nu_2\nu_3...\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\rho_2...\rho_d} = \epsilon_{\rho_1\nu_2\nu_3...\nu_d}\epsilon_{\mu\rho_2...\rho_d} + \epsilon_{\rho_2\nu_2\nu_3...\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\mu\rho_3...\rho_d} + \dots$$

$$\dots + \epsilon_{\rho_d\nu_2\nu_3...\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\rho_2...\rho_{d-1}\mu}. \tag{A.5}$$

It amounts to swapping the index μ from the first epsilon with each index from the second epsilon. For a more involved explanation of this identity, see Appendix C.

A.4 Equations of motion

Consider the Lagrangian for n fields ϕ^i in d space-time dimensions x^{μ} which does not involve a square root,

$$\mathcal{L} = \det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^\mu} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_\mu} \right|. \tag{A.6}$$

The equations of motion for this Lagrangian are

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i_{\nu} \partial \phi^j_{\nu}} \phi^j_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{A.7}$$

These determinantal Lagrangians can be written as the sum of squares of Jacobians. The Jacobians will be denoted as

$$J_{\vec{\kappa}} = J_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2 \dots \kappa_{d-n}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2 \dots \kappa_{d-n} \nu_1 \nu_2 \dots \nu_n} \phi_{\nu_1}^1 \phi_{\nu_2}^2 \dots \phi_{\nu_n}^n. \tag{A.8}$$

For the square root case the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}' = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^{\mu}} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_{\mu}} \right|} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{(d-n)!} J_{\vec{\kappa}} J_{\vec{\kappa}}}.$$
 (A.9)

The equations of motion for this can be written as

$$J_{\mu \vec{\kappa}'} J_{\nu \vec{\kappa}'} \phi^i_{\mu \nu} = 0. \tag{A.10}$$

The calculation for obtaining these equations of motion is given in Appendix B. For n fields in d-1 dimensions, the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian with a square root can be written as

$$J_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}''}J_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''}\phi^i_{\alpha\beta} = 0. (A.11)$$

This is the expression we will be looking for.

A.5 The Constraints

The equations of motion for the non-square root case will be subject to the following constraints.

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i_{\mu}} \phi^i_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{A.12}$$

There is no summation over the index i, but there is over index μ . Also, we set $\mathcal{L} = 0$.

The idea is to reduce the number of dimensions from d to d-1. The constraints (A.12) can be used to eliminate all second derivatives of the fields which involve a partial derivative with respect to x^d , the dth dimension. i.e. From the constraints

$$\phi_{d\beta}^{i} = -\frac{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{i}}}{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{d}^{i}}} \phi_{\alpha\beta}^{i}, \qquad \phi_{dd}^{i} = \frac{\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{i}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\beta}^{i}}}{\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{d}^{i}}\right)^{2}} \phi_{\alpha\beta}^{i}. \tag{A.13}$$

Again, there is no summation over i but there is over $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \dots (d-1)$. Putting these constraints into the equations of motion (A.7) we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{d}^{j}}\right)^{2}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{d}^{j}}\right)^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{i} \partial \phi_{\beta}^{j}} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{d}^{j}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\beta}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{i} \partial \phi_{d}^{j}} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\beta}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j} \partial \phi_{d}^{j}} \right] + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\beta}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}^{j} \partial \phi_{d}^{j}} \phi_{\alpha\beta}^{j} = 0.$$
(A.14)

The equations of motion no longer involve any second derivatives with respect to x^d . Note that the indices $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \dots, (d-1)$ throughout this proof.

A.6 The Proof

For the moment we shall consider the equation of motion with respect to field $\phi^1 = \phi$ and we are only looking at the component which involves the terms $\phi_{\alpha\beta}$. The other components will work in the same way. Writing the Lagrangian without a square root in terms of Jacobians then we have

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{(d-n)!} J_{\vec{\kappa}} J_{\vec{\kappa}}
= \frac{1}{(d-n)!} \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}} \epsilon_{\rho\vec{\kappa}\vec{\rho}} \phi_{\nu} \phi_{\rho} \Phi_{\vec{\nu}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}}
= \frac{1}{(d-n)!} \phi_{\nu} \phi_{\rho} B_{\nu\rho} \quad \text{where} \quad B_{\nu\rho} = \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}} \epsilon_{\rho\vec{\kappa}\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\nu}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}}, \tag{A.15}$$

using the notation defined in section A.2. The first and second partial derivatives of the Lagrangian can therefore be written as

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = \frac{2}{(d-n)!} \phi_{\nu} B_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} = \frac{2}{(d-n)!} B_{\mu\nu}. \tag{A.16}$$

The numerator of the coefficient of $\phi_{\alpha\beta}$ in (A.14) becomes

$$[B_{\mu d}(B_{\nu d}B_{\alpha\beta} - B_{\nu\beta}B_{\alpha d}) + B_{\mu\alpha}(B_{\nu\beta}B_{dd} - B_{\nu d}B_{\beta d})]\phi_{\mu}\phi_{\nu}. \tag{A.17}$$

Now,

$$B_{\nu d}B_{\alpha\beta} - B_{\nu\beta}B_{\alpha d} = \left[\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\beta\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} - \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\beta\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\right]\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\left[\epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\beta\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} - \epsilon_{\beta\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{d\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\right]\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}. \tag{A.18}$$

Using the epsilon identity (A.5) to move the index β around in the first two epsilons in the square bracket then

$$\epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\beta\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} = \epsilon_{\beta\vec{\kappa}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{d\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{d\beta\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{d\kappa_{2}\beta...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{2}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + ... + \epsilon_{d\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{r-1}\beta\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{r}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\rho\nu_{3}...\nu_{n}}\epsilon_{\nu_{2}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\nu_{2}\beta...\nu_{n}}\epsilon_{\nu_{3}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} + ... + \epsilon_{d\vec{\kappa}\nu_{2}...\nu_{n-1}\beta}\epsilon_{\nu_{n}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}.$$

$$(A.19)$$

The first term on the right hand side is just the other term in expression (A.18) so this will cancel. The last n-1 terms will all vanish when put into (A.18) due to symmetry conditions. This is because in the second epsilon, $\epsilon_{\nu_i \bar{\tau} \bar{\sigma}}$, ν_i and σ_i are antisymmetric, but in (A.18) ν_i and σ_i are symmetric due to the $\Phi_{\bar{\nu}}\Phi_{\bar{\sigma}}$ term, so these last n-1 terms vanish. This only leaves the middle terms. By swapping the

labels κ_1 and κ_i and using antisymmetry of the epsilons to permute the κ_i with other indices we have

$$\epsilon_{\nu\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}...\beta...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{i}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} = \epsilon_{\nu\kappa_{i}...\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\kappa_{i}\kappa_{2}...\beta...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\nu\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{i}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{i}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}.$$
(A.20)

There are r = d - n of these terms. Therefore,

$$B_{\nu d}B_{\alpha\beta} - B_{\nu\beta}B_{\alpha d} = r\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}. \tag{A.21}$$

The epsilon identity (A.5) can be used again to swap subscript κ_1 about in the first two epsilons in the expression above

$$\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}} = \epsilon_{\nu\alpha\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}} + \epsilon_{\nu\tau_{1}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\kappa_{1}\tau_{2}...\tau_{r}\vec{\rho}} + ... + \epsilon_{\nu\tau_{r}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\tau_{1}...\tau_{r-1}\kappa_{1}\vec{\rho}}$$

$$+ \epsilon_{\nu\rho_{2}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\kappa_{1}\rho_{3}...\rho_{n}} + ... + \epsilon_{\nu\rho_{n}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\rho_{2}...\rho_{n-1}\kappa_{1}}.$$

$$(A.22)$$

The last n-1 terms will vanish when put into (A.21) due to symmetry considerations of the indices μ_i and ρ_i . By relabelling indices and using the antisymmetric property of the epsilons the middle terms become

$$\epsilon_{\nu\tau_{i}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\tau_{1}...\kappa_{1}...\tau_{r}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} = \epsilon_{\nu\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}...\kappa_{r}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\tau_{1}...\tau_{i}...\tau_{r}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\tau_{i}\tau_{1}...\kappa_{1}...\tau_{r}\vec{\sigma}}$$

$$= -\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}.$$
(A.23)

Since there are r of these terms we can write

$$\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}} = (\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} - r\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}})\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}$$

$$\Rightarrow (1+r)\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}} = \epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}. \tag{A.24}$$

which gives

$$B_{\nu d}B_{\alpha\beta} - B_{\nu\beta}B_{\alpha d} = \frac{r}{r+1}B_{\kappa\kappa}[\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}]. \tag{A.25}$$

Substituting this into the expression (A.17) we find

$$B_{\tau\tau} [B_{\mu d} \epsilon_{\nu \alpha \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{d\beta \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}} + B_{\mu \alpha} \epsilon_{\nu d\vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{\beta d\vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}}] \Phi_{\vec{\mu}} \Phi_{\vec{\nu}} \phi_{\mu} \phi_{\nu}$$

$$= B_{\tau\tau} [\epsilon_{\mu \vec{\tau} \vec{\rho}} \epsilon_{d\vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu \alpha \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{d\beta \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}} - \epsilon_{\mu \vec{\tau} \vec{\rho}} \epsilon_{\alpha \vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu d\vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{d\beta \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}}] \Phi_{\vec{\mu}} \Phi_{\vec{\nu}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\sigma}} \phi_{\mu} \phi_{\nu}$$

$$= B_{\tau\tau} [\epsilon_{\mu \vec{\tau} \vec{\rho}} \epsilon_{d\beta \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}} (\epsilon_{d\vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu \alpha \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}} - \epsilon_{\alpha \vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu d\vec{\kappa}' \vec{\mu}})] \Phi_{\vec{\mu}} \Phi_{\vec{\nu}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\sigma}} \phi_{\mu} \phi_{\nu}. \tag{A.26}$$

Now, using (A.5) to move subscript d,

$$\epsilon_{d\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}} = \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}} + \epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu d\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}} + \epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha d\kappa_3...\kappa_{\tau}\vec{\mu}} + ... + \epsilon_{\kappa_{\tau}\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\kappa_2...\kappa_{\tau-1}d\vec{\mu}}$$

$$+ \epsilon_{\mu_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'d\mu_3...\mu_n} + ... + \epsilon_{\mu_n\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\mu_2...\mu_{n-1}d}.$$

$$(A.27)$$

The second term will cancel with the term in (A.26). The last n-1 terms will vanish due to symmetry considerations for the indices μ_i and σ_i . For the middle terms, by relabelling and using antisymmetry,

$$\epsilon_{\kappa_i \vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu \alpha \kappa_2 \dots d \dots \kappa_r \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{d\beta \kappa_2 \dots \kappa_i \dots \kappa_r \vec{\nu}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_2 \vec{\tau} \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\nu \alpha d\vec{\kappa}'' \vec{\mu}} \epsilon_{d\beta \vec{\kappa}' \vec{\nu}}. \tag{A.28}$$

There are (r-1) = (d-n-1) of these terms. We now have

$$\frac{r}{r+1}B_{\tau\tau}\left[\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}} + (r-1)\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha d\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\right]\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\phi_{\mu}\phi_{\nu}.$$
(A.29)

Again, rewriting the epsilons from the second part of (A.29), this time moving subscript κ_2 ,

$$\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\mu\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}} + \epsilon_{\mu\kappa_2\tau_2...\tau_r\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\tau_1\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}} + ... + \epsilon_{\mu\tau_1...\tau_{r-1}\kappa_2\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\tau_r\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}} + ... + \epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\kappa_2\rho_3...\rho_n}\epsilon_{d\beta\rho_2\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}} + ... + \epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\rho_2...\rho_{n-1}\kappa_2}\epsilon_{d\beta\rho_n\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}}.$$

$$(A.30)$$

The last n-1 terms will vanish due to symmetry considerations of ν_i and ρ_i . For the middle terms, again by relabelling,

$$\epsilon_{\mu\tau_1...\kappa_2...\tau_r\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\tau_i\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}} = -\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}.$$
 (A.31)

There are r = d - n of these terms so,

$$(r+1)\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{d\beta\mu\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}. \tag{A.32}$$

Therefore, we now have

$$\frac{r}{r+1}B_{\tau\tau}\left[\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\nu\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}} + \frac{r-1}{r+1}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\kappa_2\vec{\tau}\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\nu\alpha d\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''\vec{\nu}}\right]\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}\phi_{\mu}\phi_{\nu}\phi_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(A.33)

Rewriting this in terms of the Lagrangians and Jacobians then this becomes

$$\frac{r}{r+1}B_{\tau\tau}\left[\epsilon_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\mu}}\epsilon_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}'\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\mu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}r!\mathcal{L} - \frac{r-1}{r+1}B_{\kappa\kappa}J_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}''}J_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''}\right]\phi_{\alpha\beta}
= \frac{rr!}{r+1}\left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\mu}}}{\partial \phi_{\tau}}\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\mu}}}{\partial \phi_{\tau}}\right)\left[\left(\frac{\partial J_{d\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \phi_{\alpha}}\frac{\partial J_{d\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \phi_{\beta}}\right)\mathcal{L} - \frac{r-1}{(r+1)!}\left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\nu}}}{\partial \phi_{\kappa}}\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\nu}}}{\partial \phi_{\kappa}}\right)J_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}''}J_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''}\right]\phi_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(A.34)

This completes the calculation for the terms involving $\phi_{\alpha\beta}$. A very similar calculation can be carried out to rewrite the coefficients of $\phi_{\alpha\beta}^{j}$ $(j \neq 1)$ from (A.14).

Set $\phi^j = \psi$ and this time define $B_{\nu\rho}$ to be

$$B_{\nu\rho} = \epsilon_{\nu\nu_2\mu_1...\mu_{d-n}\nu_3...\nu_n} \epsilon_{\rho_1\rho\mu_1...\mu_{d-n}\rho_3...\rho_n} \phi_{\rho_1} \psi_{\rho_2} \phi_{\nu_3}^3 \dots \phi_{\nu_n}^n \phi_{\rho_3}^3 \dots \phi_{\rho_n}^n.$$
 (A.35)

We choose j=2 to make notation easier but j could be chosen to be any value $j=2,3,\ldots,n$. The calculation is then almost identical to the one given above, and the term involving $\psi_{\alpha\beta}$ is found to be

$$\frac{rr!}{r+1} \left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\mu}}}{\partial \phi_{\tau}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\mu}}}{\partial \psi_{\tau}} \right) \left[\left(\frac{\partial J_{d\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \psi_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial J_{d\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \psi_{\beta}} \right) \mathcal{L} - \frac{r-1}{(r+1)!} \left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\nu}}}{\partial \psi_{\kappa}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\nu}}}{\partial \psi_{\kappa}} \right) J_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}''} J_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''} \right] \psi_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{A.36}$$

When the condition that the Lagrangian vanishes is put into the equations of motion, they can be rearranged to give

$$J_{d\alpha\vec{\kappa}''}J_{d\beta\vec{\kappa}''}\phi^i_{\alpha\beta} = 0, (A.37)$$

as required. Comparing (A.37) with (A.11), these are the equations of motion for the Lagrangian involving a square root (A.9) in (d-1) dimensions.

Therefore, it has been proved that the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian without a square root when subject to some constraints are equivalent to the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian with a square root in one less dimension.

Appendix B

Equations of Motion for the Companion Lagrangian

In this appendix we show that the equations of motion for the companion Lagrangian with a square root,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{\det \left| \frac{\partial \phi^i}{\partial x^\mu} \frac{\partial \phi^j}{\partial x_\mu} \right|},\tag{B.1}$$

can be written as

$$J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'}J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'}\phi^i_{\nu\nu} = 0. \tag{B.2}$$

Remember that these equations of motion are sums of the Universal Field Equations which take the form given in (1.40).

Again, we make extensive use of the epsilon identity

$$\epsilon_{\mu\nu_2\nu_3\dots\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\rho_2\dots\rho_d} = \epsilon_{\rho_1\nu_2\nu_3\dots\nu_d}\epsilon_{\mu\rho_2\dots\rho_d} + \epsilon_{\rho_2\nu_2\nu_3\dots\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\mu\rho_3\dots\rho_d} + \dots \dots + \epsilon_{\rho_d\nu_2\nu_3\dots\nu_d}\epsilon_{\rho_1\rho_2\dots\rho_{d-1}\mu}.$$
(B.3)

A fuller explanation of this identity can be found in Appendix C. The equation of motion with respect to field ϕ^i is

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i_{\mu} \partial \phi^j_{\nu}} \phi^j_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{B.4}$$



Notation

Indices with arrows above them represent several indices which can be thought of as a vector. We use the following notation:

 $\vec{\alpha}$, $\vec{\gamma}$, $\vec{\rho}$, $\vec{\sigma}$ denote n-1 component vectors. E.g. $\vec{\alpha}$ denotes $\{\alpha_2, \alpha_3, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$.

 $\vec{\kappa}$, $\vec{\tau}$ denote d-n component vectors. E.g. $\vec{\kappa}$ denotes $\{\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots, \kappa_{d-n}\}$.

 $\vec{\kappa}'$ denotes the d-n-1 component vector $\{\kappa_2, \kappa_3, \ldots, \kappa_{d-n}\}$.

Also $\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}$ denotes the product of n-1 fields $\phi_{\alpha_2}^2 \phi_{\alpha_3}^3 \dots \phi_{\alpha_n}^n$.

We set r = d - n.

First part of calculation

Start by setting field $\phi^1 = \phi$. Consider the equation of motion (B.4) with respect to ϕ . The Jacobians and their derivatives can be written as

$$J_{\vec{\kappa}} = \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\nu_1\vec{\nu}}\phi_{\nu_1}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}, \qquad \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial\phi_{\mu}} = \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\nu}}\Phi_{\vec{\nu}}, \qquad \frac{\partial^2 J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial\phi_{\mu}\partial\phi_{\nu}} = 0.$$
 (B.5)

Up to a numerical factor the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{J_{\vec{\kappa}}J_{\vec{\kappa}}}.\tag{B.6}$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}} \frac{\partial J_{\bar{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} J_{\bar{\kappa}},\tag{B.7}$$

so,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \phi_{\nu}} \phi_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}^3} \left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\nu}} J_{\vec{\tau}} J_{\vec{\tau}} - \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} J_{\vec{\kappa}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi_{\nu}} J_{\vec{\tau}} \right) \phi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.8}$$

This is the term in the equation of motion with respect to ϕ which contains $\phi_{\mu\nu}$. Using the definition of the Jacobian (B.5), the numerator of this can be written as

$$(\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\gamma\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}} - \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\nu\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}})\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\gamma}\phi_{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}(\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\gamma\vec{\rho}} - \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\nu\vec{\rho}})\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\gamma}\phi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.9}$$

Consider the first two epsilons inside the bracket. Using the epsilon identity to swap index γ ,

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\gamma\vec{\rho}} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}...\gamma...\kappa_{r}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_{i}\vec{\rho}} + \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\nu\vec{\rho}} + \sum_{i=2}^{n} \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\nu\gamma_{2}\gamma_{3}...\gamma...\gamma_{n}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\gamma_{i}\vec{\rho}}.$$
 (B.10)

The last n-1 terms will all vanish due to the antisymmetry of the epsilons and the symmetry of $\Phi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}$. The middle term is just the second term in (B.9). The first r=d-n terms, when multiplied by $\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}$, are all the same. This is seen by swapping the labels of κ_1 and κ_i with each other and then rearranging the indices.

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\kappa_1\kappa_2...\gamma..\kappa_{\tau}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_i\vec{\rho}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_i\kappa_2...\kappa_1...\kappa_{\tau}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\kappa_i\kappa_2...\gamma..\kappa_{\tau}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\kappa_1\kappa_2...\kappa_i...\kappa_{\tau}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\gamma\kappa_2...\kappa_i...\kappa_{\tau}\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}$$

$$= \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\gamma\vec{\kappa}'\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}.$$
(B.11)

Therefore, the expression in (B.9) can now be written as

$$r\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\gamma\vec{\kappa}'\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Phi_{\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}\phi_{\alpha}\phi_{\gamma}\phi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.12}$$

Looking at the first two epsilons, we can use the epsilon identity again to move the index κ_1 around,

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \epsilon_{\tau_{i}\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}...\kappa_{1}...\tau_{r}\alpha\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_{1}\vec{\sigma}} + \sum_{i=2}^{n} \epsilon_{\sigma_{i}\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\sigma_{2}\sigma_{3}...\kappa_{1}...\sigma_{n}}.$$
(B.13)

The last n-1 terms will vanish due to the symmetry of $\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}$. The first r terms, when multiplied by $\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}$, can be rewritten by swapping the labels κ_1 and τ_i and then rearranging the indices, as follows,

$$\epsilon_{\tau_{i}\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}...\kappa_{1}...\tau_{r}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_{1}\vec{\rho}} = \epsilon_{\kappa_{1}\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}...\tau_{i}...\tau_{r}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\tau_{1}\tau_{2}...\kappa_{1}...\tau_{r}\tau_{i}\vec{\rho}}$$

$$= -\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_{1}\vec{\rho}}.$$
(B.14)

This has the same form as the left hand side of (B.13) (when it is also multiplied by $\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}$) so we have

$$(r+1)\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\alpha\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}} = \epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\Phi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}.$$
(B.15)

Our expression (B.12) is now

$$\frac{r}{r+1} \epsilon_{\alpha\vec{\kappa}'\mu\vec{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\gamma\vec{\kappa}'\nu\vec{\gamma}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\alpha}} \Phi_{\vec{\gamma}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\sigma}} \phi_{\alpha} \phi_{\gamma} \phi_{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \frac{r}{r+1} [\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\rho}} \Phi_{\vec{\sigma}}] [\epsilon_{\mu\vec{\kappa}'\alpha\vec{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'\gamma\vec{\gamma}} \Phi_{\vec{\alpha}} \Phi_{\vec{\gamma}} \phi_{\alpha} \phi_{\gamma}] \phi_{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \frac{r}{r+1} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi_{\kappa_1}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi_{\kappa_1}} J_{\mu\vec{\kappa}'} J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'} \phi_{\mu\nu}.$$
(B.16)

Now we need to consider the coefficients of $\phi^i_{\mu\nu}$ in the equation of motion, where $i \neq 1$.

Slight Change in Notation

From now on,

 $\vec{\alpha}$, $\vec{\gamma}$, $\vec{\rho}$, $\vec{\sigma}$ denote n-2 component vectors. E.g. $\vec{\alpha}$ denotes $\{\alpha_3, \alpha_4, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$. $\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}$ denotes the product of n-2 fields $\phi_{\alpha_3}^3 \phi_{\alpha_4}^4 \ldots \phi_{\alpha_n}^n$.

All other notation is the same.

Second part of calculation

Without any loss of generality, we consider the term containing $\phi_{\mu\nu}^2$. For convenience, set $\phi^2 = \psi$. The calculation follows similar lines to the one above. We now write the Jacobian and its derivatives as

$$J_{\vec{\kappa}'} = \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}'\rho_1\rho_2\vec{\rho}}\phi_{\rho_1}\psi_{\rho_2}\Psi_{\vec{\rho}},\tag{B.17}$$

$$\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} = \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}'\mu\rho_2\vec{\rho}} \psi_{\rho_2} \Psi_{\vec{\rho}}, \qquad \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}'}}{\partial \psi_{\nu}} = \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}'\rho_1\nu\vec{\rho}} \phi_{\rho_1} \Psi_{\vec{\rho}}. \tag{B.18}$$

For the term in the equation of motion containing $\psi_{\mu\nu}$ we find

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi_{\mu} \partial \psi_{\nu}} \psi_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}^{3}} \left(\frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \psi_{\nu}} J_{\vec{\tau}} J_{\vec{\tau}} - \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\kappa}}}{\partial \phi_{\mu}} J_{\vec{\kappa}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \psi_{\nu}} J_{\vec{\tau}} \right) \psi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.19}$$

There are no second derivatives of the Jacobians because these terms vanish due to the symmetry of $\psi_{\mu\nu}$. Putting these new expressions for the Jacobians into (B.19), we find

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}}(\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma_1\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\rho_2\vec{\rho}} - \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma_1\rho_2\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\nu\vec{\rho}})\phi_{\gamma_1}\phi_{\rho_1}\phi_{\sigma_1}\psi_{\alpha_2}\psi_{\rho_2}\psi_{\sigma_2}\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Psi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Psi_{\vec{\rho}}\Psi_{\vec{\sigma}}\psi_{\mu\nu}.$$
(B.20)

Using the epsilon identity to move the ρ_2 index about,

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma_1\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\rho_2\vec{\rho}} = \sum_{i=1}^r \epsilon_{\kappa_1\kappa_2...\rho_2...\kappa_r\gamma_1\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_i\vec{\rho}} + \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\rho_2\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\gamma_1\vec{\rho}} + \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma_1\rho_2\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\nu\vec{\rho}} + \sum_{i=3}^n \epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\gamma_1\nu\gamma_3\gamma_4...\rho_2...\gamma_n}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\gamma_i\vec{\rho}}.$$
(B.21)

The first r terms will give $r\epsilon_{\rho_2\vec{\kappa}'\gamma_1\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}$ in the expression from a similar argument to that used in (B.11). The next term will vanish due to the symmetry of $\phi_{\rho_1}\phi_{\gamma_1}$. The next term appears in (B.20). The last n-2 terms will vanish due to the symmetry of $\Psi_{\vec{\rho}}\Psi_{\vec{\gamma}}$. Our expression (B.20) is now

$$r\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\rho_2\vec{\kappa}'\gamma_1\nu\vec{\gamma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\phi_{\gamma_1}\phi_{\rho_1}\phi_{\sigma_1}\psi_{\alpha_2}\psi_{\rho_2}\psi_{\sigma_2}\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Psi_{\vec{\gamma}}\Psi_{\vec{\rho}}\Psi_{\vec{\sigma}}\psi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.22}$$

Using the epsilon identity to move the κ_1 index around in the first two epsilons, then

$$\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}} = \sum_{i=1}^r \epsilon_{\tau_i\vec{\kappa}'\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\tau_1\tau_2...\kappa_1...\tau_r\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{\sigma_1\vec{\kappa}'\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}} + \epsilon_{\sigma_2\vec{\kappa}'\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\kappa_1\vec{\sigma}} + \sum_{i=3}^n \epsilon_{\sigma_i\vec{\kappa}'\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\sigma_3...\kappa_1...\sigma_n}.$$
 (B.23)

The last n-2 terms will vanish due to the symmetry of $\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Psi_{\vec{\sigma}}$. The term before this will vanish due to the symmetry of $\psi_{\alpha_2}\psi_{\sigma_2}$. The first r terms can each be rewritten as $-\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}$ in the same manner as in (B.14), so that

$$(r+1)\epsilon_{\vec{\kappa}\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\sigma_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\psi_{\alpha_2}\psi_{\sigma_2}\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Psi_{\vec{\sigma}} = \epsilon_{\sigma_1\vec{\kappa}'\mu\alpha_2\vec{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\kappa_1\sigma_2\vec{\sigma}}\epsilon_{\vec{\tau}\rho_1\kappa_1\vec{\rho}}\psi_{\alpha_2}\psi_{\sigma_2}\Psi_{\vec{\alpha}}\Psi_{\vec{\sigma}}.$$
(B.24)

The expression is now

$$= \frac{\frac{r}{r+1} \epsilon_{\sigma_1 \vec{\kappa}' \mu \alpha_2 \vec{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau} \kappa_1 \sigma_2 \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\rho_2 \vec{\kappa}' \gamma_1 \nu \vec{\gamma}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau} \rho_1 \kappa_1 \vec{\rho}} \phi_{\gamma_1} \phi_{\rho_1} \phi_{\sigma_1} \psi_{\alpha_2} \psi_{\rho_2} \psi_{\sigma_2} \Psi_{\vec{\alpha}} \Psi_{\vec{\gamma}} \Psi_{\vec{\rho}} \Psi_{\vec{\sigma}} \psi_{\mu\nu}}$$

$$= \frac{r}{r+1} [\epsilon_{\vec{\tau} \kappa_1 \sigma_2 \vec{\sigma}} \epsilon_{\vec{\tau} \rho_1 \kappa_1 \vec{\rho}} \phi_{\rho_1} \Psi_{\vec{\rho}} \psi_{\sigma_2} \Psi_{\vec{\sigma}}] [\epsilon_{\mu \vec{\kappa}' \sigma_1 \alpha_2 \vec{\alpha}} \epsilon_{\nu \vec{\kappa}' \gamma_1 \rho_2 \vec{\gamma}} \phi_{\sigma_1} \psi_{\alpha_2} \phi_{\gamma_1} \psi_{\rho_2} \Psi_{\vec{\alpha}} \Psi_{\vec{\gamma}}] \psi_{\mu\nu}.$$
(B.25)

In terms of Jacobians, this is equal to

$$\frac{r}{r+1} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi_{\kappa_1}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \psi_{\kappa_1}} J_{\mu\vec{\kappa}'} J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'} \psi_{\mu\nu}. \tag{B.26}$$

Therefore, in general, the equations of motion can be written as

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{L}}{\partial \phi^i_{\mu} \partial \phi^j_{\nu}} \phi^j_{\mu\nu} = \frac{r}{r+1} \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}^3} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi^i_{\kappa_1}} \frac{\partial J_{\vec{\tau}}}{\partial \phi^j_{\kappa_1}} J_{\mu\vec{\kappa}'} J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'} \phi^j_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{B.27}$$

By simple rearranging, it can be seen that this is equivalent to

$$J_{\mu\vec{\kappa}'}J_{\nu\vec{\kappa}'}\phi^j_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{B.28}$$

Appendix C

Useful Epsilon Identity

The proofs in appendices A and B make use of an epsilon identity. This appendix explains how the identity works. It is easiest to consider a totally antisymmetric epsilon tensor with only two indices, ϵ_{ij} , where i, j = 1, 2 and $\epsilon_{12} = +1$.

The epsilon identity in this case is

$$\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{ab} = \epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib} + \epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai}. \tag{C.1}$$

This amount to swapping the index i with each of the indices a and b in the second epsilon on the left hand side to give a sum of two terms on the right hand side. To see that this is true we need to consider several cases.

Case 1

 $\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{ab}=+1$ so $i=a,\,j=b$ but $i\neq j,b$.

Therefore,

 $\epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib}=+1$ since $a=i,\ j=b$ but $a\neq j,b,$ as above, and

 $\epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai}=0$ since i=a.

The right hand side of (C.1) equals the left hand side so for this case the identity is true.

Case 2

 $\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{ab} = -1$ so i = b, j = a but $i \neq j, a$.

Therefore,

 $\epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib}=0$ since a=j, and

 $\epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai} = -1$ since b = j, a = i but $b \neq i$, a.

The right hand side of (C.1) equals the left side so for this case the identity is true.

Case 3

 $\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{ab}=0.$

In this case then there are three possibilities.

- (i) i = j, $a \neq b$ or $i \neq j$, a = b. Three of the four indices must be the same so $\epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib} = 0$, $\epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai} = 0$, since in each case, for one of the epsilons both indices are the same. Therefore, the right hand side of the identity is zero as required.
- (ii) i = j = a = b. All four indices are the same so $\epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib} = 0$, $\epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai} = 0$. Therefore the right hand side of the identity is zero as required.
- (iii) i = j, a = b but $i \neq a, b$. Therefore, $\epsilon_{aj}\epsilon_{ib} = -\epsilon_{bj}\epsilon_{ai}$, so the right hand side of the identity vanishes. Therefore the identity is true in this case.

So, it has been shown that in all cases the epsilon identity is true when there are two indices. Similar arguments can be used to show that the identity works for higher numbers of indices.

The identity for three indices, using the convention $\epsilon_{123} = +1$ is

$$\epsilon_{ijk}\epsilon_{abc} = \epsilon_{ajk}\epsilon_{ibc} + \epsilon_{bjk}\epsilon_{aic} + \epsilon_{cjk}\epsilon_{abi}. \tag{C.2}$$

The identity for four indices, using the convention $\epsilon_{1234} = +1$ is

$$\epsilon_{ijkl}\epsilon_{abcd} = \epsilon_{ajkl}\epsilon_{ibcd} + \epsilon_{bjkl}\epsilon_{aicd} + \epsilon_{cjkl}\epsilon_{abid} + \epsilon_{djkl}\epsilon_{abci}. \tag{C.3}$$

In general

So, in general, the useful epsilon identity for a totally antisymmetric epsilon tensor with n indices, using the convention $\epsilon_{12...n} = +1$ is

$$\epsilon_{ij_2j_3...j_n}\epsilon_{a_1a_2...a_n} = \epsilon_{a_1j_2j_3...j_n}\epsilon_{ia_2...a_n} + \epsilon_{a_2j_2j_3...j_n}\epsilon_{a_1ia_3...a_n} + \dots + \epsilon_{a_nj_2j_3...j_n}\epsilon_{a_1a_2...a_{n-1}i}$$

$$= \sum_{r=1}^{n} \epsilon_{a_rj_2j_3...j_n}\epsilon_{a_1a_2...i...a_n}.$$
(C.4)

The index i from the first epsilon on the left hand side is swapped with each index from the second epsilon on the left hand side to give a sum of n terms on the right hand side.

Appendix D

Octonion Matrices

The seven 7×7 matrices on the next page are solutions to the algebra created from the Nahm equations. These matrices were constructed using the octonionic structure constants, c_{ijk} , which are taken to be

$$c_{127} = c_{631} = c_{541} = c_{532} = c_{246} = c_{347} = c_{567} = 1.$$
 (D.1)

These are totally antisymmetric. All other c_{ijk} are zero. The jk^{th} entry of the matrix B_i is given by $[B_i]_{jk} = c_{ijk}$. The matrices are used in the solutions which have been found for the Moyal-Nahm equations in eight dimensions.

Bibliography

- [1] L.M. Baker, D.B. Fairlie, 'Companion Equations for Branes', J. Math. Phys. 41 (2000) 4284-4292.
- [2] L.M. Baker, D.B. Fairlie, 'Hamilton-Jacobi Equations and Brane Associated Lagrangians', hep-th/0003048.
- [3] L.M. Baker, D.B. Fairlie, 'Moyal-Nahm Equations', J. Math. Phys. 40 (1999) 2539-2548.
- [4] L.M. Baker, 'Equivalence Theorem for Lagrangians in Different Dimensions', hep-th/0005155.
- [5] J. Polchinski, String Theory, Vols. 1 & 2, Cambridge University Press (ISBN 0 521 63303 6) (1998).
- [6] C.V. Johnson, 'D-Brane Primer', hep-th/0007170.
- [7] A. Schild, 'Classical Null Strings', Phys. Rev. D16 (1977) 1722-1726.
- [8] T. Eguchi, 'New Approach to the Quantised String Theory', *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 44 (1980) 126-129.
- [9] Y. Nambu, Hamilton-Jacobi Formalism for Strings', *Phys. Lett.* **92B** (1980) 327-330.
- [10] M. Born, L. Infeld, 'Foundations of the New Field Theory', Proc. Roy. Soc. London A144 (1934) 425-451.
- [11] P.A.M. Dirac, 'An Extensible Model of the Electron', Proc. Roy. Soc. London A268 (1962) 57-67.
- [12] G.W. Gibbons, 'Born-Infeld Particles and Dirichlet p-branes', Nucl. Phys. **B514** (1998) 603-639.

- [13] E.S. Fradkin, A.A. Tseytlin, 'Non-linear Electrodynamics from Quantized Strings', *Phys. Lett.* **163B** (1985) 123-130.
- [14] J. Dai, R.G. Leigh, J. Polchinski, 'New Connections Between String Theories', Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 2073-2083.
- [15] J. Polchinski, 'TASI Lectures on D-branes', hep-th/9611050.
- [16] E. Corrigan, D.B. Fairlie, 'Off-Shell States in Dual Resonance Theory', Nucl. Phys. B91 (1975) 527-545.
- [17] R.G. Leigh, 'Dirac-Born-Infeld Action from Dirichlet σ -model', Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 2767-2772.
- [18] D.B. Fairlie, 'Dirac-Born-Infeld Equations', Phys. Lett. B456 (1999) 141-146.
- [19] L.H. Ryder, Quantum Field Theory, Cambridge University Press, Second Edition (ISBN 0 521 47814 6) (1997).
- [20] M.E. Peskin, D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory, Addison-Wesley Publishing Company (ISBN 0 201 50397 2) (1995).
- [21] T.R. Morris, 'From First to Second Quantized String Theory', *Phys. Lett.* **202B** (1988) 222-226.
- [22] D.L. Gee, T.R. Morris, 'From First to Second Quantized String Theory.
 2. The Dilaton and Other Fields', Nucl. Phys. B331 (1990) 675-693.
 D.L. Gee, T.R. Morris, 'From First to Second Quantized String Theory.
 3. Gauge Fixing and Quantization', Nucl. Phys. B331 (1990) 694-710.
- [23] Y. Hosotani, 'Local Scalar Fields Equivalent to Nambu-Goto Strings', *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **47** (1981) 399-401.
- [24] Y. Hosotani, R. Nakayama, 'The Hamilton-Jacobi Equations for Strings and p-Branes', Mod. Phys. Lett. A14 (1999) 1983-1988.
- [25] W. Siegel, Introduction to String Field Theory, World Scientific, Singapore (ISBN 9971 50 732 3) (1988).
- [26] C.B. Thorn, 'String Field Theory', Phys. Rep. 175 (1989) 1-101.

- [27] H. Bateman, 'Notes on a Differential Equation which Occurs in the Two-Dimensional Motion of a Compressible Fluid and the Associated Variational Problems', Proc. Roy. Soc. London A125 (1929) 598-618.
- [28] D.B. Fairlie, 'Integrable Systems in Higher Dimensions', *Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl.* **118** (1995) 309-327.
- [29] D.B. Fairlie, J. Govaerts, A. Morozov, 'Universal Field Equations with Covariant Solutions', *Nucl. Phys.* **B373** (1992) 214-232.
- [30] J.M.F. Labastida, M. Pernici, E. Witten, 'Topological Gravity in Two Dimensions', Nucl. Phys. B310 (1988) 611-624.
- [31] C.N. Yang, R.L. Mills, 'Conservation of Isotopic Spin and Isotopic Gauge Invariance', *Phys. Rev.* **96** (1954) 191-195.
- [32] I.J.R. Aitchison, A.J.G. Hey, *Gauge Theories in Particle Physics*, Second Edition, IOP Publishing, Bristol (ISBN 0 85274 328 9) (1989).
- [33] W. Nahm, 'The Construction of All Self-Dual Multimonopoles by the ADHM Method', Monopoles in Quantum Field Theory, ed. by N.S. Craigie, P. Goddard and W. Nahm, World Scientific, Singapore (ISBN 9971 950 29 4) (1982) 87-94.
- [34] M.J. Duff, 'A Layman's Guide to M-Theory', hep-th/9805177.
- [35] J.H. Schwarz, 'Introduction to M-Theory and AdS-CFT Duality', hep-th/9812037.
- [36] T. Banks, W. Fischler, S. Shenker, L. Susskind, 'M-theory as a Matrix Model: A Conjecture', *Phys. Rev.* **D55** (1997), 5112-5128.
- [37] A. Bilal, 'M(atrix) Theory: A Pedagogical Introduction', Fortschr. Phys. 47 (1999) 5-28.
- [38] R. Dijkgraaf, E. Verlinde, H. Verlinde, 'Matrix String Theory', Nucl. Phys. B500 (1997) 43-61.
- [39] T. Wynter, 'Gauge Fields and Interactions in Matrix String Theory', *Phys. Lett.* **B415** (1997) 349-357.

- [40] S.B. Giddings, F. Hacquebord, H. Verlinde, 'High Energy Scattering and D-Pair Creation in Matrix String Theory', Nucl. Phys. B537 (1999) 260-296.
- [41] D.B. Fairlie, 'Moyal Brackets, Star Products and the Generalised Wigner Function', *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals*, **10** (1999) 365-371.
- [42] D.B. Fairlie, P. Fletcher, C.K. Zachos, 'Trigonometric Structure Constants for New Infinite-Dimensional Algebras', Phys. Lett. B218 (1989) 203-206.
 D.B. Fairlie, C.K. Zachos, 'Infinite-Dimensional Algebras, Sine Brackets and SU(∞)', Phys. Lett. B224 (1989) 101-107.
 T. Curtwright, D.B. Fairlie, C. Zachos, 'Integrable Symplectic Trilinear Terms for Matrix Membranes', Phys. Lett. B405 (1997) 37-44.
- [43] J.E. Moyal, 'Quantum Mechanics as a Statistical Theory', *Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc.* **45** (1949) 99-124.
- [44] N. Seiberg, E. Witten, 'String Theory and Noncommutative Geometry', JHEP 9909 (1999) 032.
- [45] R. Gopakumar, S. Minwalla, A. Strominger, 'Noncommutative Solitons', JHEP 0005 (2000) 020.
- [46] D.B. Fairlie, 'Moyal Brackets in M-Theory', Mod. Phys. Lett. A 13 (1998) 263-274.
- [47] C. Carathéodory, 'Über die kanonischen Veränderlichen in der Variationsrechnung der mehrfachen Integrale', *Math. Ann.* **85** (1922) 78-88.
- [48] W. Velte, 'Zur Variationsrechnung mehrfacher Integrale', Math. Zeitschr. 60 (1954) 367-383.
- [49] Y. Nambu, 'Effective Abelian Gauge Fields', Phys. Lett. 102B (1981) 149-153.
- [50] H. Rund, The Hamilton-Jacobi Theory in the Calculus of Variations, D. Van Nostrand Company Ltd., London (1966).
- [51] H.A. Kastrup, M. Rinke, 'Hamilton-Jacobi Theories for Strings', Phys. Lett.
 105B (1981) 191-196.
 H.A. Kastrup, 'Relativistic Strings and Electromagnectic Flux Tubes', Phys. Lett. 82B (1979) 237-238.

- [52] H.A. Kastrup, 'Canonical Theories of Lagrangian Dynamical Systems in Physics', *Phys. Repts.* **101** (1983) 1-167.
- [53] M. Rinke, 'The Relation between Relativistic Strings and Maxwell Fields of Rank 2', Commun. Math. Phys. 73 (1980) 265-271.
- [54] A. Aurilia, A. Smailagic, E. Spallucci, 'Gauge Theory of the String Geodesic Field', Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 2536-2548.
 A. Aurilia, E. Spallucci, 'Gauge Theory of Relativistic Membranes', Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993) 1217-1248.
- [55] G. 't Hooft, 'Dimensional Reduction in Quantum Gravity', gr-qc/9310026.
 G. 't Hooft, 'The Holographic Principle', hep-th/0003004.
- [56] L. Susskind, 'The World as a Hologram', J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995) 6377-6396.
- [57] D.B. Fairlie, 'Lagrange Brackets and U(1) fields', Phys. Lett. **B484** (2000) 333-336.
- [58] D.B. Fairlie, P. Fletcher, C.K. Zachos, 'Infinite-dimensional Algebras and a Trigonometric Basis for the Classical Lie Algebras', J. Math. Phys. 31 (1990) 1088-1094.
- [59] D.B. Fairlie, 'Universal Field Equations and Euler Hierarchies', Quantum Groups, Integrable Models and Statistical Systems, ed. by J. Le Tourneaux and L. Vinet, World Scientific (1992) 63-70.
- [60] D.B. Fairlie, J. Govaerts, 'Linearization of Universal Field Equations' J. Phys. A26 (1993) 3339-3347.
- [61] G.V. Dunne, 'Aspects of Chern-Simons Theory', hep-th/9902115.
- [62] J. Wess, J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and Supergravity, Princeton University Press, Second Edition, (ISBN 0 691 02530 4) (1992).
- [63] I.L. Buchbinder and S.M. Kuzenko, Ideas and Methods of Supersymmetry and Supergravity, I.O.P. Publishing, Ltd. (ISBN 0 75030 258 5) (1995).
- [64] R.S. Ward, 'Completely Solvable Gauge-Field Equations in Dimension Greater Than Four', Nucl. Phys B236 (1984) 381-396.

- [65] M.F. Atiyah, N.J. Hitchin, V.G. Drinfield, Y.I. Manin, 'Construction of Instatons', Phys. Lett. 65A (1978) 185-187.
- [66] H. Garcia-Compean, J.F. Plebanski, 'On the Weyl-Wigner-Moyal Description of $SU(\infty)$ Nahm Equations', Phys. Lett. **A234** (1997) 5-12.
- [67] E.B. Bogomol'nyi, 'The Stability of Classical Solutions', Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 24 (1976) 449-454.
- [68] E. Corrigan, C. Devchand, D.B. Fairlie, and J. Nuyts, 'First-Order Equations for Gauge Fields in Spaces of Dimension Greater Than Four', Nucl. Phys. B214 (1983) 452-464.
- [69] R. Dündarer, F. Gürsey, C-H. Tze, 'Generalized Vector Products, Duality and Octonionic Identities in D=8 Geometry', J. Math. Phys. 25 (1984) 1496-1506.
- [70] L. Baulieu, H. Kanno, I.M. Singer, 'Special Quantum Field Theories in Eight and Other Dimensions', Commun. Math. Phys. 194 (1998) 149-175.
- [71] I. Bakas, E.G. Floratos, A. Kehagias, 'Octonionic Gravitational Instantons', Phys. Lett. B445 (1998) 69-76.
- [72] T. Ueno, 'General Solution of 7D Octonionic Top Equation', *Phys. Lett.* **A245** (1998) 373-381.
- [73] W. Arveson, 'Quantization and the Uniqueness of Invariant Structures', Commun. Math. Phys. 89 (1983) 77-102.
- [74] E. Wigner, 'On the Quantum Correction for Thermodynamic Equilibrium', *Phys. Rev.* **40** (1932) 749-759.
- [75] M. Hillery, R. O'Connell, M. Scully, E. Wigner, 'Distribution Functions in Physics: Fundamentals', *Phys. Rep.* **106** (1984) 121-167.
- [76] H-W. Lee, 'Theory and Application of the Quantum Phase Space Distribution Functions', *Phys. Repts.* **259** (1995) 147-211.
- [77] N.L. Balazs, B.K. Jennings, 'Wigner's Function and Other Distribution Functions in Mock Phase Spaces', Phys. Rep. 104 (1984) 347-391.
- [78] T. Curtwright, D.B. Fairlie, C. Zachos, 'Features of Time-Independent Wigner Functions', *Phys. Rev.* **D58** (1998) 025002.

- [79] G.A. Baker, 'Formulation of Quantum Mechanics Based on the Quasi-Probability Distribution Induced on Phase Space', *Phys. Rev.* **109** (1958) 2198-2206.
- [80] F. Bayen, M. Flato, C. Fronsdal, A. Lichnerowicz, D. Sternheimer, 'Deformation Theory and Quantization. I. Deformations of Symplectic Structures', Ann. Phys N.Y. 111 (1978) 61-110.
- [81] M. Hssaini, M.B. Sedra, M. Bennai, B. Maroufi, 'On the Fairlie's Moyal formulation of M(atrix)-theory', hep-th/0007155.

